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I. SOURCES USED

ORIGINAL SOURCES.

Letters to Piotr Strzeleckl,;see Zmichowska
Letters to Adyna Turno,see KurJer Poznanski.
Letter to Poligh woman,see Zmlchowska.

- Letter to J.Diell--Visit to Volcano of Kirauea--Archives
of Hawall "Haméian Spectator”vol I.no 4
Visit to Volcano of Kirauea--Tasmanlan Journal of Natural
Science Vol 1

Varieties of Tasmanlan Coal Joural of Science Vol I.
Analysis of Solls from llona Vale near Roas--Mitchel Library
Report on Route from Yass Plains by Australian Alps

and Gippsland-copy in Nitchel,reprinted in Parliamemnt-

ary Papers,Giprs to Russel 28th September, 1840,

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF NEW SOUTH WALES AND VAN DIEMAN'S
LAND-Lond on,Longman Brown Green and Longmans 1845

GOLD ANWD SILVER-A supnliment to A Physical Description
Longman Brewn Green and Longman;London 1856,

Pive Manuscrlipt Letters to frliends in Austrelia-Vitchel
Library.

Letters from 8ir John Franklin to Strzelecki,with notes

by Strzelecki-Mitchel Library.

Notes of an Excurslon in the North-Western Part of
Tasmania-Mitchel Library.

= _Certificate of Naturallsation-Home Office,lLondon.
Copy of Will--Somerset House.

SECONDARY SOURCES
In Polish

Narcyza Zmichowska "O Pawle Bdamundzie Strzeleckim wedlug
: Rodzinnych i Towarzyskieh Wsromnien"
Ateneum, 1876.(0ut of Print)

(This account,written by a distant relation from
family accounts,is the basis of the rest of the sources)
Gloger,Zynunt-Edmund Strzelecki.Wspomnienie podmiertne

Tygodnik Ilustrowany 1874.Nr 315.316.
Lewandowakg A.-Polacy w Australji.Przeglsd Emigracyjny
1893 Nr.3
VMellgzewskl,Olszewicz,-Mount Kosciuszko w Australj]i
Przeglsd Emigracyjny 18¢4 Nr.7
Wisniowskl Sygurt-Dziesig¢é lat w Australji.Lwdbw 1873
Pawme) Edmund Strzeleckl.Przeglsgd Emigracyjny 1894.MNr.12
Zlelinski St.-Ee)y SYownik plonierdw polskich 1932
Zielingkl St.-Wybitne Czyny Polakéw na Obczyinie.
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Kurjer Poznanski 10 listopada, 1935 :
Sprawa miljJardowego Spadku nadal Zaprzgta UnyeXy
29 listopada 1935
15 Hiljardéw 2Yotych Spadku po Emligrancie Polsglim
. 29 grudnia 1936
Walka o Spadelr po Strzeleckim
)3 . 16 lutego 1936
Kledy i pdzle urodzill sl¢ Strzelecki
Gzap 24 gruanig 1935 0 Pawle Dadnundzie ‘Strzeleckim -Dybaskl
Wychodfca 2 marca 1936,
Jdan Bystron Dzlele Obczaalbw w Dawne] Polsce wlek JIVI-XVIII

In Engligh

Papers Respecting New South Wales, 1840 Vol 29

Parlianentary Papersg,Vol .64.

Royal Geographical Society Proceedings,Journal.Vol 14-1B44
Vol 44  London FProceedings Vol 18

Edinburzh Review,July 1862

Ruigden-History «of Augbralia Vol IT JLondon 11883

Augstralian Dictionary of Dates-Heaton

Dictiionary -of Australian Blograrhy-lMennel

Hutchinson Australisn Eneyclopedis London 1892 (See note)

i ¥ e d

Cambridge Modern Higtory Vol VIII Chapter XVII.
Paul=Higtory of England.

curtis-History of Irelsnd.

Kingslake-History of the Crimea

National Bilography Vol LV.

G.0.Young=-Early Victorian England.
Stanmore-NMemoir of Sidney Herbert.

Roberts-The Squstting Age in Augtralia.
Howitt-History of Disevovery in Australia,Tasmania and
New Zealand,London 1865.Vol I.
Blair's Cyclopedia of Australia.lelbourne 1881
Suttor-pustralian Milestones.Vol I
Bonwick=Digcovery and Settlement of Port Philip,
Knlegki-A Pioneer Sclentist-lNew Hation lagazine June 1928
Victorian Historical Magafine 1912.
Royal Geogiaphical Soclety,South Australia,Journal 1913
Vol 21. .
Long=Stories of Australian Exploration
Tasmanian Journal of Natural Science.Vol I
Cox-Notes offi Giprsland's History Vol II.
Grieg-Begimnings of Giprsland.
Hanoford-Men Who Put Giprsland.on the Map
(These last from the Mitchel Library)

Obituary Notice-The Times October 17.1873-Given as Appendix

Vemorandum of Petition-Boles)aw de Strzelecki--Given ag
A * Aprendix.

A further list ef poﬁéiblé‘referencea is given ap Appendix,
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Note on Statement in Augtralisn Encyclopedla,saying that
Charles Diekeng érew g portrait of Strzelecﬁi in his
femous "Count Smorltslk"™ at Mre Leo Hunter's party in the
Pickwick Pg:-.pers.

It cannot be absolutely contradicted,so far es I
know,but secms on the face of it,to have been n slip.
The rergon probably satirized was Frince Puckler-luskau,
who vislted England sbout the end of the eighteen-thntiGS-
He 1nareqted everything exhaustively in = vigit of three
weeks,then returned home and wrote a book desecribling
England very positively.This seems closer to Dickend
picture,than » man who scems to have mixed eaally 4n
Englishrsocietxyan&:inqany ense never wrote anything

about England,even after a vigit of twenty yearal
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PAUL EDMUND STRZELECKI
Prstoguc . PORTRAIT OF A VICTORIAN

What a man is,1s more than what he QOes.

- It was growing dark under the arches of the entrance to
Burlington House.The colours of an autumn sunset were already fading
behind the rooftops,while twilight,an invisible fluid poured from
above,was forming pools of shadow in the unroofed paved court.A
scent of smoke from freshly lighted fires hung on the air already
sharp with frost.

Firm steps,not quick,but steady,accompanied by the tap of
a stick,sounded on the stones,and two men,going out,met under the
street lamp where the stir of Plccadllly gave way to the gulet of
the gateway,another coming in the opposite directlion.

The man passed,turning to the right in the entrance to
the Royal Society rooms.The momentary glimpse showed a figure
suggestive of purpose,of lnclslve energy,concentirated in a head
which cried out to be copled in the clean severity of marble;good
looks of the type that time,by writing the character on the flesh
and bone,can only intensify.

A mane of snow white hair,cut long,and rising lightly
from a high white forehead,high cheekbones,a fine clear Jjaw line,

thin lips, jutting straight noqe,watchrul light eyes under thick dark
eyebrows,a total effect,wlth a spare body of average height,of
will and vigour.
One of the outgoing men turned to follow the disappearing
figure.
"I thought he recognlsed you." he said doubtfully."Who was pq?“

"Sir Paul de Strzelecki,the colonial explorer."
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The other shook hig head. "It's a striking face,and a

foreign name.Do you know ahything of him?"

The second man shrugged.

"Most people know of him,at least.K.C.M.G,member of the
R.S and R.G.S,etc.He's well known in London,seems to have been here
a long time.Men of action,after all,are more interesting in what they
do than in what they are.A man is what he does,or he couldn't have
done 1t.This -- Pole,I think,came to England after he left Australla,
got himgelf accevted,and now belongs here.l leave 1t to you writers
to make up the misgsing detalls of men's lives.The recorded facts are
enough for me."

His companion laughed. "facte,even in the rare cases when
they are true,and not merely belleved,mean nothing.Anyone can twist
them to his purpose.The true truth,1f there were such a thing =t all,
would be found in the personality of the man who created the facts,
the inner motlives which made him do thisg or that thing:,and no other.
The reason why a man explores,the purpose which sends him out,ls
more to me than the mountains he climbed and the rivers he named.But
you seldom find them in blography."

"Is there more tEwth in your romantic story than in my
bare facts? they are both,after all,only a selection of the possible
materials."

"Give me my sort of truth,and you may keep your own.What
one sees in a life,after all,is probably not so much what 1s there,
as what one sees there.Blography is only fiction under a different
name."

The other did not answer.With a peremptory gesture he summoned
a cab,which drew up obediently at the curb.He got in,and left the
other,with a brief good night,standing in the violet shadow,where



3

gas lamps and lamps from uncurtained windows were only intensifying

the approaching dusk.
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PART ONE
BACKGROUND OF AN EXPLORER
I
THE YEAR 1797

The End of the 18th Century - Brief survey of England,France,Austria
Prussia,Russla - Dismembered Poland - Similarity in destiny of
Catherine the Great and Strzeleckl.

By 1797,the eighteenth century was dead,though it had
still a year or two to run.Most of its great flgures had passed
from its stage,but the symbol of its demlse,lay,for the common man
in two other events,which,by ushering in the French Revolution,
marked most vividly the change which was coming into being.These,
the capture of the Bestlille by the Paris mob,which,with the common
ineptitude of crowds,turned its fury against the one prison which
had never menaced its ranks;and the execution of that Louls Capet
who died in extenuation of those of his faults for which he was
least to blame,his kingship and his stupidity.When Burke,declaimed
on the death of Marie Antolnette,that chivalry was dead,he was right.
But if chivalry had still be alive in the age which saw the Partition
of Poland,the extinction in time of peace of a natlion with cehturiaa
of life behind it,then it was better dead.The eighteenth century,
which perpetrated that cynical outrage,was dead,at least.Its part
was done,and the curtaln was rising,with a synchronisation rarely
found between an epoch and a century,on the age of realism,the age
brought in by that Napoleon then supreme in Europe.The star of the
nineteenth century,which began with general war in Europe and ended
with wars as far beyond it as China,Indla andrAfrica,had risen,as
it was to shine,red above the horizon.

England was still at war,but the prime minister was tired‘
of it,and longing for that peace which he was still far from
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achieving.Though the year ended with the fallure of the attempted

invasion of Ireland,the temper of the fleet was working up for the
Spithead mutiny.

France's position was better than 1t had been for many
years.She had signed peace with Prussia and with Spain,Belglum head
been incorporated,Holland reduced to the status of a vassal state,
and though England was still fighting at sea,and Austria by land,
Napoleon's advence from Italy prresaged the peace of Campo Formio,
the advantage beling further strengthened by the arrival of new
French armles which had been released for forelgn service by the
pacification of the Vendee.

Further east,Prusslas,Austrlis and Russle were haggling over
thewdispoattidn.of the fresh territories acquired during 1795.

Prussia,whose ruler had been disheartened by the disa-
preintmente of his relign,by the inaction of 1794,the repulse from
Warsaw,was feeling ite 1solation,and consequently was getting the
worst of the bargalining.It was still influential enough,however,to
enable Catherine to maintain the balance of power between the rival
claims of Prussia and Austria,and thus put herself in the strongest
position.

Austris,under Francis II,had absorbed Galicis,Russia the
rest of Lithuanla,end in October 179¢5,the three states reached an
agreement which was finally ratified on January 26,1797,and this

- settled the long agony of the country formerly existing between

their frontiers,end now dismembered within them.The Partition of
Poland was complete;a crime and blunder the consequences of which
were among the causes of the world war,and which are still operating

within the reconstituted Poligh Republic.It was an action very
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typical of the cynical age which produced its protagonlsts =--
Catherine the Great,foreigner who did more for her adopted country
than any single native Russlan except Peter;Frederick of Prussie,
Stanislaus Poniatowskl,Joseph II and %aopold,these completed the
| grour of wvillains.
And Poland? To all intents and purpoges,to the best of the
. knowledge and belief of the men who ratified the final partition,she
" had ceased to exist.To make her demise more complete and lasting was
the aim of the treaty inspired by Catherine;it decreed that in
future there should be no divided alleglance.Every landowner had to
settle himself in one or other territory,become a citizen of that
reglon,and sell his "foreign" lands within five years.Boundaries
were defined with precision.And,to stamp down the ground over the
uneasy grave,the three soverelgns bound themselves by a secret
article,recognising "the necessity of abolisghing everything which
may recall the memory of the existence of the kingdom of Poland"
For the furtherance of this aim,which the next hidndred years was to
prove so futile,all three pledged themselves never to use the name
in the territorial titles of any of their rulers.(1)

Before this was formally drawn up,Catherine died(1796) Her
successor Paul released the Poligh patriot Kobcluszko,who withdrew
abroad,only returning to Poland when his body wes,much later,given
burial in the Wawel.Stanlsglaus August Ponliatowski,forced to abdicate
in 1795,retired to St Petersburg,end died there in 1798.

The year after the death of the woman who,in her greatness
as 1n her vices,typified the morality,alms and methods of the
disappearing epoch,a man was born who summed equally well the new
age,its dreams hopes and limitations,though in infinitely less
limelight ,on the restricted é;ge of private life.Strzeleckl was as
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characteristic of the nineteenth century as Catherine of the eight-

eenth.He shared with her,who in her plans for aggrandisement,gave
the vital impetus to the fortunes of apan of whom she would never
have heard,the fate of an obscure birth,an unwllling exile,and the
destiny of taking the nationality,sharing the life,and furthering
the renown of a race to which,like the petty German princess to

the Russla of Peter the Great,he was by birth,race,language,upbring-

ing and religion,a stranger.
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(1% Cambridge Modern History Vol VIII Ch. XVII
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II
GEUSZYNA
Gluszyna,"wies koscielnu"(2) lying a few miles from Poznan,
in the territory acqulired by Prussia in the Third Partition,differs
in no way from a thousand villages scattered up and down the flat
plaing which make up the country.140 years ago,it was stlll less
remarkable,and hardly more picturesque.lt possessed,then as now,
the charm of simplicity,the beauty of flat lands,a landscape laid
out in a2 wide chequerboard of colours changing with the seasons,
broken by forests,dotted here and there with an occasional lake.The
larger fields of the landowners,planted with rye or barley,buckwheat
and beet,the smaller inconvenient strips of peasant land among them;
in the village itself,under the elms and chestnuts,by the village
pond,where & probable St Jan Nepomak guarded the water,the community
met to discuss,in Poligh still untainted by Germanisms,thelr
primitive affeirs,while the slow storkse flapped overhead to their
nests in the thatch,and the zdraw,the windlas,creaked as the buckets
came up for the evenling watering of the horses.
Behind the church,which differed from so many Poligh
churches,white,baroque,with onlon domes like bubbles of cloud on
the large horizon,in being anclient Vistula Gothic,and the primitive
little shop where travelling peddlars opened their packs,stood a
wide gateway,usually open;an evergreen sﬁ&bbery to orotect the
garden from dust.From behind the summer green of lilacs and hawthorns
the more sombre evergreen of yews and lesurels,the roof of the
manor house showed above the white walls and porch of a typical
dwor of the smaller Polish gentry.Manor house is too pretentious
a name,for the oblong white box of a simple house,home of people

in reduced circumstances,with narrow resources,but manor houge
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means a certaln place in the soclal system --home of a family of
gentle blood,which in Poland stood for more than riches.

The pulge of life,always slow in the country,flows
slugglishly through these backwaters,where an intensely restricted
country gentry lead the dullest of lives,the men busy supervising
their property,absorbed in the price of grain,the illness of
animals,the rotation of crops,the complaints of the peasants,the
change of the seasons:their wives and daughters,wlith the care of
the indoor servants,the making of traditional dishes,the breeding
of poultry and the entertaining of such occasional guests as find
thelr way -- the local priest,come to spend the close of a church
holiday at the home of the chief parisghioner,or a relative breaking
a Jjourney.

At the Strzeleckls,in 1797,there were excellent reasons
for a qulet life.The storm of political events had ebbed,leaving
the Pg;hn district subjected,sullen,but uncowed --reaction and
rebellion atillﬁn the future,only at the beginning of the bitter
lesson of attempted Germanlsation,but qulet at a time when too
much hospitality was unwelcome.

¥rs Strzelecka expected her third child that year,but
even after June and the birth of a second son,poverty and temper-
ament were the main factors which kept the young couple and thelir
small children safely at home.

The husband's family were newcomers to the district,as
residence is counted in Poland.Plotr(Peter) Strzelecki had come
from the deighbourhood of Galicia,in 1730.Selling the family pro-
perty of Dzlewanka,on the river Dniestr,he had bought one én Greeat

(3)
Poland,where he married a member of the Raczynskl femily,and died
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leaving behind him two sons,Andrze] and Franciszek(Andrew and Francils)
0f these two,Andrew died unmarried,having lost hls own possesslons
end most of his brothers',so that when Francls married a girl as
poor =8 himself,the two were forced to make sacrifices to buy even
the modest farm of GYuszyna,where they settled and brought up their
three children, lIsabel,Peter and Paul.

The story of Anna Strzelecka z domu Raczynska 1s itself
too typically Polish to be passed ower.Her father,owner of extensive
estates 1n Great Poland,was mortified to find himself father of
8ix daughters and no son.S8o,fearing the obliteration of the position
of hisg family by their marriage,he left his entire fortune to his
brothers Kezimierz(Marshall) and Ignacy(Bishop) trusting to them to
préovide for his orphan children,whom at a stroke of the pen he
had deprived of everything rightly theirs(in Poland all children of
both sexes have equal right to a share of property,and use of titles)
The two magnates took the property,and disposed of the girls,now
reduced from helresses to poor gentlewomen.They were sent to be
brought up as unpald companlons,scattered up and down the country
in the houses of various relatlves,and left to shift for themselves
in the matter of marriage.Anna,one of the younger children,and
quite small at the time of her father's death,found herself some-
what above the status of a servant,but with no claim to education
or consideration,with no future but marriage and no opportunity of
attracting -- since she was nelther beautiful,talented nor
accomplished -- the notice of any man of equal fortune to that in
which she had been born,nor --by the social code of her class snd
country--any hope of belng allowed to find a husband outside the

poorer reaches of the group to which her father's family pride had
conslgned her.(4)



1"

Thus Anna was limited in choice,and like her sisters,she
married a poor gentleman,and settled down to the only destiny for
which she was fitted,a life of narrow plessures,but one hardly
limited in dutlies and usefulness,of lady of the manor --a position
hardly above that of poor gentleman farmer's wife.

It was to thls 1life of physical comfort,of little money,
of few opportunites and restricted needs,that Paul Edmund Strzeleckil
was born --according to his own account,on June 2#th,1797,actually
by church records,on June 20th,and,being dellicate,was christened
next day,in the ﬁarish church of 5t Jacob,his God parents belng
Plotr Phoroni and Fellcjanna Karwyna.

These detalls are glven because of the fact,in itself
significant,that Paul Strzeleckl from the time of his arrival in
Australia used the title Count.The question of Polish titles (5) is
complicated,but in any case,the Strzeleckls were not a titled
family,and even if Anna was a countess,Paul claimed 1t on his
father's side,tracing descent from a Galliclian family of Counts
Strzeleckl.When abroad,he wrote to hls brother,asking him to make
inguiries in the matter and without waiting a successful 1ssue of
them(unlikely,in the exlsting state of affairs,for their claims were

nil)he annexed the coverted connection and called himself count.As

- we shall see later,thls was well in keeping with certain traits in
his character,but hardly with the ascertalned facts of his immediate
relatives.

The life to which he was born was narrow enough.Poverty
- and political impotence no less than habit and inclinatlion made it
" 80.A man born to the niche of landed proprietor,large or small,

needed nothing more than every P,lish gentleman acquired by birth or
iy
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upbringing;a love of the land,and an understanding of the people on
it;the ability to talk French in a drawing room,and to pay a
compliment to a woman in any language;a nodding acquaintance with
the practical aspect of the problems of hls dlstrict,a love of
horse flesh,hunting,a good seat in the saddle,the ability to carry
vbdka and the assurance given by the knowledge that a Poligh
szlachcic is the equal of any mantereated,the "brother" of any other
gentleman.(6)

So much had Peter Strzeleckl,but it was not the whole
inheritance of Paul,the younger brother.The pictures of hls child-
hood are few,reminiscences hard to collect,but certaln traits
appear.He was practical (7) witty,intelligent,with a mind always
conerete in its projects,passionate,ambitious,restless,gifted with
a lively imagination bent on realisable aimsg.The child was consistent
-- he was an original,but only to a point."From early childhood to
advanced age,le had always a sober intelligence,but peculiar;he
took extraordinary paths,but always towards practical goals" (8)

‘ One picture of his childhood stands out,and 1s in itself
enough to 1llustrate the man =-his childish love of making speeches,
writing dramas,preaching sermons.Anna Strzelecka,hls mother,was
well known in the district for her piety,but for plety of a simple
and practical kind,lying purely 1n charitable thought expressed in
charitable action.Though tradition says she was consldered saintly
by the poor and needy,the home was proably no more religious than
those of the ordinary gentlefolk of the time;even before the
partitions,national feeling and Catholocism,the benevolent despot-
ism of the landowners and the benevolent autocracy of the church

had gone hand in hand.

The priest had been welcome at the manor,sttendance at
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-nﬁas regular,but probably there was no more.lIsabel and Peter had
grected the priest on his visits with the handkiss of well brought
up children,and had escaped agaln into the world of horses and dogs
tﬁe farmyard and forest interests of healthy country childhood.It
remained for the sturdy youngest,for Paul,to make of his national
religion the first plece of the varied motley he was to wear his
life long,one of those veils to hide the spirit --or reveal it.
Being,like many Polish children,chosen by the priest to.serve at
the altar during mass,the lmpressionable child,with the dramatic
fire which was never to desert him in life,became for a time in his
own eyes a priest --in the positive and spectacular aspect of the
role.It was his favourite game while still quite small.Something in
the ritual,the solemnity,may have touched a natural weakness for
the impressive,but since there seems to have been no religious
quickening with it,it seems more likely 1t was an expression of
ambition,an early urge to power and self assertion.His father,coming
and going,leaving a mark on his surroundings as master,would be
waslly eclipsed to the eager child by the greater consequence of
the prlest,the consecrated and set apart.Paul spent whole days in
the sincerest form of flattery,imitation,but not in the pastime of
prayer or fasting,still less of good works.In all this there was no
touch of morbidity.Nothing could have been further from the recstless,
active mind of the small boy, Just growing conscious of the assert-
ive "I" which,with every fibre of sound brain and body,he needed to
affirm against the repressive powers ranged over a child and youngr
80n.

His room was fitted as a chapel,and there he spent much of

his time,preaching sermons to anyone who would l;aten,or,railins an
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audience,to himgelf.A family tradition handed down states they were
practical and full of sound common sense.The child had found a first
outlet for his unquestionable vitality.It 1s entirely typical of
jﬁhe man that the form was at once harmless and bizarre;what would
have been pamkiah in a person less pronouncedly virlle,became in
him no more than the eccentric but reasonable expression of a lively
fancy and an active,constructive intelligence.

The mood soon passed,or gave way to 2 more mature express-
ion of the same motive.Paul was the youngest;his slister was eight
years older,his brother six.He would be,once hls growing independ-
ence lost him the place of petted baby,an unimportant figure,unable

to compete physically with his elders.An expanding personality
forced him to find something where he,and he only,could shine.The
power he felt in himself,resigning the fleld of arblter of consclence
ceme out as arbiter of taste.Paul found a fresh way tc hold the
stage,this time literally.He began to write plays.When cold or
darkness kept him indoors,he wrote comédles,of which none have
survived,and when the family gathered in the evenings,the long dull
. winter nights when darkness falls at 3.3C,and the snow laden trees
seem to press against the frost flowers on the outer wlndows,he
acted them,king of his small circle.He had talent,congldering his
youth;the same family tradition attributes to these early products
written in his natlive FPollish,a certain lightnees and wit which his

later English worke certainly did not possess.

If moderately gifted(looking with the lenient eyes of the
home critic)as a playwright,ae an actor he shone.licst Poles are
natural actors,and Paul no exception.Grace in gesticulation,free

play of hands,a good enunclation,the Polish language glves to its
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netive speskers,end to this he added a flexible voice and the art of
resding well aloud.He recited --in that asge no shame --snd these two
graces,first developped in the remot; Poznan village,survived with
him in a larger circle,where his voilce hed a fuller range and a

more eritical audience.His pocial gifts remained with him to the

end of hig life.
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(;% Wies koscielna means village with a church,centre of
a parlsh.

Page ©

Pollgh names.The ordinary name is an adjective,the form of
the family eatate.They are now fixed,but came originally from
estates.Hence the man's surngme is -gkl,and his wife takes the
feminine -gka.In other names,foreign or peasant,the wife's
form is -owa,the daughter's -owna,added to the whole name.I
have used the feminine form Raczynska,Strzelecka for Paul's
mother for exactitude.

(3)This habit of naming from places results in there
being maeny femilies with the same name,though not related.To
add to the confusion,many noblemen adopted and thus ennobled
whole famllies or regiments of peasants,ln recognitlion of
services.Thus the mother of Francis Strzeleckl and hig wife
were both Raczynskas,but we do not know if they were related
(probably distant cousins)nor whether they belonged to the
powerful Poznan family of Counts Raczynskl.The title is not
used of Paul's mother.The decisive famlly in determining
relationship is the crest,which in the old days was held in
common by a number of interrelated families,the crests them-

selves belng few in number.The Strzeleckls belonged to the
Herb Oksza(name of crest) The New York family,claiming to be
his next of kin,belong to the Jastrebiec.

Page 10

(:? Poland had then thrée non overlapping classes (a)
peasants,the tillers of the land,in small holdings.(b)the
small number of townspeople,mostly descendants of Jews or
foreign burgers,and (c¢) the gentry (Szlachta)all theoretically
equal,so far as rights,privileges and rank went,but sharply
differentizted in fortune.Nominally brothers,able to carry
swords,vote for and be elected to the seJm or as king,there
were magnates(rich men who had held nominal offices such as
hetman,woyewoda,etc)or titled magnates,Princes,Counts and
Barons,these of forelign giving but generally recognised,such
as the Princes Sapleha,Counts Raczynskl.Below them were the
less well known titled families from the marches,the rich
but more obscure,and lower,the smsller holders,otherg poorer,
with mere patches of land,and lived like peasants,Others,
losing theilr property,became attached to the houses of their
nelghbours,where they gentlility was still respected.Anna,
being 1n the pogition almost of servant,would not be wooed by
e magnate,nor look at a townsmen or peasant.Hence her choice
must lle with some such poor gentleman as Francis Strzelecki.

(8) The number of true Polish titles 1s so limited that
most people know all the titled famllies by name.

(6)Proverb "Szlachelc w zagrodze rowny woyewodze" A
gentlemen on hls small holding 1is the governor's equal.

(7) and (8) Ateneum 1876 "O Pawle Edmundzie Strzeleckim

wedfug rodzinnychni towarzyskich wspomnien p.406,.The translat-
ion 1s my own.
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III
YOUTH

Explanation of lack of early material - Sketch of brother - Paul's
boyhood -period in Prusslan army.

There are gaps in the story.Dates are lacking,the time
at which events occurred can only be apprroximately fixed.When
dealing with any Polish subject,the materials are hard to get and
harder to verify.The fate of the country was so stormy.The immediate
friends and contemporaries of any Pole of Strzeleckli's day had
other things to do than remember facts of other people's lives -~
they were too busy risking or saving their owne.Papers of all kinds
were possible sources of danger,houses open to ruthlees police
search at any time,the risings of 1830 and 1863 swept away masses
of documents of all sorts.Family records,scattered over a wide
country,shared the fate of other moveables in time of riot,uprising
or war,and public documents were hardly luckler,even when,ln those
careless times,they were kept st sll.Such of the Strzelecki family
papers as survived his time,were 1ln existence in ou}s;his nearest
relative,grandnaphew,and grandson of his sister,told me that he
knew of numerous letters,accounts,etc,belonging to hls grandmother
and her brothers,but that all these had been in a house near Warsaw
during the Russlan occupation,and all were burnt to warm the stoves.
This 1s typlical of the usuzl end of Polisgh personal records.

Peter,the elder brother,went into one of the Polilsh
regiments(9),went through the Austrian campalgn,and in 1812 was
with Napoleon's army in Russia (10) After this,he became Nurat's
ad Jutant,won the Leglion of Honour,and wes taken prlgoner by the
Austrians,in whose hands he remained till 1817.This brings hils

story,where the facts are positive,across that of his brother,whose
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biography at this point begins to be,as it remains,largely
conjectural.

Paul,at the age of about 14,was sent to Wargaw to school.
Thls took him into Russian Pgland.During the time he stayed there
he was in the care,and liying 1n the house of a friend of hlis fathenr.
This friend,Ksawery(Xavier) Kiedrzynski,a solicitor,had growing
children of his own,but seems to have treated the young Strzeleckil
with particular kindliness and confidence.The boy was in the positim
ngffhyoured child,and was free to come and go as he pleased,without
beling responsiblp to anyone but hls guardian,who made no effort to
study his complex character.Certainly his influence could not
have been great,since the attractive boy worked so much on his
feelings that his shortcomings were always condoned and his more
serious offences excused.This brings out a trait which Paul seems
to have possessed from birth and which helps to explain many of the
improbabilities of his later career.He had --magnetism,the gift of
inspiring confidence and trust in the minds of those whom he con-
tacted even casually.He could get what he needed,with no background
but his own personality.The fact crops up agein and again in his
life history.

Now,in a home like his own,where he had more liberty than
is usual to growlng boys,and less control,he was still not at ease.
Already the forces,the restless ambition,the arbitrary will,which
were to direct his life by such circuitous paths,were working in
him.In or about 1812,when he not more than sixteen,he came home
from school one day,in the absence of the family,packed up a few
necesslitlies,took money from the unlocked drawer in the office,and
disappeared.Between that date(it too 1s conjectural) and 1817,when

Peter,returning through Krakow on his release from Austrian c:gtiv-
y
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found him there (in Austrian territory) and took him back to the

" Duchy of Poznan,there is no record of him.He simply vanished,and
”3%ha good hearted Kiedrzynskl,disappointed in his confidence,was
left to make the best excuses he could.

Hies official Polish biography states that he was educated
"in Heidelburg and in Edinbugh"(11)and if at the later place,it
must surely have been during this perlod,since the university has
no record of his attendance during the time he was known to be in
England.If so --it remains homystery how a boy of sixteen,leaving
Warsaw with the .equivalent of a few pounds in his pocket,without
any knowledge of English(thls makes Heldelberg more probable,as he
would have spoken German since infancy,and was a German subject)
could have journeyed so far or supported himself when he got there,
remembering,moreover,that the years 1812-1817 covered the Moscow
campalgn,the battle of Lelipsig,Waterloo.

The motive of his departure is also not quite clesnr,though
an explanation is hinted.Leaving school and setting out,with a
light heart and a light purse,to explore a world where his bounding
optimism promised him a conspicuous role,would be picturesque,but
motiveless,Rardly in keeping with his sound common sense.It certalinly
played a part,and his disillusioning experience may have been at
the back of his mind,as first instilling a more practical voint of
view,when,twenty five years later,he wrote in a letteﬂrerering to
some proverbial Polish figure "like that Jack,who went out into the
world‘to seek his fortune,and came back with nothing"(12) for this

exactly sums up his concrete result from the eplsode.
In spite of %his,his sister's tearful explanation has

probably more than a germ of truth in 1t,besides containing one of

the slender threads which are all that remain to glve a consistant
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pattern to his life.

Paul was attractive,and in a masculine way.The head which
was no noble in age,must have been commanding in youth.Like most of
his countrymen,not tall by our standards,he was well bullt,with the
fine hands and feet,the regular features of the best slavonic types,
with blue grey eyes flashing with purpose and energy.At sixteen,a
hundred years ago,it is hardly so improbable that he could have
flirted with a married woman a few years older than himself,since
early marriages,often malinly an affair of business,are common in a
land where property is divided by inheritance and reunited by
marriage,often among relatives.The story goes on that Paul made
himgelf sufficiently consplicuous for his slster to come to Warsaw
and interfere.Her guick tongue brought the erring wife to a more
sensible frame of mind,and though the riddculous story was kept
quiet,Paul's young pride,touched,vented itself in resentment
towards his slster,proportionate to her success.Ilsabel later re-
counted the meagre facts of her brother's history as known in the
faﬁily,and uged to repeat mournfully "From that time he cared less
about me" Since she,her husband and her brother Peter were all that
remained to the orphaned Paul of parental influence,the fact,if a
true one,and 1t seems highly probable,was enough to be a determining
factor.Home,and 1ts inmates,country,the companionship of his age
and class,were waning as influences,and he was straining forward
towards the new and unknown.

All that is certain 1s the fact of hls return,helped out
of his financial difficulties by his brother,to Poznan in 1817.
During the absence of the two brothers,Isabel's huaband,Felex
SYupski,lived at,and looked after the poor remnants of the property.
There was too little to divide,so the elder Strzeleckl,who married
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" goon after his return,settled down near by,while Paul lived with

" his glster and brother in law.Left to himgelf,unpracticed in
agriculture,so no help about the farm,not reconcliled to the dullnes
and cramping effects of country life,he made himself a nulsance in
the neighbourhood as only an active,dliscontented young man can.

He gave,xeither then \or later,::; explanation of his
departure,and vouchsafed no account of the time he had spent since.
Hlg resentment against his glster,though softened by the pémrs
which had passed,never permitted the old friendliness,so that
affairs can not have been too pleasant at home,and we can understand
and sympathise with the action of his brother in law,who,tired of
the restless young man ag an inmate of hig home,finally "gave Paul
to the Prussisn army"(13) This seems to mean that he brought about,
by pressure or influence in a more friendly way,Faul's Joining the
Prugeian army as a volunteer,slnce the young men was over age,and
in any case hardly of a mature,then or at any other time,to yleld
to force maJ‘?}After 2 few months in the boredom of the sleepy
country,with empty pockete and no possibility of indulging the love
of fine clothes,horses,hospltality and general lavighness which his
mesterful sgpirit craved,and with no chance of being anything but
the returned prodigal living on his relatives,the life of a soldler
may have seemed independent and colourful by comparison.In any
case,he Jolned the sixth regiment of Uhlans,where there were so
meny Foles that it was known as the Pollisgh reglment.He Joined,and
realised at once that he had made a misteke.Military fervour might
well have been in his blood,eas descendant of z race whom geography

has made soldlers from generatlion to generatlion,but the ruthless

formal discipline of the reconstructed Prussian army,the faulte of

- which Napoleon had shown up,were not to be borne.Like many' another
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,ﬁggiﬂuns man,he sought pleasure in his spare time to counteract the

. intolerable welght of duty;it was beyond his power to live like a

gentleman on his pay,his family could not suppliment his resources

80,t0 the ln\flnite enbarrassment of his reletlives,ss soon as he

rose to be ensign(14)he resigned his commigsion,arriving home the
pame regtless splrlt who had left it,plus a more determined dis-
geatisfaction,the habitsg or arrogance and command learnt in an ammy,
and the unpalatable addition of a sheaf of unpaid bills.The Sjupskls
and Strzeleckis may well have sighed,wondering what fresh mlschief
their troublesome young relative would next brew for himéelf and
them.He did them no other favour but this --that he lost no time

in satisfying their curiosity in the latter regard.Idleness,poverty,
and too much energy,the faults of hls position,intelligence,charm
and his proverblal "luck with people" hls three chief trump cards

in the gamble of a poor ambitlous man in life,were combining to
bring about the next dynamic change in his condition,end to weave

a fresh significant pattern into the tapestry of hie career.
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Page 16.

(S?Probably into one of the Polisgh regiments raised in the
hope that Napoleon would do something for Poland.

(10) The Moscow campaign roused hope in the Poles in

Rugsian Poland,and thousands of Poles enligted,including those from
other parts.Such famous leaders a&s Joseph Bem and Prince Joseph
Poniatowski joined and the troops under their command,as belng mome
used to the climate and conditions of warfare were among the most
valuable part of the Grande Armee,covering the retreat as far as

Wwilno.

Page 18

(11)Zielinski Wybitne COzyny Polakow na Pbczynle p.511.
(12) Letter to Adyna Turno,to be fully quoted later.

Page 20

(13)Zmichowska Dp.411.My own translation.

Page 21

(14) Podchorgziew
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Iv
ALEXANDRA TURNO

The Turno family ~-Importance of Alexandra as reclipient of letters
which are the only biographical source for Strzeleckl's llfe.

The dlscontented ensign,finding his brother in law's
frowns,his brother's impatience,his sister's reproaches,anything
but amusing;the hunting shooting and card playing of his restricted
locality,beginning to pall,looked about him for new friends.That to

d

a young man of his sort,was easy,in Poland.Vhere the attitude of the
gentry in the first years after the partitlon had been sullen,the
quiet years of the early nineteenth century in Prugssian Poland had
changed the temper somevhat --the natural Polish hospitality was

beginning to bubble up,especially since thelr exclusion from all

political events,and the unwillingness to mix with the governing
Germans,shut Poles into thelr homes by closing all doors to theilr

talents.

It was not long before Strzelecki found himself welcome at |
aeﬁeral houses lying further afield,notably at that of the Turnos, |
rich landowners living at no great distance from GXuszyna. ‘

This was more to the young man's liking.Mr Turno,a
widower,knew the world and had mixed in affairs;his wealth and
influence,no less than hls character,made him home a gathering
place for his more intelligent and actlive neighboursg.His sons were
already grown up,bringing young life to the house,and though hls
wife had long been dead,his daughter,at home wlth a governesgs,was
growing to be an adequate substlitute.

Between two ages of politécal stress,1t was a time of
open doors,when there was nothing to do but ride from estate to

estate for visits,sure always of a welcome,the chance to see,and
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ride,English blood horses crossed with Arab blood,to discuss the

pointe of a setter,to organise hunts where the bags would have

astonished contemporary ﬁnglish gamekeepers,and to return after them
L. to a loaded table,to mead and vbddka,imported French wines,and to
dancing,where there were women in the household,or to cards,where
larger sumgs passed than a retired ensign could afford to lose.

Paul ghared this carefree life,and was for the moment
satisfied.A wider air breathed through the big house,a greater
sraciousness lay behind the mask of old Polisgh simplicity.He too,
with the other ybung vislitors,stood in the long clearings in the
forests to bring down the red or fallow deer returning from their
feeding grounds,or crouched in the rushes as the distant flaps and
squarks proclaimed the wild duck about to rise.And,when the guests
from Poznan,Turun,Inwrosfawek or Gdansk returned home,the neighbour,
friend of the eldest son of the house and trusted young companion
of the proprietor,shared the quieter pleasures of domesticity.He
drove with the master "Pan Dzledzid&" about the fields,watching the
peasants at work,dlscussed the harvesting and marketing of crops,

was present at the wood cutting,the draining of fish ponds,and

inevitably shared the pursuits of his host's young daughter.

Adyne Turno,the heroine of this blography,deserves a
formal introduction,since she,and she alone,links the episodes of
Strzeleckl's career together.To her were written the scanty heandful
of letters which contaln all the inside,the revealing,glimpses he
he ever gave of himself.She alone,possessing t.hoselet.ters,
and the recollections of the summer of the year she was fifteen,
out of all their contemporary world,might heve been in a position
to tell his true story.She did not tell it,though she loved him all
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r life.Perhaprs her silence,by the time the whole account is given

of their relations,will be his best testimonial.

o they came together,in the year 1821,while still no
Shadow hung over them,and life promised to be no more adventurous
than 1t apreared.

Adjna was then fifteen,Paul twenty four.He may have been
a hero in her eyes,she was nothing in his.A schoolgirl sister,
inconveniently in the way,and moreover rather apt to assert herself
through her influence over her father.Nothing more,but politeness
demznded something of show.She must be spoken to,a few Jestlng
compliments pasaaa.The formality of a ceremdnlal loving race
constrained them both;if he found her cdurtsey ridiculous,combining
the gauche schoolglirl knix with the consclous bend of the hostecs,
he was not able to show it.Perhaps Adyna got her first adult hand-
kiss from him,and never noticed his lips were not quite steady.No
wonder she falled to see,when the man before her was so personable.
Paul,stralghtening from hisg bow,saw the plain. young face before him
transfigured with the most beautifying expression a woman's eyes
can have to light them --heartfelt and genuine admiration of the
man at whom she looks.

For she was not lovely.It was to no speclal physical
grace that she captured and held all the earthly affection that her
young ensign was ever to glve anyone.If his interest began in
?1noth1n5 more vital than happy courtesy,hers was the dawning emotion
of a strong nature which never swerved in its cholce.Adyna knew
vwhat she wanted,a fifteen,and still wanted the same,at seventy.

But,1f,she was not pretty,she was unusual,even in a land
| of energetic women.She had character,which 1lit her from within,like

a lamp.Moreover,she was the daughter of the lord of the manor,of a

-
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iﬁéirge inheritance.And,to a man recently returned from abroad,she
"%%ny well have summed up the undeniable charm of the Pollsh country
t&h the country 1life,of the people from whom he had sprung.
- That summer,one of his crises,seemed very tranquil as it
%ﬁssed.The two of them --he basklng in the soothing warmth of
admiration and appreclation,so gratifying after the humiliatlions
and disappointments of a career which after such an expenditure of
of effort,had still got him so little forward,she embarked --unwarned
by her sentimental governess and her own instinct,on the risky
course of premature passion,must have been happy.It is proably as
much tthat landécape -~
Kraje dzlecihstwa,gdzle czXowlek po Bwiecle
ggl,J;E.Ege ‘??é? zna) tylko kwiecile
H

as to her,that he returned in thought from the mountains of Australia.

The country 1s lovely in the Pﬁlish summer. The fields of
willow,pale green,and like the oats and barley,silvered by wind,
the red stalks and white flowers of the buckwheat,the mauve glow,
warnming to rose at sunset,on the tall flexible rye;the more
vivid colours of the blue lupin,the scent and orchid like delicacy
of the yellow lupin,set among starry grey leaves,cornflowers,red
popples,and daisles,with a host of smaller flowers that make the
fields enamelled,while bees blunder from one to another,drunk with
the pollen of lime or pine or currant flowers,which give out scent
to mix with the mint by the streams and the wild thyme on the
sandy lake shores,and geese,as white as the clouds overhead,
wander beneath the drooping birch branches,as though leaves and
clouds and birds all moved to the peasant alrs from the white

cottages among the white and grey and rosy silver of the poppy
patches.
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Such was her background,and he,too,bred to the land,to
‘the flat,minute vast landscape must have responded to its appeal
through her.He disclalmed all those associations later,one of the
very few Poles who have left thelr country without agonles of home
'sick regret,but probably all of it was part of her charm when he
remembered her.The greeting of the passing peasants "Praised be the
name of Jesus Christ" and Adyna's answer "For ever and everi" left
we know,at least one echo in him,a memory he carrled for fifty years
which cropped out in the only passage of nostalgia he left on record
"T0 abandon our country for another,where the people have nothing
in common with us,but the bond of the same humanity,is to renounce
our nation and our race ~--two things not given to man that he may
cast them off whenever it pleases hls fantasy.The language which
the one establishes,and the character to which they other gives
birth,are insuperable barrlers to amalgamation,and constant causes
of isolation.We may strive to bend our vharacter,and to assimilate

it to that of the country in which we live,but which is not ours;

we may make a certaln approach towards perfection in a langusge

we can speak but which 1s not our mother tongue;and,nevertheless,
the smallest occasion will serve to make us feel that we are
strangers,far from our own soil....how many difficulties have I not
conguered in the study of languages which have no affinity with my
own,and yet,whenever the heart and soul have been moved,how
difficult have I found it to adapt them to the faintest expression
of that which moved me.It is on such occasions that the recollect-

ion of country is recalled and the sentiment of natlonality revives"
(16)

But his sub-debutante,though she played with him a village
idyll,Zosia to his Tadeusz,was no simple girl.It was not enough to
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be méstress of her father's house and twist him round her finger.She

had her place and her obligations.If the grown man,friend of grown
ion,aeemed to coniﬁ:::nd to companlion a girl in her teens,to sult
his speech and ideas, hehwas already experlenced in the world,to
chatter French to 2 chilld and her governess,the descenfi,though
invisible,was actually all on the other side.Adyna'g youth,her
cﬁaperon,and the Informal situation screened the dangers of their
position till it was too late.The father was the last to think of
danger,and while he did not,why should an adolescent and a stripling
take life too seriously? Even the governess,poor simple soul,long
disregarded in a world where women who are not beautiful nor young
should certainly be rich,and now,suddenly considered by a man of
goodlooks and breeding,basked in the sun and closed her eyes to
the future.
It was Adyna herself who took the situation in hand,and

turned its comedy-idyllic flavour to melodrama. |

she fell in love,not prettily nor sentimentally,after
the fashion of her sex and day,but with the intense and prectodous
fervour of a strong character.Even at that early age,she showed the
nature she was to have in maturity,the force which was to make
her a personallity in a situation where almost any woman would be a
shadow.Adyna looked at her firgt admirer,and found him good.Friend-
ship,platonic intercourse in the shelter of her father's roof,
were not to her mind.Deliberately,she knew what she wanted,and it
definlitely was not the chivalrous grace of a stilted age.The first

impulse came from her,but if Paul could have sald,in the words of

; his future fellowcountryman and Adam,"The woman tempted me" he

wogld have had to admit that he was quite ready to follow.Adyna,like
Eve,pald the full price of her indiscretion.
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Paul at this stage could scarcely be called lacking in
self confidence.He was sure of his star and less given than most
peoprle to underrate himself and his value,actual or potential.Tt is
likely that in the spacious atmosphere of the Turnos,a sense of
potentlality bubbled up within him,but even ad,He.waa no fool.Flirt
he may have been --znd hils adventure with the foolisgh married lady
of Warsaw proves he was not backward at the gentle art --but never,
then or later,dild he lose hig head.He knew,as definitely as Adyna
did not,the gul; between their present and future positions.No man
as senslble to the actualities of life,no Pole brought up in the
atmosphere of snobbishness prevalling among the landowners,was more
unlikely to forget the real difference underlying the aprarent
equality of his place in life,and Alexandras'.She,petted and pamper-
ed,surrounded by visltors who would not have entered the house at
all if they had not been well born,could at fifteen,ignore the very
real gulf between herself,an heiresgs,and 2 poor man,with no money
and no prospects of making any,deep,moreover in debts which he had
no chance of paying. Strzeleckl cannot have blinded himself to the
Turno's attitude,1f the affair came to their ears,or Isabels',or
Peters' .Even 1f Adyna had been af? age,she could not have married
without her father's corgent withouﬁ aérioua risk of being disin-
herited,nor could he,Paul,surport her.There was a gulf between them,
and only one way out --a risky one.Either he did for once lose hils
head,infatuated by a schoolgirl,or she overcame ;izuggjectiong.Most
likely of all,they both wanted 1t so much that they persuaded
thenselves end each other that the course was practicable and that

Mr Turno's wrath,faced with a fact,would be of short duration.Adyna
had no cause to believe her father could withstand any pleading of
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hers.

The excited governess was ready to help.Adyna had orrort
unities to further the affalr.Paul,for right or wrong,was willing.
The recklessness of the situatlion eased that caged something which
had been sleeping but not asauaged,aince the army.The months of
marking time were past,he had plans 1in his brailn once more,az fresh
hazard to pley.

An elopement would meet all the needs of the positlon,
overcome the difficulties,silence opposition,satisfy the hot heads
of the prineipals --or principal--with that desperate decieiveness
their state of love and rebellion required.Under the cloak of
ordinary life,preparations were made.A hundred emergencles,involving
hurried meetings and whispered consultations,messages,suborning of
servants,smell superfluous notes frow the lsdy's side,written in
the high flown fluent French which they used for a life's corr::;:nd-
Among the flutterings of the romantic governess,the nacking was
hastily done.The last afternoon came.Paul,under some good pretext,
had removed himself =nd hisz luggage from under the roof he was
about to rob,and had withdrawn to a safe but not too remote distance
to await the conjunction of the hour,the place and the lady.

Adyna,susplelous,bright ebout the eyes,an unusual flush
on her cheeks,went about the house,trying to make thls seem no
exceptional y+.The governess,tearful,was got out of the way under
pretext of a Lady‘%%&éh wat probably real enough when she thought
of the wrath of discovery.The luggage was secured,the carriage
walting well out of sight.The time had come to say goodbye to her
father.The worthy gentleman,tired by a summer day,was resting in
hig office with a sheaf of papers screening a palpable doze.The
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ésual evening sounds came from the yard and garden,where the
Tsardaner's boys were swishing buckets over drooping plants.Adyna
; quaked on the threshold,seeing the defenceless man.AnlatelGedrgliad-
::gﬁMJth,she trembled before the snoring Holofernes in check trousers
E;nd dreoplng moustache.

She swallowed,and approached,spoke to him,roused him,then
%Lher nerve failled her.

"I must leave you,Papa" she quavered,almost overccme.The
life she was leaving was precious and familiar.Even Paul's image
wavered an instant.

"I am going to have supper,Papa,'"she explained brilliantly,
to cover emotlon.

The sleepy gentleman opened one eye.

"What are you having,my dear?" he asked fondly.Fathers
hardly like to admit to belng asleep in daylight.

"Homemade macaroni,Papa,and it will spoll.I must go to
see about 1it."

She tiptoed out of the room,the house.The walting driver
whipped up his horses,and the brjzka disappeared among the rye

fields,in a whirl of dust the setting sun turned to golden and rosy

clouds about ite progress.Poor Adyna'
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Page 25

(15) Mickiewicz,Pan Tadeusz,epilog.This poem,the best
known and best loved in Poligh litereture,stends to the Poles of
all classses as the Bible and Shakespeare to us.Possibly,however in
England,no single book is equally well known by all classes.

Page 26

(16)Physical Deacriptlion of N.S.W.P.379.This is a quotab-
ion,one of the few extant from the manuscript Joumnal kept by
Strzeleckl throughout his travels.
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& CHANGE OF SCENE

,Efsuccessrul elopement drives Strzeleckl abroad.Breaking of personal
188«

An elopement should be romantic.Even in Poland,where a
) certain genlus for preserving forms and avolding the spirit of
them has been evolved,the decision of two young people to brave
the world and take thelr lives into their own hands,has a certain
charm about 1t.

But the stars were against Miss Turno,leaning back,
patisfied with her successful escape.Her mind may even have hovered,
complacently,over the artistry of her farewell.She was something
of an actress,after all,to have contrived,under such trylng
circumstances,an answer to her father's questions.Xluszki in
mwilk,said calmly,on the evening when she was leaving home for ever,
to follow her Paul,to the end of the world,if need be! But the
fancy had succeeded,had managed to content her father,to lull his
curiosity.

Alag,poor Adynat from the romantic to the ridiculous is
conslderably more than a step,1t 1s a crash which reechoes
unpleasantly in the startled ear of the chief actress.The

kluszkl -- long,thin strips of home made macaroni,bolled in water
till soft,then served in a milk sauce with butter and a little
chopped chives,was a favourite supper dish with the Turnos.Perhaps
it came to her mind so readily because she had inherited her
father's weakness for 1it.

Two long lives turned on that answer.If Adyna had answered
' h1gos or flacel,dishes not less typically Polishd},but less sulted
to a hot evening,her life might have taken a very different turn
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and Paul Edmund Strzelecki's life been unworthy of a bilography.
Probably her famlly,faced with thelr marriasge as an accomplished
fact,would have stomached the unpalatable circumstance,and found
him work somewhere on their property,and left her to inherit her
estate,tlied up from her husband's posslble extravagance.In any case,
historical conjecture on those lines wastes 1lts time and effort.The
macaroni lingered for a few minutes in Mr Turno's mind,hanging in
the balance against the rival charms of a longer nap.Then it
conquered drowsiness,and he got up to follow hls daughter to an
early supper.

The léng,low roofed dining room,cool in the hot evening,
was empty,the cloth unlaid.There was no macaroni,and no daughter.
surprised,her father went in pursult.lNo one had seen har.There was
no explanation.The angry master began t6 ask sharper questions.

A herd boy,bringing in some belated cows,had seen a dogcart --the
horse,even at that distance,familiar.¥Mr Turno began to fit
disconnected facts into a pattern.The time the young people had
spent together,Paul's departure -- so abrupt and uncalled for,a
certain strangeness in Adyna's manner.With a roar like a bull,the
infuriated father gave orders which subdued sons,with much mous-
tache pulling,and scared servants hurried to obey.

The flight fell with broken wings a very few mlles from
homesThe chase was short.A few hours after her Jjubllant departure,
the dlscomforted Adyna was brought back to her father's house.Paul,
his love snatched from his too eager hands,knew quite well the full
‘conaequences of his actlon,the scandal,hue and cry which would
follow him(17) When stealing a magnate's daughter to a penniless
marriage,nothing succeeds except success.He went home,and there,

sullen,defiant,heard the reproaches of his justly exasperated
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family,clamouring to hide their own sense of the enormity he had

‘:achieved.This time,and "na serjo" he had made his native district
~ too small to hold his new found reputation.
Paul,even at such a moment,was not too overcome with
grief,and too essentlally level headed not to see the possibilities
of the situation,and exploit them coldly,soberly,under a show of
rage.Hls slsper,shaken by this fresh proof of the devastating
effect he produced on any woman he chose to captivate,promlsed to
pay his army debts (poor lady,she had not any too much for herself,

but family loyalty required the sacrifice) The more phlegmatic
Peter supplimented her further contribution of four hundred thalers
for the jJourney with a like sum,and Paul vanighed again.After a
few weeks' absence he wrote to his slster from Karlsbad --the first
letter since his departure and the last she was ever to recelve
from him.Though t1ll the end of her life she believed in his
affection,and hoped that if they met again,the o0ld attachment
would spring up,his going was a final bresk.Peter was to get a small
number of letters --Paul,with one exception,shared a strange Ppolish
tralt often observable by foreigners in being excellent talkers
1 but bad correspondents --and the traceable letters to PYland of
his later life are pitifully few and very impersonal in tone.There
were twenty letters spaced at two or three year intervals over
forty years.Those rare envelopes,stirring the quiet backwater of
his home with foreign postmarks and stamps from the remotest
sorners of the earth,were uniformly addressed in French (18) to
' Mongleur Plerre Strzeleckil

& Brzosowiec

and thelr contents were apt to be laconic statements of places and



33
8t1ll curter announcements of plans.They were however,to the point,
as the following example shows;
"Dear Peter,

I am in New Holland.To-morrow I sall for
China.l shall be with you in two or four years.

Tout & vous
Paul,"

Apart from those chilly epistles,he severed all connect-
ion with hls home.So far as I have been able to trace,he never saw
his relatives again.
With Paul's hurried departure --hastened by family
reproaches and a lively sense of the long arm of Mr Turno's
regentment,and with the letter which fluttered back like a pidgeon
to the sheltered,circumscribed 1life he was leaving behind,the
preliminary chapter of his life clogsed.He was a man grown,who had
learned several harsh facts by barkinz hisg shins szalnst them,A
new,final preparatory stage opens with his settling out.The Astall
which has begen devoted to his early adventures only Justifies itself

if at all,very much later in the narrative.
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Page 31.

(1%3) The art of elopements were considerably practiced
in Poland,as one of the outstanding socizl historians observes.
Apert from the ordinary cases,as here,where two young people try
to avold hindrance by secrecy,there were recogniged setg of
circumstances in which parents and guardlsns connived at elopement,
elther as having changed thelr minds about a prospective son in
law,and wishing to mave themselves the humiliation of a public
volte face,helped the girl to escapre,snd evn arrernged the assignat-
ion through relatives or servants,snd others where the eleopement
wag to disarm the wrath of powerful relations by ridding themselves
of responsibility,or even save the expense of a2 wedding.Bystron I.

Page 31

(17) His achievement was bruited all over the country,
and finally rezched the north east of Poland,in Rusaslan territory
a8 a2 highly exaggerated ballade,most galling to the sensibllity
of the Strzeleckls and the pride of the Turnos.

P e 320

(?%) Since the eighteenth cenppury,through the influence
of French queens and French nuns,French has been the second
language of 21l the Polish upper classes,z position it has not
yet lost.l knew of houses during my stay 1in Poland,though among
the old fashloned arlstocracy where no other language was ever
spoken;a Rusaian of my own age told me he only picked up Rugsian
from the lower gervants,hls parents using French with him,his
father's valet German,his mother's Dame de Compagnie English,and
even in less extreme cases,French 1s universally used in front of
servaents in private discussions.Every child learns it before he is
ten years of age.

Strzelecki's using it on envelopes would be perfectly
natural,since Polish would be incomprehensible abroad and English
at home,to postal officlals.But,in the cases where he wrote French
to Adyna and other Polish women,writing from so far,it suggests an
allenation of spirit at variance with the glowing sentiments he
expressed in 1t,though its naturalness to a Pole totally removes
the hint of preclousness which would be suggested by two English
lovers or acquaintances using a Foreign language in intimate
correspondence.
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VI
THE SAPIEHAS.
Poligh rural Conditions -~ Position of bailiff -Discussion of Strzel-
eckli's dublous finances and the reasons for his leaving P¥1ish
territory.Breaking of national ties.

After leaving Karlshbad,one of those gaps falls in Strze-
leckl's life,which the destruction of all papers maeskes it very '
unlikely will ever be bridged now.We are not even here sure how
Jong it lasted.Tradition says he went to Italy,or wandered in Ger-
many.At any rate,everything is uncertain till we come upon another
of those facts,which,like the friendshlp will the Turnos,was to
influence the coursge of hig life subsequent to it.While he was
atill abroad,an elderly Poligh maghate was fascinated by him.The
friendship ripened quickly,and Paul found himself,not long after
his strategic flight,once more back in his native country,his past
elther forgotten or unknown,and a position of trust opening before
him.This rapid change in hig fortunes requires a trifle more
explenation than reiteration of his customary "luck with people.”

Poland's history has always been unique.Even to-day,one
of the difficulties to the vigltor from abroad ie the mass of
contradictions 1n her structure,and before the sweeping changes of
the last twenty years,she was still more divided between the east
and west,the up to date and the completely medeaeval.Poland wag =-
and is ~-the ultimete European frontier.The Poles,though purely
Slavonic in stock and closely related to the inhabitants of those
parts of Rusela,were early in touch with the culture of western
 Burope,and,accepting Christianity from Rome,the nobility of the
- country consclously regarded themselves as the missionaries of
.ﬁheir political and religious institutions among the more barbar-

oug peoples lying north and east.
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Like their great enemy,the Teutonic Knights,founders of
the Mark Brandenburg and the House of Hollernzollern,the Polish
gentry waged unceasing war against the Pagan Lithuanians,whom they
converted,the orthodéx Russians,and the Mohomedan Tartars;all these
ﬁerritoriea they overran,and settled,by right of conquest,as
military despots,who freely enclosed and occupled the lands they wele
encoﬁrased by their own kings,German emperors,and the Pope,to annex.
Lithuania,by treaty,Zmudz,the "Dzikie Pole" and the Ukraine,were
scattered over by thelr estates,and Polish culture and language,and
the Roman Catholic religlon,remeiné@ paramount among the gentry of
these reglons,while the peasants kept language,customs,superatit-
ions and 1n many parte religlon,separate (19)This state of affairs,
origin of the Galiclan massacre engineered by the Austrians,during
the partitlons,and of the bad relstions with Lithuania and the
friction with the Ukrainian minority in the Lwéw distriets in our
own day,had left the Polish nobility in a feudal position long
after centralised despotic monarchies had grown up further west.
The aristocracy were great landowners,Grand Seigneurs of the pre-
French Revolutlionary type.They owned extensive territories,often
scattered over a vast tract of country,often remote from other
estates 1n the same hands,ilnadequately surveyed or wholly uncleared
(20)from which they drew the princely incomes which ensbled them
to live like princes abroad,leaving their wide lands to the care,
(usually dlsastrous) of bailiffs.The constant invasions,war and
plllage of the last centuries of Polish independence(Tartars,Turks,
 Russlans,Swedes) had not improved the cohesion of these estates,
- and the inevitable confusion of the partitions had completed the
chaocs (the law mentioned at the beginning by which each landowner
migt decide to which country he would belong and sell the properiy
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which lay over the frontier,flooded the market with cheap land,
which the rich as well as officlals of Rusels,Austria and Prussila
snapred up)As there were thousands of estates which changed hands
in this way,the comp%ilty of land administration was already
profound,nor was the situation improved by the inadequate knowledge
of the northern and eastern parts of the country,where much of the
ground was swampy,and covered with virgin forests,unlinked by roads,
and ite inhabitants demoralised by invasion.(21)

The job of bailiff was to administer an estate for an
absentee landlord,send him the moneys produced,and from time to
time, on,demand,furnish books for some sort of personal auditing.

The famlly to whose elderly head Paul was now blindly
trusted confidential servant,was old,rich,and well known.During
the stormy years of the Republic(22) the Princes Sapieha had held
most of the positions which conferred importance and dignity on a
family.Not only did they have that diatincgfghjoy a title of long
standing and general recognition,but the numerous branches of the
name were rich,influential and independent to a degree seldom
found further west in Europe.The chlef of the family,Strzelecki's
patron,had in his absolute control territories not less extensive
than many of the principalities of Germany or Italy,and there was
no one in the world to whom he was respongible for the management
or mismanagement of all or any part of them.Prince Sapieha,according
to the system of reckoning real estate in force at that time,was
master of 30,000 souls in the province of Mohileff,(now in Russia)
in the group of farms called Bychowliec,12.000,in the Grodzinz
district 12.000,in the north of Lithuania,near Riga,in 2mudz,6000.
These holdings were widely separated from each other,days jJourney

by coeach or horse at the best of times,over tracks impassable
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quarter of the year,and dangeroug at all times.Each of them was
separately administered,and each in the charge of a man independ-
ently responsible,according to his sense of moral obligation,to an
T indulgent,credulous,absentee grandee.The complete charge of one
of them,rather graphically estimated at 12.000 souls --and presum-
able also,bodies(a large province for one person) fell into the
hands of a young man,without experience of agricultural methods
nor knowledge of business princliples,and with no more understand-
ing of the dutieas of a position of trust than a cursory observation
of his brother iﬁ law supervising the working of a few acres away
on the Rrussian frontier,when centurles of civilisatlon made the
| level of education,intelllience,morality and outlook of the peasant
raw material incomparably different.

When he got this position Strzeleckl was about twenty
8lx years of age.When Prince Francis brought him back to Poland
(this time,to Russian Poland,for the first time since his flight
from the Warsaw solicitor's home,round about 1812) he sent the
young manager out to one of the wilder estates,gave authority to
him to attend to all affairs needing supervision,and then,satis-
led with himself and his cholice of a servant,withdrew beyond call
appeal,and almosgt,in those days of slow and clumsy communications,
beyond memory,to distant Warsaw or Karlsbad or Italy,whence he had
come.

The kingdoms of this world must have looked very good to

the impoverished ex enslgn,who had never in his life on any occas-

ion had enough money,and who had recently been constrained to have

hls personal affalrs straightened out by a fussy sigter at the

“,??1°° of long lectures on his extravagance,and whose pride moreover
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was still smarting because his fiancée had been taken from his
unworthy -- because poor --hands.

As Mozley says,some trial meets all men.Using trial in
the sense of test,for every strong nature,a proving time comes,a
turning point in the career of a man.Sometimes,as for Strzelecki,
the dice are loaded.

No defence of action is the object of this discussion,
but attempted explanation 1s needed to make seemling disepepant'
facts fit together,since we know that such things occurred,it must
be the purpose of anyone attempting to record a life,to give it
some sort of coherence.

Strzelecki,still in years a young man,was morally untried
material.So far,he had been uniformly thwarted.Everything he had
undertaken had ended in failure,humiliation and ridicule.low,faced
by & lenient patron and a distant field of endeavour,the new bailiff
set himgelf to the task of administration.

The Saplehas were indifferent.The famlly was scettered,
and while Frince Francis lived,his sons hasd no say in his affairs,
even 1f they knew the detalls of them.Apart from Francls Sapleha,
no-one knew or cared what was going on,and he himself probably did
no care muche

There are verlous accounts of the period@ which immediately
follows.The first,the kindest,relates that that the young administrat-
or,who had his employer'e interest sincerely at heart,attended so
well to his work that the grateful prince left him a considerable
amount in his will,so substantial a fortune in fact that the natural
helr was suspiclious and brought a lawguit to upset the will,but,
being unsuccessful,the ex bailiff went to St Petersburg with his

- money,where his experience snd a good head for finance soon laid



39
the foundations of the fortune on which he lived for the rest of
3 hlB life -

That ls one wversion,probably partly inspired by himself.
Many years leter he gave the following account of 1t to Adyna,to
whose ears at the time,a less favourable rumour of it may easily
have come.The quotation is given in full.

"Francls Sapleha,owner of great estates,lost credit.Hile
fortune was toppling.Being surrounded by thieves,it 1s hardly
getrange thathe fancied the whole country had Jolned together to
bring about his.ruin.That 1s why he trusted 10 me,and,entrusted
into my hands,ss a limited person,who came to him without influence
or recommendation,complete control of his properties.I got to work.

"I set things in ordery,reorganised the administration,
drove off the hordes of debtors,sold ten thousand peasants(23)
pald the debts and restored his credit.Il triumphed Just where only
&efeat might hsve been expected.Many of the families previously
: injured regarded my arrangements as the greatest injury of all,
and congeguently did everything they could against me.Eustace
Sapieha,the son,was drawn into thip,and when the storm broke out,
Francis Sapieha withdrew from the whole affair,and I fell,with a
ghriek,and wings outspread.lawsuits were wasged.Payment,to the sum
of one hundred and elghty six thousand florins,which the father
hed intended for me,was disallowed by the court at the instigation
of the son.In the country where this verdict constituted Justice,
Eustace,being rich,won,while I,who am poor,lost.igreement and
peace had to follow.l admitted of my own accord,that I resigned my
laim,and left the Sapiehas,after four years}%§:t Jack,who went out
into the world to seek his fortune and came back with nothing.
"During that time,there was no calumny they did not throw

N1
o
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up at me...2 certain Mr Breza(24)one of my accursed relations,on
his way back to Great Poland from the battlefield,told my brother
that I had been arrested,wheresas,during that time,lI had been once
in Moscow,once in St Petersburgsses

"All that has been an increasing justification for my
former hatred of the country and ite inhabitants.How good it 1is,
that my prosperity and hapriness do not depend on them...."

Another account is,that thq custom of adminisgtration
prevalling at thet time demanded that the balliff furnish annually
a certain stipulated sum,which was given to his employer;he was
fully within his rights 1f he kept whatever he made over and above
it.Strzeleckl,by good management and industry made his income so
considerable that the death of his employer left him exposed to
the Jealousy and greed of the heirs who brought an unsuccessful
lawgult.

Another story(the most detalled and picturesque,if the
least creditable)puts Strzelecki in 1828 in charge of the estate
Bychowlec,where something unpleasantly llke dighonest dealing took
place.Strzeleckli sold part of the property to certain friends of
his for a mere song.According to this version he took into nefar-
lous partnership two other men working on the estate,and sold them
farms to make accomplices of them.Joseph Szaniawski,Slawenskl and
Klersnowski(who got Sahaddw) while Strzelecki kept for himself by‘
a nominal sale the farm called Horodzce(25) This transaction,which

disposed of 9000 souls(on an estate of this slze a man could make
a comfortable fortune)had gone thus far when Prince Sapieha dled
abroad.Hls son and heir Prince Eustace,hearing what was going on,
zluent to Bychowlec 1in person and very naturally demanded to aeé the

- books.A violent and unseemly scene took place.The angry prince,
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accusing Strzeleckl of embezzlement,corruption and theft,demanded
that the books wherein the transactions were recorded,should be
1mmediately‘forthcoming.Strzeleéki ~--through congclous innocence
or consclous guilt,in any case with pride touched to the quick,
refused with no less heat.The outraged Sapieha,unaccustomed to
defiance,tried to séize the books,which the boockkeeper and balliff,
both as far beyond control as the injured heir himself,snatched out
of his very hands.There were no consequences for such high handed
proceedinga.Strzelgcki,poor as before,wlithout even the reasonable
legacy left him by the old prince's will,went to Warsaw.There was
no lawsuit.

One more disconnected fragmentary statement remains.lt
reads(26)"A certain gentleman,who met Strzeleckl on his way from
the prison to the court,saw with his own eyes that he was in chains"

S0 much for the stories,which at thig distance of time
it seems hard to reduce to coherence.Before discusslng them in turn,
their zuthority might be cited.I took the whole of the foregoing
from two sources --the account collected by Zmichowska,who wrote
her article in 1876,being then an old woman,#nd basing 1t on family
records and papers no longer avallable,but mostly on recollections
heard many yeafﬁ before from a relative,siete? of Anna Strzelecka,
Paul Strzleckl's mother.Naturally these,hearsay at second hand,tend
to put Strzeleckl in a favourable light.The second source,the let®er
which I translated into English from the Polish text of letters
- written in French,and written clearly to Justify himself,suffers
from the same deflnite partial basis.But there could be no greater
| mistake than to accept the other versions unreservedly.Poland is =

country where family relationships and family loyalties are stronger

¢
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than with us,and gossip devastingly wvirulent.An injury to the
Sapliehas,to the magnate class,was an injury to a large group of
their equals and dependantas.A poor man seldom has friends when he
is in trouble.Besides,his position here put him in the wrong in
public opinieon."Administrator(one exercising power of attorney)and
abuse(of that trust) form a powqrful combination of 1deas in human
concepta" (27) and some trouble there definitely was.

The picture given in the first story,and in Strzelecki's
letter would be the pleasantest to accept,the third --of barefaced
dishonegty and abuse of the privileges of his position hardly seems
to square with what we know of the mature Strzleckl.To accept 1t
would be to postulate the assumption that a man can completely and
wholly change his character,once formed,to another,and that in a
short time,between the ages of of thirty and forty,and presents
many more psychological difficulties than the other accounts.
Strzelecki in Australis and England stood out in an age of search-
ing inquiry,in a circle of men as dlsinterested as George Gipps and
Sldney Herbert,as above temptation and above greed,modest and
unselfligh,fit for the honours he earned by being,among so many
atrong men,one of the best qualified to carry out the same task as
here he geems to have fazlled in so signally --the administration of
funds for an absentee pradprietor.It seeums strange,and_lt is poseille
that this contradiction was so.Between the young hungry man,burn-
ing with a very fever of unconsumed ambitions and energles,and the
: man,poor,but buoyed up by the sense of 1life work achleved and
- reputation earned,lies a great gulf.But,in that case,even allowing
‘that,the change 1s too fundamental to be accepted.There are still
explanations lying between the two extremes.Strzeleckl may have

done no more than many another did unchecked --and if the reports
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of his maladministration came so quickly to the ears of the young
Prince Bustace,why dld no wind waft them to the old prince,who,
though easy going and probably despotic,possibly senile,can yet
have liked being cheated flagrantly and openly by a man he trusted,
no better than the average.Ilf Strzeleckl,in the matter of the
degacy,did influence the prince unjustly,then the lawsult would
probably have been won against him;if he stole the money by false
sales to confederates,carrying them on through the usual legal
channels,the suspiclously low sums paid and the fact that he was
among the purchasers would have given the bailiff in chief a weapon
against him (28) and would have been enough to condemn the illegal-
ity of hls proceedings.Paul Edmund Strzeleckl,son of Francis
Strzeleckl,a poor gentleman of Poznan,in the Duolw of Poznan,in the
territory of Prussia,was a nobody,whose only influence would be
that of his family,people as unimportant as himself,and distant.The
only way his name would have been known would hardly strengthen hils
case or improve his reputation.After running away from school,
leaving the army burdened with debts,he had committed a gerious
offence against that same magnate class he had again provoked.Now
having failed with the daughter of one rich man,he was in trouble
with the helr of another.lis asccuser was a prince,eand in his own
country,Strzelecki;as formal Frussian,an allen.Yet,if it came to

a lawsult,the scales turned in favour of Strzelecki.This does not
‘unfortunately,prove him gulltless,but is still an ambiguous
‘argument in his favour.If he came by the money dishonestly ~-whibh
the Saplehas,in spite of their overwhelming advantages,were not
. able to prove --he did it so subtly and showed so much skill in the
doing of 1it,that his own generation could not bring the offence
home to him,which frees us from the obligation of believing it.
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Every landowner =--then so important a class that even the Russian
offliclals might be inclined to take thelr side against the other
Poles --would be against a suspected bailiff,since embezzling was
a2 favourite pastime of administrators.If Strzelecki came dishonest-
ly by his money,he did it so skillfully that neither unpopularity,
public opinion,influence nor money could prove the fact against
him.And though this hardly acquits him of the charge,legally a

man is innocent till proved guilty.Proof against him was never
forthcoming.

It seems probable on the whole,that the more favourable
version,though in a much less highly coloured form,is the true
story.He probably worked well,and in protecting the old man against
those anxious to exploit him,ceftainly made enemles among people
able to injure him,speclally with the heir.Slander which twists
true facts into damagling accusations 1s almost 1mpossible to fight.
That would be enough to explain the stories.The positive fact is

that Strzelecki left Poland about 1830-31,and never returned.His

' departure was hastened by the cumulative misfortunes which had meet
" him there,and in going he broke all ties with it.Aa to the circum-
gyances of his going,one strong proof of his blamelessness is the
man himself.In confutatlon of the charges,Strzelecki rises up.Ve

are still back across a gulf,dealing with the early developements of
our man,who has not yet fully emerged.Put,yet,Strzelecki at sixty
throws the cloak of his probity over Strzeleckl at thifty.He would

gucceed 1n condoning worse crimes.



NOTEs ON
VI.

Page 35.

(19)This separate intensely patriotic Polish class in
unPolish reglons is easlly lilustrated by such books as The Deluge
describing Antonina,the %reat egtate of the Potockis,in Russia,or
Storm from the East(I believe,untranslated into English)giving
pictures of Polish manor houses,with uncounted artistic treasures,
lying round Kiew.(Kieff)Another illustration is the fact that
Mickiewicz,the best loved and known Poligh poet,writing his national
eplc Pan Tadeusz while exiled in Paris,begins a poem constantly on
Polish lips with the words "Lithuanla,my native land"

PB&G 350

(20) Poland still possesses tracts of primeval forest,
notably Blelowice,where the rare European bison are conserved.
Parts of the eastern frontier,moreover,have escaped all the wars
of the centuries by theilr power to repell penetration,and are only
being for the first time,surveyed by government planes,flying low.
There are large districts where the peasants know only two means
of transport --boats and aeroplanes,the latter by sight only.
Wheeled vehicles are beyond their mental concept,since they live
and die along narrow cleared strips edging waterways through the
forested swamp country between Brzebé Litewskl (Brest Litovsk) and
the Russlan border.

Page 36.

(21)Poland had been the favourite battleflield during the
centuries,notably in 1655-60(Swedes) 1768-T72(Confederacy of Bar)1773
(Confederacy of Targowlca 1794 (Sack of Praga)1806(siege of
Danzig,Preussisch-Eylau,Friedland,Leipsig in 1813.The consequent
state of the country can be imagined.

(22)Republic,to us a misleading term,was the official
Pollish designation for the kingdom.After the extinction of the
JagiXYo dynasty,the kingship was elective,and the king only primus
inter pares.The revival of the title today under a president 1s
hence qulte natural.

Page 39.

(23)This seeming brutal stastement refers to the practice

of land calculation spoken of above.

Page 40

(24) The Brezas,a well known Poznan and Ukrainian famlly,

pogsessed the title count.Strzeleckl here does as many Poles do,
ignores the use of 1t.The letter from which the quotatlon is
teken was written at the time when he was already using Count of
himﬂelfc
(25)1 took the form of this name from the locative form,
and probably the nominative given here is wronge.
Page 41
(26) Zmichowska.P.420.
Page 42,
(27) Zmichowska .P.420.
Page 43.
(28)A story which illustrates this came to my ears while
n Poland.A runaway Russian monk wae teken in by a Polligh family
0 sheltered him,which he requited by reducing them to a state of



giia,whsre the proprieter and his heir signed away sales of

fogéat land for 2 mere song.As they lived in the country and were
known te be unfriosndly and eccentric,;the transactions only came

to light through their Vilno lawyer noticing the ssmwall sale prices
for valusble timber.The only way the ssles could be upset,having
valid algnatures,was by rroving the two nobléwen insane and unfit
to administer their estates! ele : 4
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PART II
EDUCATION OF A SCIENTIST
VII

Lack of positive information where Strzelecki received scientific
education.The Year 1830 - In this perlod past falls away and the
esgential Strzeleckl emerges.Coming to know the English,he shapes
a career by thelr standards.

This brings the account to the year 1831,and Strzelecki's
final departure from Poland,but to anyone knowing Pollish history
something 1s incomplete.What he was doing in the year 1830 must be
asked,to maske heg later actions clear.

The cénsreas of Vienna had assigned the large part of
Poland to Russia,to be governed as a constltutlional state,with the

Gzar as king.He sent his brother,the Grand Duke Constantine to
'Weraaw as governor,and convenlently forgot the constitutional part
of the programme,consldering it an insult to the autocrat of

the vast Russlan dominions to brook any restrictlions in a emall
part of them.The crassness and bruﬁality of Constantine,and a
>aeries of 1ﬁtolerable aggressions on their liberties,led to a
rising in November 1830,when a group of young officers planned to
Vcapture and kill the Grand Duke and set thelr country free.This
insurrection,which began well and promised reason ghancea of
guccess,dragged on for some months,and petered out in scattered

fighting,and was followed by wholesale execﬁtiona,Siberian exile
;nd masa‘confiscations of property,the class affected being the

Since the filghting was done by volunteers,who crept away
jecretly to Join in,1it 1s specially hard to trace the activities
f any one person during this period,since only those caught and

;ognised could be identified.Thouasands of men fell in unrecorded
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skirmishes, or were betrayed to the Russlans by peasants greedy for

. reward,and their deaths were kept secret under various pretexts,to
~ pave thelr mothers,wives and children from destitution follawing
the total confiscation of rebels and traitors (29)

Although there is no positive informatlon,my general
impression 1s that Strzeleckl did not take part in the Wovember
‘ Rising.Hls quarrel with the Saplehas may have prevented this,by
preventing his volunteering,but a later passage in a letter would
seem to read llke an excuse,for though the reference has been
. taken to describe his sufferings as political exile(an account
which appears in various English blographies and which he did not
contradict) at the hands of the Russians,it is more likely that
he is actually speaking of his treatment at the hands of the
1'resentrul Saplehas.He clearly speaks of dlssatisfaction with his
. fellowcountrymen,which took some time to fade from his mind.In a
letter already quoted,he speaks of an "increasing Juatlripation
for my former hatred of the country and its inhabitants" and again
he says "I love,too,our unhappy country,and am ready to dedicate to
her much,but not your love and you.Everything which relates to it
- brings back to me only bitterness,injury and mortification.
"What did I not have to bear from the family,how much did

; not suffer from my fellowcountrymen! Among those sufferings

@? ch deluged upon me,some of them were so great,that they might
have overwhelmed and killed hmndreds of peoplessensitive to slander
and deception;they are stlll raging today,because the lower they
tried to crush me,the higher they raised me up."

Thls rather exagerated manner of writing,years after the
dvents described,shows how deeply the inault went;written to Adyna,

iombined with the phrases which I have omitted here and put in
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. later,it reads as a Justification of his non participation in the

Inaurrection.lt has been given such length becauae that fact in
itself 13 proof how completely strzelecki had broken with his
- national tles.Psul was one of the few members of his family who did
strike a blow for national independence.

The question of Strzelecki's leaving Foland well to do
is & further argument in favour of hia-neutrallty.ﬂe took money
" with him at a time when almost all Poles leaving Russeian Poland
were very poor indeed.Most of them were worse than poor,they were
. hunted,in hiding,in Russian prisons,or having the greatest difficulty
in escaping Russian gallows.Many of them were still "in the woods"
dYodging from place to place,starving,emposed to the rigours of
the cold.Neanwhile,he went to England and went with enough money to
live several years there. .

This brings us agaln into the reglion of pure conjecture.
SOme of his blographical notices,notably that of Zmichowska,the
address of Sir Bartedmy Frere,Zelinski in his MaXy S¥ownik,Professor
Dyboski,in his article in "Czas" and various English sources,give
@étaila of Strzelecki's educétion_aa.having taken place at Krakow
lpyboaki quotes this as a "tradition" but glves no Authority or
proof) Heldelberg,Oxford University,Edinburgh University,and the
ﬁ;sh School at Edinburgh.PFurther detalls add he spent his vacations
*;king walking tours for geological research in the Alps.Like the
;ﬁperlence of banking in St Retersburg,all this seems rather what
he should have done,or what he let it ;ppear by inference that he
W;;done,than what he did. |

Two sources of education I have not followed up --the

fﬁ} School in Edinburgh and Heldelberg University.The latter has
ready been dlscussed,and like the Krakoﬁ tradition,hardly affects
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the problem of his educatlon,since it must have taken place before

 1831,2nd therefore the only comment is the strangeness of his
having possessed a liberal educaticn of which he made so little

ugse as & young man while it filled hisg whole subsequent 1ife.As for
the High School,it is possible ~-if a school for boys at that time
would accept a foreign student aged thirty four.Oxford and Edinburgh
deny having had him as undergraduate,and theilr reglstrars should
know.In fact,the tradition of the Royal Geograrhical Soclety,whence
most of the later English biographical notices took thelr dats,is
based on his own statement.He ought to know, better than anyone
else,when and how he studied,but his claim 1s here oven to refut-
ation,end in other prlaces too there is a susplclon of colouring in
his accounts.

Strzeleckl visiyed Scotland,since he makes notes and
comparisons between the zgricultural methods prevailing on an
estate he stayed at,with those in force in Courland,but his going
is definitely more in keeping with the other generally accepted
legend of how he spent his first three years in England.His Scotch
sojourn,aé guest on a big estate,followed hlis scquaintance made wikth
- 1ts owner,whlle Strzeleckl was frequenting London soclety.His
interest in sheep farming,it seems was grounded in experience
gained of the same sclence on the estates of Prince Biron of Cour-
land --a place where the Sapiehas' administrator may easily have
‘gone on busginess. _

The pilcture is charming,and characterigtic.A popular
and cultured young forelgner,of title,travelling as a result of
unhappy political disturbances at home,and interested in those
pursults which occupled him in his native land.The grace of his

address,the charm of his person readily securing him a placerin
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| English soclety,and,under the pomp of fashionable life,feeling the
ﬁrse of his manly nature driving him on to accomplish his destiny.
But,as usual in the plecing together of Strzelecki's
life,many of the stories will not fit in,and the real and vital
account 1s missing.Strzelecki came to England not later than 1831,
| and left for the continent at the end of 1833,and left Europve in
1834 .Between thoge dates,the most important change in hig career
: took place,and neither then nor later do we come upon any tangible
peg on which to hang it.The only clues are thoge of inference.l
could well apare'the society accounts for concrete facts as to how
when snd where that fundamental alteration took place. :

"What a charitable act 1t would be for us today if,by even
one detall,one small casual refernce,by a word even,we could see
those years of chemical change when the @rince's balliff,of dublious
character,was made over into an English gentleman,intc & geograrher,
eiplorer and discoverer) (32)

Cantan
The skeleton of his Xfe up to thls,the thirty fourth

English was a language little known(33)French he knew(but this
would hardly be useful except emong the higher aristocracy in
England) Strzeleckl would have had to learn English thoroughly --
the prpof of the hardness of that task 1s that ten years later

he still wrote it like a foreigner,and even in hig book apologlses
for it being unidiomatic.When he knew enough of the language to
L‘deratand and be understood,he had to do a harder thing,the first
real act of the new Strzelecki.He became a sclentist.His Pollsh

year of his life,has been already sketched out.In his age and class,
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Poland and leaving England,he got a detalled specialist education
of sufficient standing to command his market as scientist all over
the world.

These few years then are critical.During that shadowy
period,no one is sure where or how,the essentlial man crystallised.
All the foregoing facts,with their violent discrepancies of
intention and character,with gaps to be bridged only by conjecture
and inconsistencies to be stated gnd left unreconclled,belong to
the youth of the man.Hé dlsappeared three times before this,from
gchool,from marriage and from sharp practices;this time he dives
deeper into the sea of invisibllity and emerges --another character.
The soldlier,the lover and the balliff do not disappear =--Strzeleckl
kept a surprising consistency throughout hig life --they are
changed,transmuted,almost a s though he had been acting a part.From
this time on,we have the same talents and gifts,seen in theilr
constructive side,and they create a new figure,with none of the
old shifts ~-~wlth one exception.The new Strzelecki is far from
perfect,there are still shadows,and blemisghes,but in some way hé
has become solid,and on his life the brightest light can shine.Yet,
he himgelf remains the only document.Even when the figure,grown
familiar,walks plain in our view,explaining in slightly heavy but
entirely faultless English his sentiments(always of the loftiest)
and his ailms(without exception the most laudable possible to
\ vince)there are still no facts.Apart from the Adyna letters,we
;aonly testimonials of men who praised officlally,recorded or rewarded
the events which rested on Strzelecki's own statements.It 1s no
wonder there exlsts a certain difficulty.Such first hand documents
&8s were not destroyed by his order were censored by expediency;

the Russians and Prussians did for all papers in Poland what he
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prescribed for wkat he had in his possession.All our authorities

are second hand,and at the end of research and investlgation we are
able to trace everything we know except a handful of bare dates,to
two sources,or rather to a single source;Strzeleckl,explaining
himself and his achievements in a favourable and sympathetle light
to a few chosen pmople in Poland;and Strzelecki,explaining himself
still favourably and still sympathetlically,with a vell of becoming
modesty,to a few chosen people in England.The Count(who was not a
Gaunt) and political ex;le(exiled for nonpolitical reasons) is,as
it were,chief showman.But the exhibit 1s masterly.In spite of the
naive tone of some of hig letters,a shade of reserve in others,
- we are convinced.In any case,we never get behimd them.Whether it
- be the complete Strzeleckl explaining his maturity in Jjustifiably
- favourable terms to the native land he sbandoned,or Strzelecki
explaining(perheps a trifle lees Justifilably)in a kindly but --
might it be hinted,mildly fietitious?--way,the circumstances of
his youth to the native land he adopted,he believes everything he
seald.And so,almogt ~-here ig his tribute,do we.
Under the explanatlion,the somewhat rhetorical turn of

‘his autoblography,the real man comes into sight.He confronts us
with a reality which remzing,complete within itself,distinct from
‘what he says,a plece with itself,till the end of hisgs life.Before
the plunge into English invisibilty,there is everywhere ambiguity;
a1l his events may have been honest,but there is a shadow over them
of a less pellucid construction.After that time,we have a character
of cool determination,a suave assurance,a will like metal,bright
but hard.The better self had risen to command,and cleared every-
thing --zlmost-before 1t.With his boyhood,Strzelecki had shed his
impetuosity,his disregard for other people and dlsregerd for the
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gonsequences of his own actions.The young Polish exponent of "ZYota

Wolno&d" has hardened into the gelf exacting exponent of much that
was best in Viectorian Eﬁgland --before the Victorian ldeal was INL
yet born.

Congider the mere fact that Strzeleckl came to England,if
not poor,certainly not well to do,since he exhausted hlis resomrces
® in three years.Not rich enough,certainly, to buy his way into a
‘soclety much more exclusive than our own.At his best,with vitality
and good spirits,health and energy,to back the attraction of his
personality,Strzeleckl may have possessed the weapons necessary to
overcome the inevitable prejudice against him as a foreigner.That
was 1ln such an age of insularity and nmrrowness,no small achieve-
ment,and enough to turn a weaker head.But Strzelecki made it o nly
one of hils victories.During the time when he was laying the found-
atlions of a wide and influentlal acquaintance,he was out of sight
and without leaving records,doing a feat many times more difficult,
moulding himself to the hablts of charscter and thought required
by a man of science.Hard work,concentrated and stretched over years,
: with the barrier of a forelgn language as medium,ls never a small
gelf conqueat.He made it,with the added temptation of soclety to
& mind starved for Just such victories of personal success,for such
opportunites to shine as Engligh spocial life gave. He did it at an
age when studious habits and concentratlion are not easily regained,
and he had never possessed them at all.He had had an educatlon
mucli less thorough than the average,leaving school at sixteen,and
e mental effort must have been severe.

It was probably during this training of the faculties he
fcs now conscious he possessed,that he took stock of his situation,

and began to consolidate it.Polish refugees,even with titles higher
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than count,were only too common and tedious,then.Strzeleckl was too
shrewd to let the matter rest there.Even if,being himself,the mantle
of a patriot count was becoming,it was not enough.In English soclety
there were all to many titles.Irish peers,younger sons with courtesy
titles,and the backwash of pre Revolutionary and post Napoleonic
princes,vbscounts,marshals,were all tooccmmon,and to be distinguish-
ed,some better claim to attention was needed.Byron,the deepest
English influence of Ppoles of Strzelecki's generat::za more famous
as poet than as peer.Being the son and helr of a baronet had not
saved Shelley from censure.Strzeleckl was clever enough to realise
quickly that his science was his best claim to the notice of the
country where fate had placed him.We are reminded in all this gravity
of deliberate thought,of the passionate child preaching prattling
sermons to emptiness,in a chapel made from & nursery,of the infant
playwright before a family aulence.Strzeleckl was none too abund-
antly possessed of a gense of humour,and his histrionic instinct

was too deep seated in him ever to come consciously to him.The role

wes more sultable and more difficult,the scene more extensive,but

in the young man solemnly adjusting himself to the claims of his
self chosen world,there 1s more than an echo of the baby acting
with no hint of detachment his inappropriate part.

Strzeleckl comes out at the end as a man of sclence,
versed 1ln chemlstry,physics,gifted as geologist,but above all
gkilled as minerologist.He is ready and fully visible at last,and
steps forward into a broad day which follows him,faithful as lime-
dight,t111l,with the last flicker of consciousness,the last effort
2 vast unconscious consistency,Paul Edmund Strzeleckl slips back
fifty years and escapes again,this time for ever.

But meanwhile,the sober man of small property and pure
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 8clence goes about the worlds --more than one --he has conquered,

'frequentlng not only soclety but societles of learned men.He goes
north,to Sutheirzland,then back to London.
Three years after coming to England,all tlies behindAand

only his star ahead,Strzelecki 1nausuratea his odysaey and steps
into history.



NOTES ON
VII

Page 46,

(29)One story 111uatrat1ng this,was told me from the
Ukraine bx a relation of that "certain lir Breza,one of my accursed
relatlves The son had taken part in the rising,and had escaped to
Paris,while his mother,who wanted to protect her daughter from the
effects of losing her home in consequence of the brother's action,
gave out that the son was 1ll at home.A loyal priest and the house
servants kept up the fiction,but the Russiang threaten to search
the house,whereupon the mythlcal illness grew worse,and the patient
died.A mock funeral,attended by Russlan police was 1in progress,
when a horseman galloped up to the cemetery,with news for the
mother that a wound had grown worse and that the young man had died
in Paris.The travesty turmed to earnest was kept up,however,though
the strain on the mother's feelings caused her to shut herself up
as a religieuse for the rest of her life.

PB.SG 47
(30) Zmichowska,part II p.540.

To the R.G.S in Journasl of R.3.S Vol 44(1874)

Stan. Zellnski PaS'so

Dyboski."Czas" 24th December 1935.
Page 48.
(31) University Reglstry

Oxford
March 6th, 1936

Dear Madam,
In reply to your letter of March 4 I
have to inform you
(1)that Paul Edmund Strzeleckl does not appear
to have been an undergraduate at Oxford;

(2)that noé record of any speech made when he

was created D.C.L(on 20th June,1860)1igs in exlstence.

Yours Falthfully.

6th March 1936

Dear Madam,

With reference to your letter of 4th
ulto.,I have to inform you that Count Paul Edmund Strzelecki was
not a student of thls university.The Australian Encyclopedia
states that he was educated at Edinburgh,but it does not state
that he was educated at the University of Edinburgh.I understand
he was a pupll st the Royal High School,Edinburgh,so that the
statement 1s rrobably quite correct.

(The rest relates to references to Strzelecki)
University of Edinburgh.
Paae 49 -
(32) Zmichowska Part II P.540
(33)Bystron.
(34) Zmichowska Part II.P.540C



hynosie,where the proprietor and his heir signed away sales of
forest land for a mere song.As they lived in the country and were
known to be unfriendly and eccentric,the transactions only came

to light through their Wilno lawyer noticing the ssmall sale prices
for valuable timber.The only way the sales could be upset,having
valid signatures,was by proving the two noblémen insane and unfit
to administer their estates!
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VIII

THE WANDERINGS OF ULYSSES
His travels in North Amerlca and Canada,South America.California.

For his travels,before reaching Australlia,we have few
references apart from short passages in the Adyna letters,and
footnotes reproduced from his journal,given in the Physical
Description of New South Wales.

On the eve of his departure,his own summary of hisg
journey may be quoted. "I left Europe on June 8th, 1834,taking ship
at Liverpool.Il reached New York,explored the eastern states and
their capitals,Boston,New York,Fliladephia,Baltimore,Washington,
Riechmond,Charleston,golng up the Hudson as far as Albany,and saw
the huge waterfall of Niagara.Then I retraced my steps to the
shore of Lake Ontario and down the St Lawrence through Montreal,
Quebec 2nd all their districts.l made a short stay in Canada,
passing through St Jean to the north east of Montreal,then back %o
New York by Lakes Champlain and Toba--" the breathless sentence
trails off to plunge his wondering reader into another new continent.

Strzelecki's departure was in keeping with his earlier
and later departures.He kept his plans to himself,and went off
without any elaborate goodbye,and without stating the projected
length of his stay outside Europe.When he had prepared himself for
travel,he spent a few months abroad,in the capacity of tourist,and
- vigited France,Italy 6 and possibly Switzerland.He did not go any-
where near FPoligh territory,though Austrian Poland was still open
‘to him,and would have brought him within wvisiting distance of
‘his relatives.From Naples he went back to England only to make his

inel preparations,and from there set out,saying no more than that
e was golng to America.He still had enough money to travel comfort-
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ably,and he went well provided with letters of introduction,but yet
- as there 1s no English record of hig travels till he touched British
territories again,he can hardly have left very intimate friends
behind.

Strzeleckl as tourlist managed to make the most of his
opportunities.A faint echo of his American stay floated back to
his home,and gave his family their first intimation that he had
put another continent between himgelf and them.Some poor emigrants,
returning from America to foznania,apread a story of the circum-
stances which made it posslible for them to come back.A certain
Polish nobleman,travelling in America,and possessing influence
there,had helped them,securing the necessary papers and had glven
them money towards thelr fare.They did not know his name,they
explained,but he was from Poznan,a sclentist;the description tallied
with Paul as he was remembered at home.Years later,Adyna received
confirmation of the fragmentary story,though it has become somewhat
grander "Wherever I was able to help prisoners,l hastened to do so.
I did it in the United States,I interested the President,the whole
of Congress was moved to pardon them"(35)

The letters of introduction or his personality had
carried him into high places,and he had at least one interview
with President Andrew Jackson(36) That 1s the limit of our know-
ledge of his social career in the states,but the scientifiec record
is fuller,

It must have been about this time,possibly helped by
generosity to poor Poles,that Strzelecki's money began to run short,
and he was forced to put his sclientific knowledge to serious use.

In his visit to the upper Lakes reglon he was motivated not so
'mkch by curliosity as to desire to examine its minerological wealth.
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His regearches were successful,copper being among the
mineral deposits he found,and here he began a new coursge of study
which he continued when opportunity offered through his subsequent
voyagings =--the study of the languages and customs of the Indian
tribes(37)

His interests in America were not of long éuration,and
by the late symmer of 1835 he was ready to move on,and in a position
to do 80.By this time he had collected by paid investigation or
sale of specimens procureddby him,enough money to finance the next
stage of his Journey,for the autumn found him 1n South America,at
Rio de Janlero.

There,he immediately found congenial occupation in explor-
the virgin forests of the Slierra Estrella Range,a reglon which
moved him to one of the few descriptlons of natural scenery which
he thought fii to preserve in his publighed writings.

"To explore,as it were,the recesses of the magnificent
picture which we contemplate from the bay of Rio de Janlero with
an ever increasing pleasure,to penetrste the ravines,to scale the
mountains,to cross the valleys,to force a passage through the
virgin forests which seem to exhal§ the inspiring atmosphere of
the fresh created --to survey there the reaches of vegetation and
the boundless munificance of nature -- to observe how each hill --
each valley,varies in character --how each trunk,branch,leaf and
flower has its own peculiar beauty of form and colour, --to examine

. and to comtemplate all this,so strikes the mind with admiration of

. the terrestrial wonders,as to cause it involuntarily to rebound
towards its creator" he says,in his cumbrous English(38)
He next mentlons being the guest of General Rosas,but the

- soclety of a South American Republic as little satisfiled his rest-
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lessness as the London of William IV or the Washington of President

Jackson,for in August,1836,he set out to lead an expeditlon up the
River Parana,into the territory of Paraguay.

That passed off successfully,he being welcomed on his
| arrival by the dictator,and he then continued through the Gran
Chaco to Santa Fe,and across the Argentine to Mendoza,where he
resolved upon a more hazardous adventure.He stayed at the latter
place to collect his resources,then embarked on one of those
expeditions of his which hddhlready fallen into the hablt of belng
successtul.Like everything else he attempted during his phase of
ection,this was to turn out well for him,hardships and hindrances
belng powerless sgéinat hie masterful will,

He crossed the Cordllleras of Chile by a route through
the La Culmbre Passe,and then through Santa Hosé to Velpariso.And
all this at a time when modern science had done 1little to help
golve the difficulties of health and climate,when South America
must s8till have been infinitely more dangerous to eiblore thah it
is as present.He had found st last work which occupied all his
energles,and he throve under hariships which would have broken
down many men.BExploration,with its strain and danger seemed to bLe
hig naturel eleﬁent;in every new privation and risk,something rose
triumphant.He went through the untamed wilderness of forest and
mountain,measuring the height of the hills with the cool velour of
an antagonist, g Into their fastneases which he flung behind
‘him like waves cloging behind the descent of = dlvér,aﬂd ever as he
reapreared,a new difficulty lay behind.Hls indomitable figure,so |
all In the vast untenanted spaces,had the resolution of a soldier

_feasting over a fleld of battle.

.

§ 3
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A passing reference shows him at Sonore,where the way of

1life moved him to reptures not untinetured by the idyllic pleasures
of primitive soclety drawn by the fancy of Rousseau.The slmplicity
prevalling there,was of the golden age,the harmony,peace,;and
affluence,the absence of suffering and poverty,were worthy of

& better world.Strzelecki,after scenes of cruelty and brutality
paused for a moment to admire and praise,then passes on (39)

He was carried g:?yfrom this remote earthy paradlse by
the Cleopatra,a British ship commanded by George Grey,and on board
her,renewing acquaintance with the English after his years abroad,
he remained while she worked up the coast of both Americas,from
Chile to California and back to Valpariso.While in Califernia he
left the ship,and went to the gold diggings,where he did a certaln
amount of prospecting.He does not explain whether he profitad much
financlally by the experiment,but the knowledge galned was destined
to be useful,

Back in Valpariso,after ten months cruising,he separated
from the hospitable Captain Grey,whose work was taking him into
other paths.Strzeleckl had exhausted the interests of America,and
was questing new terrltory to explore.From Chile he embarked with
Captain Eliot on H.M.S Fly,en route for the islands of the Pacific.

In the same letter already quoted for his North American
itinery,he gilves the route taken in South America;"from there I
went to the Antilles,to Havanna,I stopred in Vera Cruz,went to the
‘town of ﬁexico,left it and went to Tampico,then acrosgs to New
Orleans and up the Misslsalppl and Chlo to Cincinnati,and back to
Baltimore.Then I left the Unlted States and went by ship to Brazil,
visiting Rlo de Janiero,exploring the prbvinces of San Paulo and

Minas Gerais(Villa Rica)then going up the La Plata,I reached Monte
video
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stayed a while in Buenos Alres,crossed the Argentine Republlic,gett-

ing as far as Cordoba,going towards the south,reached Mendoza,where
I examined varlous minerals,crossed the Cordilleras or Andes t1ll
I reached S8t Jago 1in Chile,and from there to Cogimbo,in the north
and in the south,Conception.From Valpariso I went up the Pacific
coast,vieiting Lima,Guajaquil,Punte,(on the weet of Panama)San
Salvador,Acapulco --St Blas --Mazatlan and Guaymas --I explored the
Californian Peninsula,approaching Avispe on the north,vislted the
most famous mines,withdrew to Tepu-Xalisco,thence back to St Blas
and by boat to Chile.Immedlately after my return to Valparise,I
left it again for the 1slands of Oceania" (40)

That list gives the outline of his time in South America
The purpose apart from the pleces of exploration seems to have been
the collecting and selling of minerological specimens,as this
pald his expenses.Throughout the time spent there,he seems to have
become very shadowy,and there 1s nothing to add to the picture
except the observatlion of a Poznan professor that the places he
visited were almost exclusively such as would interest a geologist,

each of them belng associated with the investigation of some mineral,
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IX
THE PACIFIC

The Volcano of Kirauea --Strzeleckl's early and later accounts
compared --Futher detalls of hls Pacific wanderings.

The firat port on the new journey was Tsheite,where
Strzeleckil arrived during that period of strained relations between
Frence and England known as the Pritchard Difficulty,which nearly

involved the two countries in war.

Queen Pomeare was on the throne,and the Polish explerer,
arriving from a British war ship,and vouched for by Captain Elllot,
recelved a aurpriaingly cordial welcome.Accounts(most of them,
probably,digtorted versions of hie own story,given when he returned)
are conflicting,end almost certainly wrong.One --that given by Sir
H Bartle Frere --attributes to him the introduction of the Jjury
system,but at least it is reasonably sure that he was present as
foreman of the first mixed Jury held on the 1sland,to try the case
of the mupder of an Englishman by a native(41)

After that,the Tahelte record is blank,and he next
touched at the Hawalin Islands,where he made an ascent of the
volcano of Kirauea,and publighed an lmmedlate account of his
expedition in the Spector,a paper published there.Some years later,
apparently from the notes in His Jjournal,he rewrote the account
and published it in a scientific magazine in Tasmania.The first I
reproduce by courtesy of the Board of Commissioners of the Public
gzhivea in Honolulu,because of its interest in conjunction with the
gecond.Pictures of the thought and emotional processes of Strzeledkl
during this time are rare enough;this revised record,though the
first is only of sclentific interest,is unique.

"My Dear Sir,
Your kind request to supply the valuable publication
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(41) Fact -teken from Sir H.Bartle Frero's address to R.G.S
in Vol 44 of tng procaedings,P(of thxa I = not “sure) 1374, -

Page 63

(42)Thhis account given we by ccurtesy of the Board or
Gammissianers for Archives in Honolulwu.

The de Stizeleckl uged here needs a word.As Poles aro
very rroud of their nobllity,most of them even now when abroad use
de to show themselves as well born as French fanllies with a right
to it.

(43) Teken from the Tpsmanian Journal of Scienaa 1n the
Mitchel Library.

P age 65.

(44)Ib1d-
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(4 apd (46) Ibid.
age 67

(47)Letter te Adyna,Kurjer Poznangki 20.Jsn 1935. .

{46)VWhen in New Zealand 1 applied to the Professor of
Geology and the Head Librarian of the University of Auckland,and
on thelr recommendation to the Librarian of the Parliamentary
Library in Wellington and the Rectors ~f Christechurch and Dunedin,
but all stated that there were no first hand documents snd the
few references given me were frow beoks slrerdy consulted as being
English or Augtrallian sources.
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of the Spector,with an account of my visit to the Volcano of Kirauea
on Hawail,both painsg and flatters me;for I regret much that my
limited stay here,the dally current and accumulating objects of
new and interesting inquiries render any cilrcumstantial descriptiens
of it really impogsible to me.A few facts,and fewer observations
which a hasty and rough sketch brings forth,is all I am able for
the moment to supply you with.I cannot even attempt to give you the
slightest idea of the lmpressions which the awful sublimity of the
volcano produced upon my imagination;that part of our being does
not yield as easily as memory --it does not reproduce sensations;
the rapture --the enthuslasm once gone by,is lost forever.

"What I remember,and long shall recollect,as showing the
mighty influence of mighty objects upon me are the difficultlies I
had to struggle with before my eye could be torn away from the
idle,vacant,but ecstatic gazing with which I regarded the great
Whole,down to the analytical part of the wondrous and unparalleled
scene before me;l say unparalleled,because having visited most of
the European and American volcanos,l find the greatest of them
inferior to Kirsuea crater in intensity,grandeur,and extent or area.

"The abrupt and precipitous cliff which forms the N.N.E.
wall of the crater, --found,after my repeated observatlons,to be
elevated 4.104 feet above the level of the sea --overhangs an area
of 3.150,000 square yards of half-cooled gcoria,sunk to the depth
of 300 yards,and containing more than 328.000 square yards of
convulsed torrents of earths in igneous fuslon,and gaseous fluids
constantly effervescing -~boliling ~--gpouting --rolling in all
directions like waves of a disturbed sea,violently beating the
edge of the caldrons like an infuriated surf,and like surf spread-
ing all around its spray 1ln the form of caplllary glass which fills
the alr,and adheres in a flaky and pendulous form to the distorted
and broken masses of the lava all around;five caldrons each of sbhaut
5.700 square yards,almost at the level of the great area,and
containing only the twelfth part if the red liquid;the sixth
caldron is encircled by a wall of accumulated scoria of fifty yards
high,forming the S.5.W. point --the Hale Mau Mau of the natives
to which the bones of the former high chiefs were consigned =~the
sacrifices to the goddess Pele offered --the abyss of abysses,the
caldron of caldrons --exhiblting the most frightful area of about
300.000 square yards,bubbling red hot lava --changing incessantly
its level --gometimes rolling the long curved waves with broken
magses of cooled crust to one side of the horrible laboratory =--
sometlimes,as 1f they had made s mistske,turning thew back with
spoutlng fury,and a subterraneous,terrific noise of a sound more
infernal than earthly;around are blocks of lava,scoria,slags of
every description and combination,here elevated,by the endless
number of superimposed layers,in perpendicular walls of 1000 feet
high ~-there torn asunder,dispersed,cracked,or remoulded,--every-
w?ere,terror,confulaion,--mighty engine of nature --and nothingness
01 Hall.

"No where does the solution of the great problem of volcanic
. Tires by Sir Humphrey Davy,receive a more palpable illustration
_than here; the access of the water to the ignited masses of these
minerals of alkaline and earthy bases,by which tha) great philos-
Jopher explained the convulsions of volecanic fires,is displayed here
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in most portentous,most awful effects.It is only to those millions
of vents all around the crater,through which the superabundance of
steam excapee (I dont know whether this is Strzelecki's spelling or
typist's error)--to the millions of fissures through which the
sulphurous and sulphuric aclds liberate themselves from beneath,
that the preservatlion of Hawlli from utter destruction,by the

| expangive force of steam and gasses,can be ascribed.

"The nature of the volcano,with 1ts uncommonly intense
heat,and so many wide and easy openings,lis,to ejlect nothing without
alteration,and to sublime every variety of substance which the
concomlitants of the volcanic fires embrace.Thus;here is the rare
| volcanic glass in capillary forms,and many perfect vitrificatlons;

the murlate of ammonla in efflorescence,often conchoidal,often in
elongated hexalhedrals --and in one single lnstance,even in that
rare form of cublc chrystal;thus,the sulphuret of arsenic,both as
realgar and orpiment;the sulphur itself in most beautiful incrust-
atlong,chryastalised 1n cubic or truncated octahedrons;the petro
aluminaris of Ssolfa(Italy) ot alkaline sulphate of alumineimbedded
(I transcribe literally) sometimes in crevices of lava,sometimes
in argilacious earth;thus,the singular and rare cavernous lava
known hitherto to exist only in Ice}and --its large tumefactions
in blisters and bubbles,from a crust of the finest gloss to an arch -
of four feet thick,foruming caverns through which the superabundance
of lava in the crater discharges itself,as through subterranean
tunnels,in all directlions of the 1sland.

"A prolific imagination can find here a vast field for
fanciful speculation on the origin,duration and probable or possible
results of the continued operations of this frightful and gigantic
volcano.Science will never tire in the study of Nature;but,alas!
beyond what she s#es,and what strict inductive forms allow her to
conclude,she mugt stop --admire --bow and repeat

Saplentia hujJus mundi stultitia est.

wWith the greatesot respect and consideration
believe me,my Dear Sir,
Your most obedient servant

. Paul Edmond de Strzelecki
To the Rev.J Diell,Honolulu. (42)

The second account is from the Tasmenian Journal of Sclence
.,0‘

Vol 2,(43)I have paraphased it,omitting the parts whhﬂ*u% purely

3-1ent1fic,or which repeat too closely the account given above.

western
The volcano lay on the north/side of Mount Loa,twenty

miles from the summit of the mountain,and forty from the Bay of Hilko.
“%:pzelecki states that it was,at the time of his visit,the largest

,chano known,but that it was so destroyed by successful eruptions
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that it was only one third of its original sgze.

The first thing the party did on its arrival was to
attenpt a reconstruction of the original size and shape,by walking
from one landmark to another,measuring and collecting scattered
materlals.It is interesting to note here that 1ln the later account,
reconstructed years after the visit,the explorer has no difficulty
in recollecting the impression made on him by the awful natural
power revealed,though 1t was Just this he believed gone for ever a
few days after the occurence.

After . determining the highest polnt by repeated calculat-
ions,they scattered for a detalled examinatlion of the broken walls
of the crater whence all the molten lava had escaped,and specimens
were taken for later analysls.The lava bed was measured,and its A
contents when full estimated.

They must have spent some days at the site,or at least
more than one,since the temperatures of the vapours rising from
the crater were measured and day and night temperatures gilven.

When they reached a point where they safely look down into the
heaving bed of the actlve crater,and again in his mature report
Strzeleckl found it worth while recording the difficulty he had
in recalling himgelf from observation of the extrasordinary sight
to the occupatlions of sclience.

At lest they descended down a precipltous sliprery
surface with "a thousand openings which vomit forth hot vapours,

- and diksplaying an area of 9.450.000 square feet compressed wilthin
perpendicular walls,and thickly strewed with masses of smoking lave,
half congealed and,like the masses of ice 1n a blocked up channel
_pitched one against m other,either standing on end,heaped in hori-
zontal or half ralsed bed...here cance§ling a suppressed agitation
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under ground,there gaping in fearful cavitlies which,clamorous,

resound with the agltation of the molten matter.Six of these
cavities were in violent activity while I was exploring the crater
e+ JO pen or pencill can ever represent the sublime effects which
the vbolence and intensity of the heat produce in the reservolrs.
The spectacle of these ceaseless and varied movements,which are
carried,through all the stages of a storm at sea,to a still higher
pltch of 1impetuosity and fury,produces splendid scenes before
which all humen greatness fades,and a sense of humility and a few
earnest thoughts. are all the mind can find room for.Even -in the
breast of the natives the magical influence has not been unfelt...
man in his primitive state can only see his littleness,his nothing-
ness,~--he can only feel the presence of an invincible and angry
Bower ,whom he must appease,conciliate and render propitious"(44)

It was most dangerous,because of the gas exhaled but
even more by the possibility of falling into the liquid mass
which flowed on every side.The surface seemed solid,but was actually
flowing,and the danger was increased by the special nature of the
lava,which formed bubbles all over its expanse,and many of these
were just below the surface,only covered by a thin crust which a
step would break,so Strzeleck recorde many painful falls."Neverthe-
lesas,the advantages which were met with from the fall repaid the
brulses it cost;the interior of the caverns alone can furnish for
examination the most interesting incrustations of sublimated
minerals,or give an adequate lmpression of the wonderful power of
the heat of this volcano,which in the bosom of a tumultous furnace
seening to produce nothing but terror and desfruction on the most
;gnormous gcale,forms crystals whose perfection can hardly be

‘aprreclated without a microscope,and whose dellicacy can scarcely
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bear a breath" (45}

After further analysis of the chemicals and processes at
work "all going on at once,to the astonishment of man,who can only
admire the Unseen Hand which guides them"(46) he concludes on a
note well in keeping with his time,the mournful rationalism of the
age of Darwin."An imagination fond of percing into the abyss of
conjecture®(was he thinking here of himself?) "finds here a vast
field for its sreculations on th origin,duration and posgible

results of the continued action of this gigantlc volcano.Reason,

alas! can only admit in sobriety of what the Inductive Method
allows,and,arrested at every step,must be content to wonder and
admire,and to say with the ancient--

*Saplentia hujus mundi stultitia Jest'"

The quotationa above belong to the new Strzelecki,and in
every sentence one feels the full extent of the_change in his out-
look.The personal note has dwindled,and a reazsonable impartiality
taken its place.The final quotation,repeated,is itself a mark of
the new man.In the course of the transformation from rebellious
Pglish soldier to English aéientific rationalist,Strzeleckl had
acquired the English upper class taste for sententious quotation,
and the Latin in which it might be gratified.He was by thls time
not only aclentist,but already fully fledged gentleman of philos-
ophically reflective bent and culture.

'\.

After leaving the Hawalan group,Strzeleckl continued his
wanderings dbout the many 1slands of the north and south Pacific.
The same chronicle to Adyna already quoted gives the order of his
travels and stops "I set out for the islands of Oceania --I was

ce on the Margueras Islands --once at the Sandwiche Islands,I



67
went to Ctaheite,where the Friendly Islands asre and from there to
New Zealand,whence I sailed for New South Wales,where I have been
for the last four days.In this route march I have glven you only
the actual names.Il crossed the Equator six times,saw much and felt
more" (47)

The bald sentences cover a great deal.This all took place
before 1838,and Pacific conditions were still pretty primitive.
Steam shlps,if present,were in thelr infancy,and most travel was
etill done in small boats,in conditions of extreme discomfort.What
is more 1mportan£,however,than the conditions,was the object of his
continued voyaging,but this is never divulged.He may have been at
work as a minerologist,or geologlst,but curiosity would seem to be
the principal motive which urged hlis restlessness;that,and the
superabundant energy of his nature,which was-only satisfied when
overcoming difficulties and suffering harships.

The last stage of hls Journpyto Australia is the least
documented of all.Tradition suggests he was searching for gold,but
elther he was unsuccessful,or his investigations were purely
academic,and few 1f any records of his stay in that country are

forthcoming to support or disprove any claimg.((48)
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Commigsioners for Archives in Honolulu.

The de Strzeleckl uged here needs a word.As Poles are

very proud of their nobility,most of then even now when abroad use
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Page 66
(45) and (46) Ibid.
Page 67
(47)Letter to Adyna,Kurjer Poznanski 29.Jan 1935.
(48)VWhen in New Zealand I applied to the Professor of
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PART III
THE CROWDED YEARS

X
Impregsions on Arrival --Scope of Work--Book regarded only as a
Document-=Troubles of the Governor--Need for Such Work as
Strzeleckl could do --Division of the Examination only for
Convenlierice.

Strzelecki has two claims to his place in the Dictionary
of National Biograprhy --his work as a scientific explorer and first
discoverer of gold in Australia,and his work in Ireland during the
potato famine.The work he dld in New South Wales and Van Dieman's
Land in 1839-1843% 1ig the basis for the first of these two,snd to it
the story has now come.Unfortunately,as is usual with Strzelecki's
blography,the most important periods are Just those which are hardest
to unravel.We have no knowledge what brought him to Australia,other
than the fact that 1t is the obvious next stop after New Zealand.
We do not know if he had any plan in mind in coming,or whether his
Journey was still aimless,and we do not know if he was definitely
drawn to the country for any purpose beyond curioﬁsity.But from this
state of uncertainty emerges the fact that,once being in Australla,
he found a field for his activity which carried it beyond the
value of hlg prgvicus Journeys,into exploration of definite histor-
ical importance.But it should be remembered that his most important
discoveries were not madé directly,but as inclildents in work of
other scope.To substantiate that statement,his sojourn in New South
:'walea needs to be sorted out and put into such order of purpose as
can be,and it is only the nature of his work which can give it
. any coherence at all.

The arrival of the French barque Justine,from South

#America,via Tahiti and New Zealand,reaching Sydney on April 25th,
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1839,caused no particular interest.The Sydney Gazette of 27th April

pentioned a passenger who arrived on her,lMonsieur le Comte Treleskl
f49)late of the Polish army,among other items of news.That is all.
Strzeleckl however,has rather more bto say of his dlisembark
~atlon.His impressions were full.

"Since my arrival in Sydney,Il cannot Lcease asking myself,
an I really in the capital of that "Botany Bay" which has been
represented as "the Community of Felona",aa "the most demoralised
colony known in the history of nations",as "a possession which adds
p tarnish rather than a lustre to the British Crown" etc,etc.

"Let the authors of these and other epithets contained in
the numerous works which they wrote on New South Wales congratulate
and applaud themselves;my mystification was complete. The evening

I effected my disembarkation in Sydney,I did it with all imaginable
precaution,leaving my watch and purse behind me,and arming myself
yith a stick;being resolved to encounter inevitable eand 1mminent
dangers wlth the least posslble risk! . «

"I found,however,on that night,in the streets of Sydney,&a
decency and a quliet which I have never witnessed in any other port
of the United Kingdom. No drunkenness,no sallors's guarrels,no appear
~ance of prostitution were to be geen. George Street,the Regent’
Street of Sydney,displayed houses and shops modelled after the fash-
don of those in London'but nowhere ‘did ‘ite lemps and the ‘numerous
flights in 1ts windows,which reflected upon the crowd,betray any of
those digns of a corrupt stote of doclety common fo the gtreets of
other caplitals. Since then,how many nights like the first d4id I not
witness,in which the silence,the feeling of perfect security,and
the dellclous freshness of the alir,mingled with nothing that could
break the charms of a solitary walk! At ten o'clock,all the stréets
Bre deserted;to the bustling industry of the day succeeds a happy
;epcse,and to that again a day of fresh struggles successed or
failurest dxtraordinary race! the only people who,to speak the
language of one's own craft--seem subject to atomic lawg,imrutable
@nd independent of the varieties of climate;zggregating by a2 kind of
polescular attraction,constantly in the seme order,and exvanding,
lowever dlsperced,into a similer scclial structure,thus everywhere
Dreserving those properties and tendencies which nature sssigns to
thelr primitive forms.

"Other races,like true children of the soll,identify them-
elves with it,or draw from it thelr sustenance,thelir power and -
ghelr nationality;call it country;love end cherigh 1t as such,and
pling to its bosom,though a2t the cost of freedom,of comfort,of
rorerty,and even of life. Banlghed from 1it,they become but lost
Wanderers,end soon degenerste;like the Alpine rose,which when trans-
)anted even to more genlel climates loaea ite blosgomg and sends
orth only thorngs.

‘ "The hardy nature of ‘the Anglo Saxon Tgce is proof egeinst
w'effecta of transplantation;for it does not depend upon the soill
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gither for its character or its nationallity; the Anglo Saxon repro-
duces his country wherever he holsts his country's Tlag.

"The United Kingdom 1s fer from furnishing a Just idea of
this race. The travel.er there 1is like one buried in the entralls
of a colossus. It 1s 1In the United States,in the West Indies,in the
factories of South America and China,in the Fast Indles,and in thid
town of Sydney,that the prodigious expansion of the Anglo Saxon
life,the gigantlc dimensions of its stature and the energy of 1itse
functions are fully perceived and apprecizted."(50)

That description,quoted at length for its later psycholog-
ical implications,is hardly exact,and owes its colours to the writer'e
mind,to his sttitude towards Englend snd the Engligh,rather than ®
the observable facts of Australian life in the third decade of last
century.The physlcal picture is infinitely more Utoplan than common
sense or other documents Justify.If he had cared to look about him
for vice,the Rocks would soon have enlightened him;it is curlous
that he was zble to shut his eyes at zll to vhat was so glaringly
apparent to others.The order in the streets--which other writers
found freely sprinkled with grog shops fllled with the scum of the
. population,male and female--and the quiet descending at ten o‘clock
point to the dead hand of prison dlscipline rather to any innate

sense of order and decency in the colonists.lt must have been a very

bland obgerver,one determined to see only what he wanted and no more,

who recorded only the good slde of & convict settlement.Nof does his
scientific analysis of Anglo Saxon character exemplified "in this
towm n of Sydney" reflect such praise on the British as he doubtless

intended.Sydney,ess might have been expected from a settlement serving

as sewerage system to the hulks and prisons of England,stank to
“heaven.

"A society at war with itself,a little community of 98,000
persons,divided into rival cliques. Minor officials fought with
major officlals;merchants resented the pretensions of all officials;
gquatters despised the townsmen;the exclusive free proprietors
1gnored the lessees;freemen fought emanciplsts;emancipists tried to
widen the gap between thelr past and their present by oppressing
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- convicts,and the convicts resented all free or freed men"(52)

Nor were affalrs 1n the colony any more simple or attract-
lve than thls guotation would suggest. The years Strzelecki srent

in Australia --1830-1843--saw little but struggles and changes,
quarrels,rancours,betrayals,emnities and recriminations.

The governor was harried to the edge of the grave by
opponents without a fractlon of his virtues or prrinciples,and the
i.sues he fought for were frittered away by the very men on whom he
should have been able to rely for support.Convict transportation
florished,and reduced the lasbour conditions of the colony to those

of the mogt 1n%qu1t0us slave market Strzleckl denounced in America.
The squatters were usling every tool at their dlsposal to effect a lami
monopode almost as absolute as the monopole of power the English Civil
War overthrew.Politically,men like Lowe and Wentworth were changing
thelr parties and thelr loudly enunciated principles as often as they
needed to trim their saills to the veering winds of gelf interest.
Economically,the boom with its abundant capital and wild speculation,
was glving way to the slump with 1ts bank fallures and bankrupcies.
Droughts continued,year after year,with thelr consequent misery and
loss,and the aborigines,enboldened by Sir CGeorge Gipp's protection,
‘became a menace which preceeded and outdid the later revages of
bushrangers. Murderous natives,and convicts in conditlons ranging

rom acute discomfort to hopeless deeperétion;but in any case,slaves;
an unproductlive town proletariat,an unhappy swmall farmer class,
clamorous squatters,intolerant and intolerable aristocrats,disloyal
fficlals and & harassed governor,hardly make up a composite picture
likely to inspilre a foreigner with unbounded respect for the English
colonial administrators,yet Stfzeleckl seemg to have written in

1l good falth.What mekes it the more extraordlinary ie that the man
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who wrote it kept a Journal snd worked 1t up afterwards into a
dispassionate sclentific account.He was 1n no way lnsenslible.This

was the same man who was later to distingulsh himself in pvhilanthrobpy
and deserve humanity's gratitude by his own humanity,whom no tale

of woe was to leave unmoved.Yet,at this stage,he seems impervious

to any faults in the administrative system of Australle.

Strzelecki's attitude 1s teken from his book "Physical
Description of New South Wales and Van Dieman's Land",which 1s the
record of the time he passed in scientific exploration,and the
results of it.But before going on to see the scope of his investigat-
lons,certain omﬁtsiona may be noted here.

He makes no reference to the convict system at all,in
spite of his later philanthropy and his life long detestation of
slavery.Travelling widely about the stste,spending months in Tas-
mania,where the penal conditliong were at thelr worst,associating
in his Journeys with one or two convict servents who shared the
stralns and privationa of exploratlion wlth him,he has yet no protést
to offer.To the hardshlips of the natlives,and the essentiasl
injustice practiced towarde them,he was keenly alive,énd spoke 1in
their defence in no measured terms.Here,in fact,in that division of
‘Athe "Physical Description" which relates to them,he expresses hls
only conerete criticler of New Couth Wales.Reallsing that civilisat-
lon inevitably condemned them to extermination,he deplored the
treatment they received.Their decline could have been slower and less
painful if the government had treated them bettér,and restrained
.the settlers abuses.They should,he thought,have been treated as
minors,conquered,and preserved.legislation came too late,and,being
confused,only furthered the dlsorganisation of the tribes which

ﬁlone could have kept them in existence.He wanted to see them free




allowed to live out their lives in naturel conditions,and ends his
chapter with an eloquent plea for them,reflecting bitterly against
 the religion and government which could so abuse them.

Complete in@lifference to men of his own colour and culture
and keen solicitude for a few thousand men of a lower race looks
2 grave inconsistency.But it had a reason.Sir George Gipps,friend
and patron of Strzelecki,felt strongly on the native question,and
threw the full weight of his position on the side of better treatment
for them.Nobody seemed particularly interested in the conviets at
that stage;this 1s not to suggest that Strzelecki simply went with
the wind of publie opinion.Nothing would be more untrue,but Strzelecki
who from a sense of his own dignity and hls own grievances,put him-
gelf in the painful position of a man who is not driven from his
country,but who voluntarily separated himself from it,was bound to
Justify that action to himself by an inner and outer expression of
ity with the national group he adopted.I submlt here that the
slgnificant fact that he,member of a race naturally critical,never
in his criticisms of England went further than individual abuses,Who
ettacked detalls but never assalled the system,who exaggerated in
his letters to Adyna the wrongs he suffered in Poland(53) was doing
this by a psychological necessity of self Justification(54) He
)Jdopted the English for better,for worse,and to the latter,he never
hluntari\%y drew attention.Strzeleckl by the needs of his too
gicessive personal dignity,was driven into a position which cost him
] amail paing to preserve.Because the Turnos and the Sapiehas had
imiliated him,he fled to England,and from their original offence
g eet his whole life into paths which worked and reworked through
, almost every actlivity of his career.That is put forward as
planation of the inconsistencies with which his latter years

purided ,and which it only can explain.With some of these we have




immediately to do.

When Strzelécki stepred ashore in Sydney,the most import-
ant work of hig active 1life lay before nim.%hen,five years later, he
left Australia to continue his almless Journey,tnat wor- was done.

In the exertions of that short time,the Polish voluntary exile laid
this country under an obligation of gratlitude,and won himself a
place among the important later explorers.Australia has never !
recoghiaed his work in any way;few people here know of him,and even ;

in history books,the credit of his discoverles are often given to

others.
4 gince the ppoof of the claim to count strzeleckil smong the

important inland explorers of Australia rests on his own book,1t
must be used to show his work from its inception to the end of his
prectical stage.In the course of his scientific investigatlons,
strzeleckl came to £he conclusion that the geological formatlion of
‘the east coast of New South Wles{Victoria was not then geparated)
continued across the islands of Bass strait into Taamania,and in
examining that tract of country =s a whole,he made certain 1mportaﬁt
discoveries--the highest peal 1n the Australian Alps,the fertile
district called Gippslandjhe was the first to state as fact the
exlstence of gold in Australlaj he measured various heights,reportdéd
(in Tasmania)on the commercial exploitation of certain minerals,
chiefly cosl;the favourable report he gave of the fertility of
Gippsland,as against Angus Maemillan's dog in the manger silence
for md;;pole squatting,and certain observations on Australia's
value as sgricultural country(in an age exclusively pastoral in
outlook)--these are the sum of his contribution to Australia.Ilt 1s

‘not a small one.To follow the progress of these conclusions,his Work
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mugt be traced by steps.This chapter deals with New South Wales,the
next with Givpsland,and one with Tasmania,not because they were
separate,for all formed items in a larger single unit of work,but far
convenience.As bagis,apart from a few letters,the source is his own
book,already referred to,and articles in scientific journals.WNo
attempt 1s made to criticism or evealuste the "Physical Description”
in any other light than as a document.It 1s sclentific,and its value
probably entirely superceded by now.In any case,it is only useful
to someone knowing the various branches of scilence--minerology,
phya@cs,geology,etc,into which it 1s divided.Its only interest to me
then,is the light it throws on general exploratlon or the character
of its writer.
Of what his aim was,when he had been a short time in New
South VWes,he had better explain.
| "Mhe main object of my visit to New South Wales"(this
passage would seem to suggest he came to Australia for that express
purpose)"was to examine 1its minereclogy. The excursions undertaken
with 2 view to that object led me through a very wlild and broken
country,often difficult of access,rarely rermitting a rapid progress,
or affording compensation for no slight degree of labour,fatligue and
privation. Indecd,the scarcity of simple minerals was such as might
have discouraged the most ardent and persevering minerologist who
ever devoted himself to the sclence. But;althoughithe scope for
extensive mineralogical research was thus narrowed,the country was
soon found to present a vast field for a most exciting and interest-
ing geological investigatlion...Il entered therefore,eagerly on a
geologlical examination of N8w South Wales,as on a terra incognita,
without gulde or gulde book"(55)

1 That task,the geologlcal examination of the esast coast,to

furnish naterials for a geologlcal map of 1it(published in London on
¥

his return.A copy is at the Lands Office,Sydney) involved him in a
peries of zigzag Journies through and across the country.
The alm of his work was purely sclentific,and his explorat-

}pna were for the most part by the way.Thus he belongs rather with

U haatd Any. Lol iaws B lee frond | .
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Cunningham or Leichhardt than with Bourke and Kennedy.

Although his arrival was unobtruslve enough,Strzeleckl
" recelved an hospitable welcome as soon as he landed.Perhaps a
sclentiflec reputation hsd preceded him,since most of his voyages 1n
the Pacific had been done on British men-of-war,some of which may
éasily have touched at Sydney,or perhaps,as earlier in America,he
had letters of intrduction.In any case,he was soon intrduced to Sir
George Gipps,governor of the colony,and the latter,preoccuplied as
he weg with the difficulties of his administration,was an astute
Judge of the qualities of a2 man.The Polish scientist plessed him;
hls energy,gravity and determination matched those traits in himself.
The time was ripe for such work as Strzelecki could do.
The actual work of exploration had been pushed far in earlier
governorships,and now,in the age of squatting,when a swift silent
penetration of the country was 1in progress,was no longer necessary.
But Sir George Gipp's fundamental position with regard to land
gettlement and the problem of auction sale,squatting licences and
an adequate price for Crown land,made the work of the surveyor and
geologlical explorer of vital necessity to the government.At » time
when sheep were the paramount consideration of every section of the
community,when land for pasturage wes the pressing need of the hour,
Gipps took longer views,and though he had not fully grasped the
future egricultural developement of the country,he was essentially
fighting for posterity when he tried to hold out agasinst the lockimg
the land in the interests of the present agalnst the interests of
e many who would follow.Every rerort of the possiblility of the
and for agriculture--that 1s,for closer settlement in the hands of
p larger populatlon of small holders--which Strzelecki brought in,
18t have been to the troubled overworked man a further justificatlion
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for the course on which he was staking so much. -

The governor welcomed Strzeleckl,and showed himself
anxious to do-all he could to help him.Yet that was little enough.
Gipps Just then was in ne position to.give help to.anybodysRather
did he:need.aild for himself in the difficulties of a term of office-
which was & perpetual conflict against,not so 'much powerful opponents,
ag overwhelming economic forces.

Gipps did what he could.He offered Strzelecki fescilities
in the form of letters,and conviet servantsg,end small supplies from
the estore.He went further(how he must have regretted the verbal
commitment when the dispeteh answering hls announcement of the
million pound bounty bill arrived:) and promiged that the English
governuent would refund half of the money which Strzeleckl spent in
the expeditions he undertook.Beyond that promise he could not go,Put
considering that Strzelekl,for all hig experience in other parts ef
the wordd,wss only a wanderer,with no proef that he would rrove
sucecessful in Australlan condltions,and considering the difficulty
of the times when the friendship was made,it is a conslderable
tribute to the power of his personality that an overburdened sand
badgered man like Gipps should pledge himgelf at all.

Strzelecki's sim was soon crystallised.Even when minerology
failed,he hed a vest flield before him.fustralia was eslmost 2 wvirgin
econtinent.His Predeceﬁsors had been mogtly,like Banksg,Celey and
Cunningham, botanlste,or surveyors,like MNitchel and Oxley.Thére had
been,apert from the unfortunate Prugsisn Ludwig Lelchhardt,no
peclallst geologists working specifically in that science.The
rescurces of Australia of every natural kind were still hardly
nessed at,even its agricultural possibilities unexplored save

lose round Sydney,the country being exclusively pastoral.Huge
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tracts of country,in spite of the outward exransion of the sheep,were

not only unmepped but untrodden,their soilsg unsnalysed,their rocks

unclassifled,their heights unmeasured,their configurations unsketched.
. Under foot,the treasure of the earth was unsuspected.Researches into

climute were in their infancy,and the potential wealth to be achieved

by sclentific agriculture lay in the breins of such men as the one
| now come to the task --geologlist,mbneralogist,meteorologist,with the

courage to explore,the perseverance to compile,and the intultion

to infer.Strzeleckl had found the place where his considerable

gifts could find thelr fullest expresepion.Between a quiet srrival’
. end an unobtrusive departure lay & phase,one of ﬁany for him,which
: would have satlsfied most men.

He marped out the district he mesant to analyse,end set out

%o go over it in detall,tresting it from many points. of interest,

and doing as he went such work as he found to his hand.For materials,
he had a set of instruments mede under his owvn suvervision and
- instructions,which he earried ss carefully as he could and Béfeguarﬂp
ed where possible from the dangers of diserrangement or accident(not
always successfully) For moral equipment,he hed experience,patience
and a constitutlon which throve under hardship eand exertion,and for
supplies,the clothes and food & packborse could carry and the
~comforts a convict servant asslgned by Gipps could provide.Lack of
‘money was an ever present handicap,forcing him for the most part to
travel on foot,with very modest resources and the frequent necessity
to interrupt the task in hand and turn aside wherever an opport-
unity to suppliment forces occurred.He did various pald scientific
Jobs,such as collecting srecimens,surveying for aquattera,gi#ing
opinion as to possibilities of permanent watar,ﬁec.

His extensive survey began with Sydney,and spr3$ from
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‘there in wldening circles t1ll it had tesken in the whole area of

the nineteen countles.Then,he had to take longer Journeys.But before
golng on to his longest trip on the mainland,thils first phase can
‘be best lllustrated by one of ‘his few extant letters,not in itself
vitally important,but interesting for the light 1t throws on
.conditions of exploration at the time,and a sidelight on the man.
(1839) "17th of September

"My dear Donaldson

Since my prambling and rambling in the mountains
| --Wallerawang of Mr Hames Walker 1s the first civilised place I
came across =--which offers decent means of scribbling a letter--pen,
paper,sealing wax are luxuries =--mental I mean,I longed for,with
wuch more anxlety than for the natural ones of which,during four
weeks I was most d. deprived --It 1s odd that with my health which
now 2 days i1s not the best and clearly in the decline --I could
have undergone privations and fatigues which put my two most robust
servants horg de combat. I arrived this moment here from Mount
George over the wlckedest most crooked and sharp edged range of
mountalilns --with ttoes peeping out from shoes,drenched every day
and almost frost bitten on Mount Tomah --at any rate I was stiff,
that is,my clothes were,because ducked at the foot,when gt the ton
of the mountaln,the sudden change of tempersture transformed them
into a sheet of ice which,through the slmost impenetrable reeds
and ferns rattled on me like the scales of a rattle snake. I am
' glad I have explored this part of the range as 1 have done;but
nothing in the world would let me rebegin 1lt--znd retresce my steps
~--love except--as a woman could alone repush me into the gulllies--
starvation--bathing over and over again'"

He complains of lack of letters,and describes his intended

route for the next few days. "To-morrow I shell be underway again
for Bathurst and for the Goulburn river and the Hunter and Port
Stephens and from there,helm up for Sydney." The letter ends
playfully,and after sending greeting to various friends,he slips in
2 pure Polonisism(56) "Do pray give a good hearty shake to McKensie
by the hand"

The postscript gives 2 thumbnaill sketch of life in outlying
farms in 1830.

"Just as I was closing this letter lir James Walker returned
from the bush with three of the bushrangers which spread terror and
confusion in this neighbourhood and whom he with domestic retinue
annd asslstance of two policemen happily caught this morning at
jaylight. One of them,they say,ls lLambert the Famousg--If you like
0 know why famous--inquire at the records of Bushranging Herolsm"

( 57 (578)
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In this stege he did considerable measuring of haighfa,
‘some of the peaks he measured belng,the fing's Tableland,lt Cook

‘Mt Kay,lt York,the Vale of Clywd,Wallerawang,and others.He examined
:Inke George and Lake Omeo,and gave time to meterological observat-
dons and magnetism,but the netural deviation of lnstruments carriéd
over rough country rendered these latter valueless.In fact,of much

of his work he says mournfully "Neither perseverance nor devotion
were wanting but glve only & consclousness of how little I have done..

All I have dohklected through fTive years of lsbour I cen view only as
the rudiments of what sclentists may expect at a future reriod"(58)
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Page 69.

, (4€)Here we have Strzeleckl alreszdy uain% the title Count.
Poles abroad customarlily use the French prefix "de" to show thelr
gentle birth.The name Treleskl ls one of the variants of this
difficult name,others being Trelski,and Strelekl.The actual Polish
pronunciation is something rather Streletsky than the Australlan
version Strelecky.The same change has taken place 1n the name of
the rustralisn mountain by which Kodcluszko (Koshcheughko) becomes
Kosclugko,pronounced Kozyasko!

Page 70

(50)Physical Description of New South Wales and Van
Dieman's ‘tand.Various footnotes taken from the manugcript journal
of Strzeleckl,of which the original has been destroyed,are scattered
through 1t,and are generally more persobal than the narrative.

Page T1.The Souatting Age in Australla p.116 (52)

Page T3

(53)See appendix which gives full text of such letters
as have been publighed.

(54)In the later part of his life,and in letters taken
from this period,he showed a philogsophical attitude which heightens
the impression of the relterated complalints to 4dyna which appear
in the letters.*o me,they are too exaggerated to be Jjustified by
the treatment he had received in Poland,regarded normelly and point
to a morbid senstivity on the subject,to which the inner struggle
which any man must undergo in voluntarily changing his natlionality.
In the case of a Pole during the partition period,when fanatical
love of "Ofczyzna" waa common it is more marked.

Page T5

(55)Physical Description.p.51

Page TO.

(56)In the case of the Physical Description,Strzelecki
seems to have got. an editor to correct his proofg,as the English of
hls publighed articles and books 1s much above the standard of his
letters.In the latter,anyone knowing even & smattering of Polish
can trace the polonismsg,slince that language differs magjerislly from
English in almost every point of syntax and grammar.The rresent
instance,glving "by the hand" 1is a translation of the Polish "reks "
ablative of instrument.the same can be said in certain cases of ,

onrad;not only are there Pollsh turns of spyeech and metaphor,but
actual grammatical twists observable to anyone who knows the Slav
ldiom,and the whole structure of Conrad's style,wlth its repetitions
.and long sentences,takes on a national colour.

(57)Letter to Donaldson,in Mitchel Library.
Page 80

(58)Physical Description,p.53

y (57a) Interesting to compare with this letter,whlch reads
simply,is a passsge teken from his masnuscript Journal,where it weads
ore ‘elaborately "Night arrroached=the hesvens lowered-the rain
continues to pour"(he sees a house "To percelve it-to utter a ery

of Joy-toencourage my exhausted and helpless servant -and to fly
towards 1t,wse the act of the same moment. To recognise our stete

of destitution =nd to rellieve it,was a part the owner of the dwell-
ing performed with equsl promptitude" This was the stay he put in
she letter to Donaldson.

L
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X1
LETTERS TO ADYNA

Inportance of these letters as glving inner account of his life--
Other personsl records.

By the "Physical Deseriprtlon" Strzelecki depicted himself
a6 » selentlst should be,impersonal,objective,tireless.Put behind
that image lay the personal life of the man apart from his work,and

i there, il anywhere,the explanation of his motives as opposed to his
actlvitles.

Strzelecki reached 'Sydney when he weas forty one,having
wandered wlthout- any settled abode since 181%.A Tew laconic letters
had reached ﬁgnan,to his family,and a reference or two to him had
appeared in German newspapers.Bul,somewhere along the route,he had

. remembered Adyna.Years-had passed slnce thelr love affair,and she
herself a woman of thirty three;then he broke the silence.

We do not know when the Tirst of these letters were written,
but 1t seems likely to have been not long before he came to Austrdlla.
She kept all he sent her,and they are the most important documents
relating to his life.And even those,we have not entire.For rersonal
reagsons, (59)only a small number of them,and = fTew extracts,have been
published (60)

It is hardly to be oxpected that Alexandra-remained vividly
in his mind through the years of geparation.Vew impressions must

have crowded her out for months and years from his memory.vet
guddenly she came back to him with such force that she became the
Yeagson of his career,the one very close personal tle which remained
constant however he changed his other associates.

That in 1tself 1g not so strange as it seems at first

dance.Strzeleckl was no longer a young man.lMature in mind and body,
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he must have realised that his choice of paths for the future was

growing less.Accidental circumstances had directed hls wanderings;
perhaps 1t was largely chnhce which had sent him to England from
Poland,rather to France or elsewhere.lt is hard to find any consis-
tent alm in his zigzagse through Canada,America and the Pacific.Hls
work in Australia,though the largest he had unnertakén,was not end-
less.He was brought by his way of life and his age to a point where
he had to take stock of his position,not for the present but for

a future which his health promised to make a long one.As he went

about his "pramblings and ramblings" he was facing one of the most
decigsive steps in his career.lt is that which glives hls letters
significance,deepened by small indications in other letters and in
his manﬁacript Journal.

The first incident 1s that impression,to which reference
has been made,at Camden Park,home of hlis friend James Hacafthur,in
December 1839.3trzelecki,to summarise,on a visit there,was taken out
to see a colony of German vine dressers recently imported to improve
the wine produced on the estate.The Prussian subject spoke to them
in their own language,to have them all,men women and children,at
once clustered round him,eyes alight,begging for news of the native
' land they had left.Strzelecki did not undeceive them,"I felt truly
their friend and was willing they should call me thelr countrymwan,
and treat me as guch"(61) The reflection of the emigrnnta' homeaick;
;ess passed over to him.From his account of the lncident,already
Fuoted,l take only a few phrases.'"The country in which we live,but
hich is not ourg" he accente mournfully."The smallest occasion will
;rve to méke us feel that we are atrangers;far from our own gpoil.

never the heart and soul have been moved,how difficult I have

elhd it to adapt them to the faintest expression of that which
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moved me.It ip on such occaslons that the recolleetlon of ecountry

1 recalled,and the sentiment of nationality revives."

Those are not the opinions of a young man,nor of a man
free in spirit to return to the country he hes left.There was by
this time no reason why Strzelecki should not go back to any part
of Poland.His sister was still living,and his brother,to welcome
him home.Hls share of the family property was there for him when he
should come to claim it.The mists of nineteen years--and the Poles
are a volhtile race,qulick to forget scandals--had convenlehtly
gathered over his youthful mliasdeeds.His name waes forgetten in
Rugsian Poland,anﬁ in Prussian was remembered only by a faithful
group of relations and Adyna,s woman of thirty three,old enough
surely to know her own mind.He would go back there,poor,--but he
wag poor in Australla:and in Poland he would have the glamour of
a reputastlion.He would be the returned traveller,to whom much is
allowed.He still had perhaps in his mind,some faint plan of return,
but it was growlng dim.The regret and hostalgia of the albove passage
lies in 1ts uiderlying recognition of the fact that he would never
g0 back.lNo one else knew that,snd he still struggled against it--
even later than this he wrote(already quoted) to Peter Strzeleckl,
fixing é date for his return,--but'the truth wes crystallising.,

The Tirst five or so years abroad are easy.We still
iconsider ourselves free agents.The new is still novel;and its
disadvantages,being voluntarily borne,are light.It is only after
2 passage of time that the ties of natlionality begin to draw us,and
L;rk us to a senase of lonellness and homesickness.And by that time

. 18 too late.The pattern has been altered,and there is no way

-

ack.The old environment is there,as 1t7always was,but our place in
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there still a niche,we would not fill it.At home,a strangeyand

a foreigner abroad,the break is absolute.When that 1s reallsed,there
is a perlod of despairing longing for the preferred and unattainable
security of the place which has ceased to be home,then an adjustment.
In the loneliness of the years 1838739340,when Strzeleckl reached
across the gulf of distance and time to clasp the receding security
of Adyna's affectlon,his deciaiog:;hlch was to be the symbol and
pernaps .the cause,of their ultimate aseparatlon.

In the same letter whlich describes his explorations,from
which a long quotgtion has already been made,he reverta to the
subject of his loneliness,evidently so much on his mind that it
overflowed into his tslk and writing.Cnly a woman,so he expressed
it could repush him into the gullies of the rough country he had
passed.

"but in this blessed country of Yours(62)I don't risk any

such pughjtheir minds,their hearts are too much cribbed and cablined
by biblious contemplations,retrospections and prospections --which
I respect.l respvect the Shakers posture (?) and everything
connected with religious affection --but meanwhile camnot kindle

my amoroug dlsposition or propensgities st the toreh of such
devotion:gince I left Sydney I saw a good deal here and there of
them -=-gll allke;the men,or the gentlemen,imxk 28 you please, Just
as in Sydney shut up hermetically within a dry circle of ability,
and most infermally "inoculated with the disease of domestic
felicity".--that's all right,perfectly correct and as laudable as
admirable for them --but for a poor peregrinating solitary dog like
myself,such a system of life does not leave even & bone of that "
happiness they enjoy--"(63)

This was the attitude in which he wrote to Alexandria Turno.
-By the ﬁime that the avallable letters were wrlitten,he had told
her of hls plens,aims and hopes,which all simed at nothing less
.than marrlage with her.The bar to thelr .coming together lay only,
ihe makes clear,in his poverty.The arduous life ha has chogen is the
?one which will bring about independence and happiness for both.

speaks of "the career towards which" he is working "a career
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which suits my likings.s..I would work with twice the enthuslasm

' I would study,even stay up late nights,Il would fear nelther peverty
or fatigue -~if I were certaln that the fight would 1ncrease my
small fortune and insure our independence."

The next paragraph is important.Adyne,it should be
remembered,was rich.By thls time,her brothers could hardly be llkely
to prevent her marrying whom she pleased,least of all the man for
whom,as an heiress,she had already refused to merry other sultors.
The real bar in the way was Strzelecki's pride,not probably that
vulgar lnablility to come home lesg than he hored t0 be in money and
reputation,but a deeper,subtler sense of something in himself which
he had to juatify.At whatever cost,he could not show himself again
in the place where he had been humiliasted for being a poor man,until
he had satisfied a knowledge of something due to himself.As usuel,
in the record of their mutual affalrs,Adyna paild for Paul's feelings.'

"Minerology does not bring wealth,or still less lead to a
fortune.But 1t galneg a certaln rank for its adherents,leads them to
aecdritj,"

At the end of the letter he glves that cry of bltterness
g0 strange after the lapse of twenty years."Everything pertainingr
to it(to Poland) reminds me only of bltterness jnjustice and sorrow”
That last line ls extraordinary to anyone knowlng Poland and the
oles.Whatever the faults of the Poligh gentry were--and they were
reat and dlpasstrous--patriotism was thelr redeeming virtue.Whatever
dstekes they committed while thelr country wes independent,they
their descendants atoned for them during the partitions.It is
1y nnnas;E; Lo  compare this quotation with one from Conrad,to
8 ites force and to reslise how unusual was its expression.

"That country which demands t0 be loved ss no other country
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L hep ever been loved,with the mournful affection one bears to the
unforgotten dead and with the unextingulshable fore of a honeless

passion which only =a living,breathing warnm jdeal can kindle in

our breasts for our pride,for our wearinessg,for our exultation,for

our undoing™ (64) or with Micklewlcz

| "mo~day,for us,unbidden guests in the world,in all the
past end in alkl the future ~=t0o-day there is but one reglion 1n
which there dis & crumb of hanpiness for & Poletthe land of hisg=®
childhood! That land will ever remaln holy snd pure as first love;
undisturbed by the remembrance of errors,not undermined by the 2
deceitfulness of hopes,and unchanged by the stresm of evente."

Those quotationa,which,could Ye multiplied indefinitely,
both written by men In more or less voluntary exile,and 1ﬁ one c¢ase
by -a man who naturalised as British,are chogen as showing the genersal
tone in which Poiea auring the "Polish Capitlvity" spoke of their
native landeStrzelecki lived in the Geﬁerétion of lesslanism,and
cult of the motherland wae a religion.I have no where elge,in reading
the letters or memoirs of Poles ,found such a strong exvrresslon of
rancoursl maintein it 1is personal,and & characteristic of Strzeiecki.
The wrong was done to him in his personal dignity,in his feelings,
by Poles,snd so strong was the lmpresslon thet not even the love
of s Polishl woman could quite efface 1it,and it sufficéd to set him
on a peth which led him further and further away from Poland and ‘
her.But. --and here is his migfortune,he could not bend or forgive
or forget,but he could suffer.lationality,he gaid,was nat gliven to
men to be thrown awey for a fantasy.He lost his Pollesh roots,snd

grew others,pbut the results of the conflict remained lngrained 1in

him till the end of hisg life.




NOTES ON
XI

Page 81 .

(59)The uatter of these letters is very ilmportant for
anyone interested in Strzeleckl's blography,and is one of the
chief d@iffigulties.

The Turno family,which is still influential in the Poznan
digtrict,possesses the letters which Strzelecki gent to Adyna
Turno,who never married,but lived with her married brother till her
death as an old woman.For reasons which will be discussed later,
these letters have caused the famlly unpleasant publicity.The
story of Alexandra and Paul has been gerved up as a sensatlional
love,wlth embrolderies and fabrications,in the Pollsh press and in
America.The matter was settled ss far the surviving relatlons weee
concerned,when one of them,the present head of the famlily,in whose
possession the letters were,made a selectlion of them,chosing those
most likely to be valuable to the biographer,which were published
in the Poznan newspaper "Kurjer Poznenski" in four issues of
November and December,1935,and January and February 1936. The same
letters were publighed 1n translation in the Sydney Morning Herald
in two issues in June, 1936.Vhen I wrote to the family,I was told
that the others were not sultable for publication,so am left to
make 1inferences ag complete as may be with uncomplete maeterials;
though anyone wanting the whole story must be disappointed at the
omission of those later letters which might explain much which at
present remains inexplicable,+ can sympathise fully with the family
feellngs and concur in thelr right to withhold.

(60)Ythers,or the same,to which + have not had access,
appreared in the L.K.¢ of Cracow,but 1 am inclined to believe them
those,or extracts which + have already from the foznan and Australian
gources

Fage 82
(61)*anuserint Yournal quoted in the Fhysical De:zcrintion
page 37%.
Page B4.
(62) Yours,with a capltal,another example of Polish
usage where in letters personal pronouns,second person,are written
with a capital.
(63)Thie 1s that same letter to --Donaldson,from which
quotation gas aégeady been made,the original in the Mitchel Library.
age .
(64)The quotation from Conrad is particularly apposite,
gince Jozef Korzenlowskl was in a position more parallel to that of
awel Strzelecki.The lives of the two are interesting for the
glmilar nature of thelr ultimate solution,though otherwise
80 dissimilar,and the life of the man living in our own age helps
to explain the peculariaties of the Polish nature and position in
the Victorian,since the writer,with his "personzl record" and the
oral tradition of relations,is in so good a position to illustrate
the less articulate scilentist.

Filrst,it 1s worth comparing with Strzelecki's account of
hls lmpresslon of Australian and the English community'which was
personal,the lliterary outburst towards England,in the "Nigger of
the Narevissus" p.- "A great ship! For ages had the ocean battered
in valn her enduring sides;she was there when the world was vaster



and darker,when the sea was great and mysterious,and resdy to
surrender the prize of fame to audaclous men. A ship mother of
fleets and nations! The great flagship of the race;stronger than
the storms! and anchored in the open gea"

€onrad was the son of parents exiled to Siberia,where his
mother died and his father contracted the illness which killed him.
His sea faring was done in British ships,his books published in the
English languege,his wife an Englishwoman.Yet he did not make the
formal change of his nationality without extreme reluctance and
regret.One book at least has been written about thet change,in an
attenpt to make it a sort of central motiv,influencing him so deeply
that the feelings engendered by it worked in him till they found
symbolic expression in "Lord Jim" where the suthor found in Jim's
leap from the sinking Patng=Polska,a2 re-enactment of Conrzd's
abandoning of sunken Poland.This ls golng much tooc fer,but it at
least shows how vital a thing this matter of nationality can be.l
uged to hold that for certain difficult natures,the natlion in which
they were born was not spiritually thelrs,so that they were driven
by an inner need to find thelr real affinity,and thought that Conrad
and Strzelecki,who asslimilated so well to thelir new environment,were
examples.Rereading Strzelecki's papers,l think otherwise,and find
here the explanation--in default of that possible explanation whihh
the unpublished letters contain--the reason for much puzzling matter
cropping up in his later years.

Tha Mithuiweey fiuofibion io b e Protagac &
EFins Toaduusz,”
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e o A
THE DISCOVERY OF GIPPSLAND

The disgtrict already examined in New South Wales was not
enough;the essence of the theory of the geologlcal formatlon of the
rocks lay in their continuance in a single line right down the
length of the south coast to the extremest point of the mainland,
across the strait,and down the east coast of Tasmanla. The materiels
arduously collected in his Jjourneys round Sydney as centre were
complete,but he had to link them to the work done elsewhere.If the
survey was to have any value,it must be widespread.The expeditlon
which furnished the missing pleces of the map was that which put
him among the list of Australian explorers.In one expedition he
opened up Ausgtralia's highest peak,and make public knowledge of
one of her most fertile provinces.

When the journey through Gippsland was over,Strzelecki
summarised its object in 2 report which the Governor enclosed in
a dispatch to Lord John Russell(65)

"To south of latitude 31' 48's an investigation to geology,
minerology of New South Wales,and the geognostic character,and to
ascertain the course of the dividing range,the configuration,
elevation,ramification,connection with the suordinate protuberances,
and the nature of the simple or compound minerals removed by the
rise from the entrails of the earth to the present surface" had
given him data for his map,but the country beyond beckoned.

. b 5 %

"From the Murrukbidgee however,there still remained for
me to wind my course through a country unsurveyed,uninhabited,
in a great measure unknown,untrodden even by the foot of a white
man.A survey,became therefore,indispensable to the main object in
view and 1t 1s that survey of the predominant characteristlc
Tfeatures of the country,partly trigonometrical,mefeorological
and minerological observations as seemed naturally to belong to
it,that I take the liberty to lay before the Colonial Government
of New South Wales,confident that my great devotlion and the obhlig-
‘atlion every Pole finds himgelf under to the English nation,will
gerve to excuse and render legltimate my somewhat uncalled for
communication"

Why he prefaces hla report on this note of humility,wlth 1ts
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curlous reference to the obligation of gratitude of all Poles to

the English natlion(for what? our conduct at the Congress of Viennsa,
or later comparitive indifference to the fate of Poland?) is not
very clear.Hls previous experience and his personality had made his
opinion on territorial matters a help to a governor seeklng any
knowledge of the unknown interlor into which the squatters were
flowing in a steady but unaccountable tide.The probable reason
behind his apologetlc tone was most probably his cautlous defense--
cha;acterlstic of the abnormal sensibility of the man on point of
dignity --against the criticism which a certain aspect of the result
of this Journey produced in Melbourne on its completion.

This part of Strzlecki's work differed from the previous
excursions both in extent,manner of undertaking,and objJect.It was
probably his longest trip,in one stretch;it was not taken alone
with convict servants,but instead with a party of equals,one of
them his friend,and slthough the Pole was prlmar;;ly concerned with
sclentiflic exploration,the expedition as a whole partook largely g
of the overlanding forrays,in search of new grazing grounds,which
are characteristic of the phase of opening upr the country going on
at the time.Strzelecki,the friend of Sir George Gipps,for the durat-
lon of the Journey,joined that large,inconstant,varlable,but
relentless wave of men who were opening up the land,beyond the verge
. of gettlement and outslde the reach of Land Commissionéra,out of the
control of the Governor,and in defiance of his land policy.Opening
up Gippsland simply spread the tide a little further afield,and to
Fhat Strzeleckl was unconsciously a party,here most directly,but to
‘2 lesser extent every time that he returned from outlying districts
jith favourable reports which his sclentifiec responsibllity made

ore potent as a lure to draw men,already depermined on expansion,
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with a geologlcal ‘endorsement of "better land further out" -

The dlscovery of Mt. KoSciuszko occupied the first part
of the expedition,but the most hazardous part of the Journey was
the trek through Gippsland.Some detall must be given to the account
of this part of the work,sinbe explanatlons have been glven which
reflect unjustly on Strzeleckl. .

The man who clailms to have forestalled the Pole was &
Scotech gettiler,;Angus MelMillen whea,wlth Nig ,_?Wer:l'-.m:; ane .“.Tf:‘»’l‘if"*;-_jl??'r‘,
McAlister had a station Nuntla Mungu on the Tambo river.A year before
Strzelecki's attempt he had penetrated a certsin distance into this
region;and a fgw weeke before the arrival of Strzelcki's party he
had gone far enough inland to reach the prlains which were afterwards

" ealled Ba;;b Tleing.He realised theilr grazing rossibilities,and
wighed to name the dlstrlct Nova Caledonla.His trip coinclded with
Strzelecki's stay at his estate,and the latter followed advice
given by his manager,

fcillan thought that the Pole's party had failled,and

procceded to get his stock to the freshly discovered plains before
knowledge of their existence ghould tempt other settlers,and so he
geemsg to have kept the news of hls shere in the discovery of Giprd-
land secret t1ll after the immediate publication of Strzelecki's
account,which robbed him of the right of prlority as regards the
eredlt of the discovery.For this,Strzeleckl was shbused,and in no
mwild terms.The whole situation arose through a misunderstanding,
and-even 1f Strzeleckil's name of Gippsland won its place on the
‘map and drove out McVillan's Nova Caledonia,this is 2 circunstance
few people can regret,even Gippa' most vocal enemies.As regards

the material benefits,the Scot came out definitely best,for though
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one of hls party returned and settled in the new province,MclMillan

took up a large run without competition.But because the story crops
up,not only in contemporary books,but 1in later historiles,the
successlve steps of the Journey are worth tracing in detaill,

The expedition conglsted of James lacarthur,of the well
known family,one of Strzelecki's closest friends in lNew South Wales.
Ag a sheep breeder,the successful outcome was important to him,and
he financed 1t,paying costs to the smount of E£500.The second free
man was a youth called Rlley,later one of the pioneer settlers of
Giprsland.lVascarthur took one convict servant,Strzeleckl one,and
there was an sboriginal,Charlie,from Goulbourn.

Macarthur in his account of the plen,mentions having heard
from NMcAlister,licKillan's nephew,of the district,but this is doubt-
ful,so that the concrete scheme =--apart from Macarthur's need of
fresh grazing land -~lay in Strzlecki's precigely defined intention
to "strike from the crossing place on the Murrumbidgee,to the
south,along the meridian of 14B degrees eszst,to blsect the Dividing
Range 1ln latitude 37 degrees south,to resume the southern direction
and Tollow the windings of the range to Wilson's Promontory,then
to re-bisect it in the direction of Western Port"

They departed from this plan as regerds Wilson's Promont-
ory.

James Macarthur,Riley and the servant set out from Parramstta
in January, 1840,.Strzelecki,whom one sccounts expleins,took part in
the excursion at the suggestion of the Governor(65) though this is
unlikely in the face of his whole scheme of the geolbglcal map,
and one servant,with one packhorse,joined them on 17th January at
Qunons near the (}oulbourn Plaing,where he had previously been at
;ork.On February 5th they reached a statlon of Nacarthurs' on the
; ut River.

In the first part of their journey they received heln
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from Vr King--that Phillip King's descendant perhaps of the explor-

ation by sea,when as & young man,the early Governor's son settled

in Australie.He too,was a friend of Strzelecki,who had helped him

in meteorological observation.At this time,King was settled between
the Murrumbidgee and the succeeding range of mountains.They were
searching for the ‘source of the Dumut(possibly Tumut?) and incident-
ally traced two other streams,the Auburn and the Adelong,to thelr
rige,finding on the way excellent pasturage country.Strzelecki
halted to mezsure the various peaks in sight,which he found to vary
between 1200 and 1800 feet,for the nesrer hills,and the more distant
2500 to 3000.

From the Manes Range,passing Mt Aitkin,the little party
found themselveg 1n grander scenery but rougher country,among the
broken,scrub covered valleys leading from the source of the Tingella
Creek to the Eastern Dividing Range --the Australian Alps.The
gsplendour of the rugged slopes compelled the awe and admiration
of even so exrerienced a traveller as was Strzelecki,with its
._"stupendous peeks and domea"-(66)

The going was hard.The'horses,not accustomed to the
mounteins,slipped and stumbled at every step,dislodging stones and
-‘only retaining thelr foothold with difficulty.Strzelecki,who had
already known tﬂe damage done by such country to delicate instru-
‘ments,was compelled to carry the more fragile of them on his back,
while they picked z cmutlous way from crevice to crevice up the
:steep shoulder of the highest reak.(67)

Their efforts were rewarded;on "15th February about
noon,I found myself on an elevation of 6510 feet above the level
of the sea,seated on rerpetusl snow,a lucid sky above me,and.below

uninterrupted view over more than 7000 gquare miles" (68)
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At the view which lay benesth them,standing whén white men

were now fornthe first time in the history of the world's oldest
continent,they may well have been silent in admiratlion.In that
clear alr,the country extended for miles,spread out like a mer from
thie bage 'of the steep peak where they stood.The Three Prothers were
visible,the head waters of the Dumut and the Vurrumbldgee,the
shining loops of the Yarray,shrunken with the heat of sumrer,but
gti1ll easlily to be traced windilng awsy towards the south west.

But,when the first excitement of wmonder was over,there

wag ‘work to do.Getting out instrumentsthey measured the heights of
the peaks they could see,and then lald down the plan for the con-
tinuation of their Journey.Put to Strzeleckl,whom the other two
recognised as hesd of the expedltlon,lay the task of naming the
conquoered mountain.

"The mountain reminded me forcibly of a tumulus elevated
in Krazkow over the tomb of the Patriot Kobciuszko" (69)

"Although in a foreign country,on foreign ground,but
awong a free peoprle who aprreciate freedom and its votives(?) I
could not refraln from giving it the name of Mt. Kosgciuszko"(70)

In his private letters to his former fiancee,he deecribes
his feelings with less reserve."Here 1s a flower from NVt Koséclusko
T1)the highest peak of the continent --the first in the New World
bearing a Ppolisgh name.I belleve that you will be the first and
only Poligh woman to have s flower from that mountain.let it remind
you ever of freedom,patriotisw and love"(72)

The party then retraced 1ts steps to Cowrang Creek,and
reached Leke Omeo,where another stor was made,so that Strzelecki
could make observations.He found it 1nterest1ng,beCauae the low
level of the water enabled hlim to make a thorough examinatlion of
the basin,the shape of which reminded him of the configursetion of

e George and Kaeke Bsthurst.The land in this district --the Murray
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valley,round Loke Omeo,the valley of the Murrumbldgee,the country
round Cowrang Creek --impressed them favourably,as being well sulted
to settlement.
On the 26th March,the party reached the station of Angus

lMelillan,Nuntla mungu.They found the owner absent,exploring in the °
very country where they were vreparing to follow him,bﬁt his nephew
and manager recelved them hospitably,explained his uncle's project
and after providing them with provisins and 2 camp kettle,rode out
with them one day on the outward journey,showlng them the blazed
trees and umarks left by the other party.In the evening,having further
helped them by pointing out a ford in the river they had reached,
he left them and turned back.Strzeleckl and hls friends followed
the tracks of the earlier party down the Tambo as far as the river
whilch they called Riley after their youngest companion.This was on
April 6th.They crossed the river that dey,and from then on,found no
treces of a kind to show that anyone had gone that way before them.

The country could not but make a good lmpression,undulsating,
with rich plzins and open foregts,watered by rivers.On April 12th
they were on a flne tract of plain,to which Strzelecki--to whom,as
leader,the task of naming discoveries fell--named after a2 friend of
all three men~--Barney Plaing.For the next three ds=ys they continued
in good conditions,but on April 15th they entered on = new phase of
their journey.By that time they had crossed the open country with
the eight rivers,all of which they named,thinking in good falith
that Mclillan hed turned zslde or even gone back,since no trace of
hls passing was to be found.Thelr d@ifficultlies began when they left
the oren country and plunged into the dense scrub typical of Gipns-
:;and.Strzelecki was aanplorer of exrerience,but even in the tronical

(R
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forests of South America,he had never found conditlions more difficult.

Not only was the rate of thelr progress slowed up by the nature of
the -country,but provisions were running out.Already for some time
they had been, rationed to one biscuit snd one sllce of bacon per
day(no very adequate fare for wen engaged 1in strenuous physical
exertion) but now,with all their stringency,that had given out in
its durn.For thé twenty two agonlsing days which followed they were
dependent. for food on whst animals they could shoot,these belng
chiefly koalas(which Strzeleckl called monkies) and wild dogs.These
they were obliged to eat raw or partly cooked,without even salt to
make the revoltlng mese uore palatsble,aince rain had come to add
to their tréubles,dregching every thing,till even the comfort of a
fire to cook by or relieve the chilly damp of the nights was beyond
the resources of the starving men.On April 27th,the horses having
become weskened,they had to be turned out to fare for themgelves.
This was one of the bitterest moments of the journey;not only with
them went the last ald they had beyond their own bodles,but with
them went all the sclentific instruments,that set which Strzeleckl
had had made with such care to fit his own requirements,snd repres-
enting to a po&%% man a considerable outlgy.w;th them, too,went all
the specimens previously collected,and here too it wags more than

a sclentific loss,for on the sale of specimens Strzeleckl had been
supporting himself and financing his work.But there wss no alternative
The horses were past the struggle in that heavily timbered country,
‘and the den too exhausted to aild an ounce to the burden which
represented thelr only chance of escaping alive.

In these desperate circumstances,they held a council,and
decided to make for the nearest point where they could strike human

eings,and so get help.Western Port wass then fifty miles away,but
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in the state of the party,that was almost beyond‘them.

The next few dsys were a long drawn out torture.Strze-
leckil before abandoning his instruments(he kept only a small compas)
had drawn a straight line as their route,and would suffer no
slightest digression from it.It was the shortest way,an lmrortent
polnt to consider when every mile lessened thelr chances,but it was
directly over the mountzins to the coast,and led through a nightmare
of llanas,fern,brushwood,fallen trees,darned and woven and spun by
creepers into a lliving wall.

The Pole was the wirliest of the three‘ieaders,and aprarent-
ly of the servants too.Always spare and hardy,he throve under
exertion,and was physically at his best when living strenuously.The
months he had spent in eaaier‘varienta of the same difficulties

"had reduced him to muscle and bone,but his "demonlac energy" did
‘not fail him.Upon his strength of purpose as leader,and Riley's
‘rifle nnd the bush sense of the native,their lives depended .None
" of them failed.The tired starving men,drenched by dew and rains,
" their clothes,already ragged,toen to a fringe by branches and
" thornyplants,made a precarious way forward;at times,breaking a
" path by throwing,first singly then collectively,thelr bodies
agalnst the scrub to beat down an opening,at times cutting down
thin sapplings,which were aimed to fall in the general directlon
of thelr march,and were then used 2s bridges along which the men
in single file,edged their way over the tovs of the matted tangle
eneath them,

Thelr terrible Journey ended on May the twelfth,when,almost
hausted,they emerged on the coast at the old Western Port settle-
ent .Kindly people,Berry,Ross and Massle,took them in,fed them,
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gave them the clothes rest and shelter they so much needed,and
above 2ll,that sense of safety,of friendliness,and freedom from

responsiblility for life agsinst the savagery of the bush.In a few

?d&ya,when thelr strength had come back,their hosts took them as
;far a8 Tooraden,and from there,the party set out on foot for

| Mlelbourne,via the present sites of Cranbourne and Dandenong.

Thelr arrival caused considerable excitement,since the
Jprojected expedition had been well known,and the delay in their
\coming,the long sllence,had led to the bellef that they had lost

| thelr way and starved,or fallen to the spears of the natives,as was

not uncommon at the time.

Strzeleck 1 at once published,through a friend of his,a

!certain H.Glsborne,an account of thelr Jjourney,which was put togeth-

| er Trom the diary he had kept.This was published and discussed by
| the Port Phillip Heresld,which lavished pralses on the explorers.
The article,after extolling the work Strzelecki had already done
"For the services of a man,who,for years and years,has pursued
gcientific resesrch through danger,and toil,are not services to
this =2ge slone,or to this country,but beneflits to posterity and to
the world"(73)

The paper goes on to hope that the English names he gave
would be preserved,since they reflected so cecreditably on the
foreigner who had bestowed them,and on the subject of the one
exception,gets positively lyrical.

"We trust that there 1s not one man in Australia who will not
deeply sympathise in the feelings of the expatriated noble,when his
gye rested on the snow capred summit which recalled to his mind

bhe grave of his country's hero.The naming of Mt Kosciusko will
lon: remind us of 2 mingled love of freedom and patriotiem,cherished

In 2 foreign land,and we trust that its crest may long look down on
| people actusted by both"
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Strzeleckl without loss of time prepared and forwarded a

report to the Governor of his Journey--which lends colour to the
rumour previously mentioned of his having teken pert at the quernor's
suggestion.That paper Gipns forwarded to Lord John Russellhn a
a dispatch.The request of honouring the new country with Giprs'
nemwe was granted,but the document must hzve been of interest on its
merits,both to the Governor and the Secretary,since a ﬂisinterested
man's account of the potentlally of the 2and could not but be of
value at a tlme when land pollcy was oq paramount imnortance for the
future of the colony.

The report,from its attitude as well sgs for the statement
| of facts,ls an endorsement of Strzelecki's sound sclentific deduct-
| ions and. the modernlty of hig attitude towards his work,Australis's
velue to Englend and herself et that time was not sgricultural,but
ae tne. home of shaep:and cattle excluslvely.The 1847 Order in
Council -=geven years later,when much water had alresdy flowed
under the bridge,stlll did not see further into the wheat nroducing
future of the country than to allow for production on estates for
home consumption;But Strzeleckl 1s clesar in his indicatlon of the
sultability of the land not only for sheep and cattle bredding but
for modern sclentlflc sgriculture,and 1n this direction he ranks
Austrells high in her possibllities.His report of Giprsland is
very favourable;he praised the scenery,the climate,the good harbours
the two hundred and fifty miles of cosst line,the abundent waters
~he crossed and named elght rivers --the good qualities of the
lzing for pasturing sheev and cattle,the good commerclsl gquality
“the timber,the valley slopes adaptabllity for cultivation,snd
e ezse wlth which communicstion could be established.

It was not long however before a discordant note crent
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in the rleasant chorus of enthugissm and sprlause.A critic found
too complacant an accent of gelf pralse in the articles which
S8trzeleckl had zllowed to aprear,snd the Colonist launched 2 sharnp

attack on him,eccusing him of a deliberate attempt to steal the

e

credit due to Angus MclMillan,the real exrlorer of Giprsland with
the prior c¢laim to the honour of having put the new territory on
the map.We have seen how the idea arose,and it is plain thaet there
1s a difference between a private attempt to claim exclusive rights
through exclusive knowledge to a new sheepwalk,and the planned,
public exploration in a scientific spirit of a fresh tract of
country.But the attack was dellvered at 2 point where Strzelcki as
a Ppole,was open to attack.

"There is something very dlsingenuous in this conceslment:
it may correspond with Strzelecki's notions of honour to usurr or
pirate another man's discovery,but it is anything but handsome
in the estimation of a genuine Englishman" (74)

That blow was onéitorwhich he had no reply in 1its deeper
implication.Explsnation of how the difficulty arose would not take

away the sting from the personal slur,and Strzelckl was Jjust the

man to writhe under an asperslon which he could not refute.But there
is no record of any answer.The 1ncldent_waﬁ.§mall,hat not without
lomportance.When a man is on the way to 2 decision,haprenings

| small in themselyves shape the way to it.

One fortunate circumstsnce lightened the resentment he must
have felt at belng publicly censured by the press --the recovery
of hlg speclmens.Riley,who,though very young,had more bush sense
than the sclentist,sathered 2 small rescue party and retraced the
 perty's route to the place where the horses had been turned loose.
He found one of them still not far away;and recovered the instrumeits

nd specimens left behind on the outward journey.The notes Strzelecki
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incorporated in his map,which was now complete go fer nss materials
for the mainland were concerned.
The stay in Kelbourne was short.The other two wefe still
et Port Phililip when Strzelecki left the country for Tasmanla,
and the islands of the strait,where he needed 2 few months work to
marshal the wigsing date for the geologlcal survey.
There 13 a2 small human touch at the end.The expedition
was over,and part of hlstory.How deep & bond it had forged between
the two elder men who went through 1lts hardships together,ls shown
by references to it made in a letter written some year or two years
later by Strzeleckl,then in Tasmanlia,to Macarthur,back on one of
his stations.
"On the 1#th ingt.anniversary of long remembered cry of
'eraft at anchor' I was in the bush --and took an additlonal pot
of tea and thought of you end our tribulations and pleasures
| through all their stages of zgay starting from Ellerslie,cheering
prospects at Lakeée King,gloomy anticipations at Riley's River,hoves
again at Mecarthur's Valley--speed through Barney Plains,obstruct-
iens at Letrobe,difficulties,loss of horses,want of provisions--
scrub=-wet ---hunger--destitution~~exhaustion--sight of Western Port
and the reriwlinkles gnd the tall of a kangaroo wrested .from.a
' native dog and finally the sight of the craft 2nd Berrys' and our
arrival at Berrys--Since that,you went to Sydney and I to Van

Dieman's Land--you have returned snd settled and I,like a wandering
Jew still woving snd roving from one corner to the other" (75)

That parting,and going their separate ways,so common in
the life of a traveller,was at hand."Farewell,my lonkey-eating
friends'\" the stiff little Joke,phrased and spoken with an accent
still foreign,still unEngligh,and the explorer leaves the continent
where hls best work was already done,which he knew so well,of whiéh
he had covercd seven thousand miles on foot,and where he had under-
gone risgks,physical loneliness,but much more that deeper loneliness
.which echoes mournfully over and over agsin in his letters.He was
only to return to Australia for a short time on the eve of his

eaving the south for ever.
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Page 87.

(65)Given in Papers Respecting New South Wales,p.!12
Digpatch Gipps to Russel 28th Sept 1840.Strzeleckli's report was
énclogsed as appendix.

Page 90

(65a) P :

There are many little indicestions that Strzeleckl kept
in close touch with the Governor,and reported the results of his
various Journeys.In the case of gold,for lnstance,S1ir George must
have been one of the first to hear of the discovery of gold,since
the story was Bo easily kept quiet.Knowing he could rely on the
Pole,it 1s natural to suppose he used him to keep informed of
circumstances of settlement,rumour and reaction of men inland such
as a private individual,travelling inconsplcuously and meeting all
sorts of men,would be in a position to suprly.

Page 91 P
(66) Papers lelating to New South Wales.

(67)In the Physical Description he speaks of the injury
incident to travelling invaliddting the accuracy of hig observat-
ions.

The point here "highest peak" is important.The American branch
of the Strzeleckl family,of whom more mention 1ls made later,have
misunderstood the episode.The Strzeéeckl party was the first to
make the ascent of the chief peaks of the Australian Alps,and,as is
quite possible in such clrcumstances,made a mistake,thinking them-
selves on the highest pint when actually they were on one a few
feet lower.When thls was reallsed,the name Kosclugko was given to
the highest mountain,and that of Mt Townsend to the Power height,
the intention being thus preserved and the accidental error
rectified,to the credit of the Australian government who kept the
foreign name for the more famous mountain.

(68)Papers Relating to New South Wales.

Page 02.

(6€)A quotation from the report furnished to Giprs,like
the others,it contains a slight inaccuracy.The tumulus in Krakow
--copy of the tumulus of Wanda,and Krakus,legendary prince and
princess in the same place,is a Poligh expression of resnect for
the memory of thelr great men(one is in course of erection to the
memory of the late dictator Joief PiYsudski) and does not cover the
grave.Koscluszko,who died in Switzerland,is burled in the crypt of
the Wawel cathedral,the hill stands a few miles out of the town.

(70) From one of the letters to Adyna.(T72)8&e .. (73)B8ee

Page 96 Port Phillip Herald. . &bove.
(73) Port Phillip Herald Tuesday,3rd June, 1840
Page 08

(74)The Sydney "Colonist" of oth July, 1840
e 99.°, _
a%75)Letter to James lacarthur Launceston,22nd May 184-2
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X111

TASMANIAN EXPLORATICN

Completlon of Sclentiflc Work.Personal Relatlons with Governor.Stage
in Process of Anglicisatlon.

The crossing of Bags Stralt marked zn important step in
gtrzelecki's forward progress,and took him into a circle from whid
he never departed.In America,he hgd met the president,in South
Awerica,the most distinguighed generals and heads of governments;in
Sydney ,he had enjoyed the confidence snd made himself useful to the
Governor.But there is no evidence remalning of deep personal
friendship with these men.He has left no personal record of hils
feelings for them,nor they for him.Even Gipps' death,under the
cloud of England rejecting those principles for whicqpe had fought
80 long and so gamely,drew no retrospective notlce from ctrzeleckl,
which argues & lack of intimate knowledge or genuine likﬁing.But
in Tasmanla,it was different.Strzelecki found himgelf at once among
congenial people,who returned the friendliness he felt,so that the
time he spent there 1s a fo?etaste of the later part of his life,
It wes the beginning of the personal phase of early middle zge,and
already was rich 1in the pleasanter aspects of such a time.His
own life,as distinct from his work,became mellowed by the warmth of
companionship of similar natures,and the delight of being able to
share his intellectual world with like minded men and women.

OQutwardly,the departure and arrival were unostentatious
enough.The examinatlion of the rocks of Tasmanla was part of the
original plan,since his investigation was based on the assumption
that the mainland 2nd 1slsnds were structurally one.He left behind
him a few friends,many acquaintances,and the smart of his recent

notoriety.But,although he was gtill poor and obliged to travel
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cheaply,he was no longer an unkriown explorer,trailing a cloud of
past expeditions,vouched for chiefly by himself.He came as a man
known and respected in New South Wles,one who had passed into the
small group governing the colonies.He had with him the surest
passport into British confidence,letters of introduction from
people whose names were everywhere famillar and in the right way,
for the right things;8ir George Gipps hed given him a letter to
the Governor of Tasmania,Macarthur one to & friend,Henry Gisborne,
another.
Siy John Franklin,the Arctic explorer,was none 100 happy
in his high office.He was &t once too kind and too fine,too trust-
ing to govern the destinies of desperate men and the hargh human
material in charge of them.A penal settlement like Van Diemen's
Land was too severe a trial for a man accustomed to the brutalities
exclusively of nature.Sir John,end,to aim a shrewd blow at him,also
hig wife,were in a difficult positlon.she'Waé cengured by nreovle
clever enough to realise their positlion forbade defence,and he
was plagued by the state of the place,by his councillors,hls friends,
his servants,and above all hils secretary,the uncomforteble
Vaconochle,who,in the midst of many other vexations,had develonpad
supremely 1ncoﬁvenient views of the treatment of convicts.
s5ir John struggled on wmanfully inm a labyrinth of difficulties,
snd when he could escape the lmportunities of advisers and the .
impertinences of his enemies,took refuge in sclence,in which he
dabbled happily,encouraged by his wife,and gurrounded by & small
coterie of men of like taste.
Of these,Strzelecki was perhaps the desrest;both Sir John
and his wife found it 2 relief to be able to talk freely to some-
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one wino was & private individual,outside cliques or politics or
policies.Strzelecki not only shared their tastes,but his foreign
blood gave him an advantage.The downright Governor found in his
continental lack of hypocricy and ability to call a sgéde a apade
a relief after his ofdinary aasociates,his lively wife 1in Strzeleckl
a vivid conversatlonalist,a man of wide interests and wlder obser-
vation,s sharer of her love for excursions into the bush,sketchling
studying the natives,whom she wished to befriend(in the nerson of =2
gentle half civilised aboriginal girl)

Their sdclety wasiat once serlous and simple.Living among,
brutalitlies unsurpassed in quantity and quality in the world,they
remalned by familiarity,indifferent to thém.In sight of the roead
gangs, in thelr chainsg,wlith Port Arthur never long forgotten as a
rlague sore,their movements spled on by the sullen eyes of asslgnd
servants in the houses,and watched by unseen bushréégrs when they
travelled,they treated s2ll this as a necessary evil of this countrj
where fortune had put them;the natives were dying out(Strzelecki

was moved to protest)the native plants and animsls were in danger
| of dolng the same,and everywhere,convicts were.dying,under the lesh,
on the gallows,in the madhouses of the modelrpriaon settlements,in
the Jaws of sharks and bloodhounda,without protest raised,except by
the boring Maconochie.The others,including that Strzelecki,whom

an accldentally visited slave ship had moved to bitter eloquence,

iﬁent their way without comment.

Meanwhile,the ladles and gentlemen met together and played

at sclence,contributed to the Tasmanian journal of science,and

.ade plans for Lady Franklin's museum.They'attended regattas,and
lorse races,on which the betting(in an agé of gentlemen riders) was

'eavy.Life lacked luxury,but also weariness.The picture it leaves
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in the imagination,in an age of gallantry,when men protected women
with unfeigned courage from unfeigned dangers,is graceful,even if
it rested,like Versallles on peasant migery,on a bachground of
unrelieved darkneaé.Taamania'a uprer class,escaping except for the
most vigorous,the more strenuous alarms and ursets of the mainland,
lived a 1life which had something of the Trisznon,but not certainly
ts luxury;like the old South,it had slavery,but unlike 1it,no
langour.It was a world bullt on privilege,end,lagging behind the
continent itself,was then in the unhurried afternoon of penal
settlement.It was an oligarchy,an aristocratic stronghold,ana its
inhabltante had the defects of that system of life.

The time Strzelecki spent there was not wlthout gignificance
for him.In some way,his friendship with the Franklins,who,if worried
. by thelr subordinates,were still the chlef people in the little
| state,was a formatlive force in him.Again,after years of wandering,

he saw the Plagah world of security,respect and comfort,which money
and reputation made possible.He was admitted to 1t through his
local renown as a scientist,and his old choice,made as 2 young man
in England was being Justified by its fruilts.

He Q%d not stop work,btut hsd to mAmit when'bhs lefh. that
what he had done on the léland was comnarativelj unimrortant.That
means no more then this --he made no spectacular discoveries,nor
‘::ifhing likely to open fresh fields of knowledge.But he continued

lhrounded off his own work,which gained by 1its wider scope.He helped
the Governor with the weight of his advice,when opportunity offered
he satisfied his curlosity as to Tasmanla's structure,minerology,

l e studied its natives in the manner of his day,end he made friends.

He lald,in spite of his disclaimer the Tasmanians under a gense of
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gratitude,and for that,humen nature being what it is,he must have
done more than he thought.

Most of his work can be shortly dismigsed.He measured a few
heights,collected specimens,used the laboratory in Hobart,cheekgd
meteorological observations at the Observatory,and took short trips,
for his geological survey.But his most important work was the study
he made of the natural wealth and mineral resources of the island,
taken from the view point of their commercial exploitation.This
object was near the Governor's heart,especlslly in the matter of eoal
and on this mineral Strzeleckl worked faithfully and hard in the
future interests of the Tasmanlian people.

He made three principal jJournies alone.The first was east-
warde from Launceston,along the cosst between George Town and Cane
Portlands,down to St George's River,along the south and north
Kek,over Ben Lomsnd and Ben Nevlis,then back to Launceston.

The second was to the west,through Westbury,Port Lovell,
the central plaing,the Hampshire Hills,Emu Bay,Clrcular Head,Cane
Grim,and the Arthur River.

On the third trip he went south of Desaragie and the Lakes,
sighted Frenchman's Cap,went to Macgquarie Harbour,and returned
along the valley of the Derwent and New Norfolk,past Mount Welling-
ton and Tasman's Peninsula,Research Bay,Richmond,Jerusalem,Jericho,
and Oatlands.Then he went from the estuary of the Ross towarde
Vivan Port and Campbelltown,thence back to Launceston,hating covered
a distance of two thoussnd miles,much of it through very difficult
country.

His geological analysis of coal he embodied in a paper
published 1n the Tasmanian Journal of Sciencg,Vol I "On Certain

Verietles of Australian Coal" which classifies the various kinds
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to be found In the island.

Sir John Franklin considered this question of such
value to the future of the colony that he kept himself fully
informed of the course of Strzeleckl's work,asked his advice as
to the best way to tap the seams,how best to transport the coal;
whether by water or rail or both,and detalls of 1ts most economical
exploltation.More than this,he took Strzelecki with him on his
tours of 1nspection and relied on him in everj way.

So thls Tasmanlan stay was rrotracted because of its
plezssantness.The work he was doing was no longer of that strenuous
sort he had found so abundent in New South Wales;months of cold or
bad weather he passed, peacefully in the roams.the Governor had
allotted hlm as laborstory,where he sorted and put in order the
valuable parts of his Jjourneys in preperatioen for the completion
of hls map.ind from that lelsurely packing and snalysing,he let
| himgell be called %o the Governor's home as favourite gueat.io the

man who had long felt hls isolatlion,his perpetual wandering homeless

life,the lmportunitles of friends must heve had power to arew.He
| wes always weléome to the limited resources of Government Houge--
| 2 tent in the grounds,or a neighbour's hoepitality,héked in Lady
Franklin's name.ﬁhen he protested,they bfushed aslde ﬁia obJections
"Mever mind your bush dress,we are all travellers here" Ladj '
Franklin,to whom he wes particularly consenial,lamented his dbsenca
from the opening of her musgeum,and puts hig name on one of the nides
inside,and the letters show how real was the cordiality they
éxtended to him.

But still,in spite of this,Tasmania was only a stege.He

gumiied up the country and its lnhabitants in a letter which shows
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him ready 40 Z0e ‘ o
"I like Van Dieman's Land =--that is,what nature and the industry
has done and ls a~bout 1o do, ~--all beautliul and surprlising and
surpasssing the expectations --in these roints Van Dieman's Land 1is
superior to lew .South Wales,inferior to it as to the political and
gocial man."(76)

By the middle of 1842,he ;felt he had finighed his work
there.His decision to go came ag a blow to. the FrgnklinamSir John
tried to dissuade him,and when he falled,wrote his slncere regret
in a letter dated, Sept 1§,1842.

"On reading your letter this morning I felt a renewal of
that regret with which I received the first communication of your
intention to leave the Island notwithstanding the hope which I
cjerish of meeting you again at no very distant period in the 0ld
Country as you happily term it,I cannot let you go without apprals-
ing you that in your departure I ghall miss the comfort of having a
sincere and highly judicious friend to whom I could frcely imvart
many of my inward thoughts and find sympathy and sound advice on
pubjects of deep interest to me and the colony.

The colony 1ltself 1ls indebted to you for the valusble
contribution you have made to its information during the progress
of your researches --and it has yet to learn the full amount of
what they owe to you."

Pergsonally,the Governor felt the loss of dilscussion "with
the unrestrained range which,except for the few llke youraself,
prudence would forbid our doing here--Ever yours most affectionately"

Towards the end of that year,1842,Strzelecki left Tasmanisa.
Early in the next year,he was back at Port Stephens,staylng with
his friend King.Already there he must have put his materials into
comparative order,since we find him writing to Tasmania for sketches
of aborigingls to be uged as illustrations.lady franklin,herself
on the eve of departure,wanted to travel back to England under
Btrzeleckl's care,saying playfully she would have no fear in the
P charge of such an "Experienced traveller" But this could not be
arranged,as she was golng round Cape Horn,he through the east.

Strzeleckl left Australla in 1843,and went through China,
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India,and some part of Africa,making a stayhn Egypt,then back to
nis starting point in London,without an apparent staylon the
continent.He had spent twelve years of almost continuous travel,
undergoing exertions and dangers beyond even the run of those who
cross vest distances by sea and land.He had visited every rart of
the world,except the north and south Poles,and had spent money,
energy and time unstintingly,with little return.Henceforth,his 1ife

was to fall into a new phase,and he dld not go beyond Europe again.
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(76)The letter to James Mecarthur,already quoted.Dated
Launceston 22nd lay.
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xIv THE RETURN TO BNGLAND

His poverty--Publicetion of his first book --Recognition of
his work --Strzelecki as Englishman.

When Strzeleckl was ready to set out from Sydney,he
wrote to hls brother in Poland the letter already quoted,which
spoke clearly of a plan to revisit Poland after his returnm,two or
four years after his embarkation for China.Hig later acecount of
the stages of that Jjourney,to which an outline has already been
given,mentions Java and the East Indies among his stopping places.
In any case,when he got back to England,he was 2 poor man,having
exhausted his quds on the later stages of the voyage.

This point is stressed,because it is from this time on
that a curious dualism appears in Strzelecki's affairs.We must
remember--and a glance at the authorities consulted for the forego-
ing chapters emphasises it --how very little first hand information
can be collected about Strzeleckl even in the later part of his
life,when facts are well known.He tells English scientific men a
little about himself,and the picture is = gentleman of easy cir-
cunstances,travelling for disinterested scientific zeal;writing
to Adyna,he paints another view of himself --the mature lover,
working to breast the difficulties --chiefly lack of money,which
prevented thelr marriage.Objective financisl facts,therefore,are
the only clue to the real truth behind these discrepant rresentat-
long.This was one of them.On his return he was too poor to publish
the twenty-five foot geological map,to whose preparation, so much
work and t?avelling had been expended.Another circumstance is the

means by which this difficulty was overcome --a subsceription got
' up by Tasmanlan citizens,prompted and headed by Sir John Frankiin.
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the colony by his examinatlon of its mineral wealth,the generous
Franklin got up this contribution.He himsgelf,headed the 113t.of
subscribers,wlth £10C;in the then state of his own.popularity in
Van Dieman's Land,the remaining £300 represent no small sacrifice
to friendship.The money was accompanlied by a watch,and with 1t,
Strzelecki was able to finance the publication of the book "Physical
Description of New South Wales and Van Dieman's Land" from which
8o wuch material has here been used.

That,however,dld not end his money troubles.By his own
account,he had been travelling by hand to mouth methods ~--collecting
and sedling in one rlace enough to get him to the next.One Austral-
lan account ghows hls poverty out there =--the intense surprise
with which a group of men greeted the arrival of the Count(a title
they associated with wealth and grandeur)who Joined their narty
poorly eguipped and on foot.

Now was thg time ﬁhen Strzeleckl felt himself jJjustified
in hoping for help from the British government.Some years before
when Strzelecki had first reached Australia and had begun mineral
analysis,Glpps had encouraged him with the promise that the
government would refund one half of the money he gpent in research
and there the matter rested.That was before the reception given to
Gipps Bounty bill,and the Governor was probably gulte sure that the
metter would be settled in the way he thought.lMany events,including
the depression,followed,and the poslition had altered considerably
even before 1843.Strzelecki must have known that the government
would hardly be in a favourable mood for receiving a bill for
work done 1ln the colonies,no matter how valuable for the crown or
state he might prove 1t to be.He had trusted to Giprs,but the later
himgelf lacked the support of the secretary for the coloniles.It is
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' no wonder Strzelecki falled to secure it.

He had travelled as economlgally as possible,but those
f were times of soaring prices,prices which astonished him,as he
# records in a letter to Adyna.The seven thousand mlles he had gone
. in Australia,necessitated horses,food,stores,clothing for himself
and hls servant;travel,by sea or coasch was dear,lodging dear;he
returned with a total expenditure of £5000,and in splte of the
troubles in New South Wales,of which he had been a witness,he hoped
to recover half from the Treasury.

For he had a trump card,in the form of a signal service
he had rendered Giprs and the government Giprs represented.Strzelekxl
| had made the Governor a promise,and kept it,at some cost to himself.
He had injured himsgelf- materially and had let the aspersion of a
serlous omisslon rest on his sclentiflic reputation,of which he was
very sensitive,and now expected to have that constitute a claim on
Gilprs and the government. '

When Sir George reached London,in 1846,he was not only
in failing health,but his vosition was gone.In spite of sops to
his pride,it wzs generally known that he had fallen before the

onslaughts of the parties he had attacked,and,as protector,hls was

a sinking star.Although,for the last few week:z of his life,hils
advice was asked about the bills(Order in Council 1847 and Waste
Lands Occupation Act, 1846) his influence had wained,and an apnlic-
atlon with his backlng would not gain by the aassociation of his
name.Even that small suprort was withdrawn in February 1847,when
he died suddenly.The matter of Strzeleckl's debt was left out-
standing,and the governument refused to refund him so much as a

penny .
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He was left then,high and dry,financlially,stranded in
London,not penniless,but with very little money.The book naturally
did not bring in royalties in cash.We do not know what he did,
for no-récord survives,but here is the explanatlion why he did not
g0 back to Poland to see his Pamily,and why he did not triumphantly
as plamned in his letters,in Paris or Berlin or Geneva,clalm his
patient flancee.
‘ Instead,time pegsed,long enough to bring the "Ph}sical
Description"™ to the notice of people interested in exploration
and geology.THe year which saw it launched on %%is career marked
one of the cruclial points in Strzelecki's 1ife.In'|845,he saw
the book through the press,and on the 28th of liovember, 1845,he
completed his naturalisation as an English subject f??)

Naturalisation 18 a2 daté in =2 man's biography‘nlmost as
lmportant as birthyand owing much more to thée doer's wolitlon.I
have tried to show the formal acknawlédgement of a new aileglénce
was the outcome of a long course of chenge of thought,the fruit of
experience,reflection and self gearching,and no whim.Strzelecki
was always consistent with himgelf;the more one studies his 1ife,
the more clearly the early developement of his treits anpears.Over
and over,an early act foreshadows & later;as an old man he does
what as & young man he wanted to do or planned to have done 1f‘
certain clrecumgtances arose.le became Tnglish in legal fact,ﬁs ﬁé-
was already English by conviction.It only marked what was alresdy
80,But still,for a nineteenth centilry Pole, it wes ::':ﬁ.g:"mlficantl. e

The time waes 'Dosslble for such a stepjthe Rising of 1830
Wag long since stamped out,that of 1863 not begﬁn,but Polish

natlonality was not sleeping between tlle Lwo.Strzelecki's own

aedatinis
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the younger generation'of cousins and nephews who had grown up 1in
his absence,were all at work on the task of keeping the idea of
Poland zlive.When Strzelecki renounced his right to call himsgelf a
Pole,he did more than the citizen of s happy country would have done
in leaving 1t;to abandon a mother in misfortune 1s a deeper break
than to depart from her prosperous;he gave up the right to work and
feel for that liberty of which he had sald so glowingly that he
would sacrifice for 1t everything but hls love.He did 1t because
his feelings had grown to the state when he could do it.

With that act,the ghost of his youth was finally laid.
Though he kept' the foreign sounding name with its too complicated
spelling,there was nothing else to mark his difference from the
people around him.A spare,erect figure,browned by hot suns,with the
plercing eyes of a man accustomed to finding a road where there
had been none before,a Pole become Englisghman,who had mastered the
idiom and learned the customs,won the friendship and earnéd the
respect of the nation on earth least friendly to foreigners,there
was nothing of the old unregenerate Strzeleckl left,to outward
showing.Perhars a shadow of him lingered in the memory of that
slster whem he never revislted,and in the heart of the woman who
loved the youné Strzelecki for half a lifetlime,and remained true
1to him for the rest of it.Only underneath,beneath the superficial
differences,the qualities,good and bad,whichhgd been in him at the

beglnning,were the same which moved him when he was old.

He never went back to Péland.As soon as he was naturalised
there would have been no trouble in his doing so.Financially,he
,eould have done it,since money he seemed to have at this time and
dater,enough for trips to Paris,to Geneva,to Spa.It was in Geneva

that the elderly lovers played out the last act of their long
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tragl-comedy.It took place,this long hored for,long deferred meet-
ing meeting(the dates are hard to establish) somewhere between 1866
and 1868.She was then sixty,he seventy odd.There is no reason given
why he should have let so many jears pass between his brave promises
and this final frustration of them,when thelir earlier narting was
renewed,with no hope of coming together again.They realised that
theynad left it too late,and gepardted.

She went back to Poland,to svend thé last thirteen years
of her life in the same futile patience as hsd filled the rest of

ityand died an old woman,having survived her gtillborn elonpement

by sixty years.Her impetuous wooer,who,after having beéen unable to
walt even a day to posgess hls bride,had let forty eight years
pass without decisive action,withdrew to England,to his c¢lub,his
friends,his honours,and his whole comfortable batchelor existence.
The earlier bright spirit had indeed burned down,and his subsequent
adventures were to be of a pubtler kind.

This rounding off of the unfortunate Alexandra's nart in
Strzeleckl's life has outrun the actual date of the publication of
the "Physical Descriptlion" which was back in the year 1845.

The world into which Strzelecki settled seemed safe
enough,wlth few clouds on the horlizon.The Queen,attendgd,shaped,
guided by the decorous Teutonic Albert,with his black ringlets of
‘almost Hebraic luxuriance,was the hapry young wife,surrounded by
nursery every dutifal year saw extended,and the nation took from
ier the tone of the domestic virtues.Gladstone and Disraell were
iti1l young men,Palmerston serving his long apprenticeship to
ower,the familiar figure of the Duke,stéon and Jjutting nose

plete,presided at state ceremonies.Those in power were somewhat
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concerned with the feilure of the Irish potato crop.Peel's mind was
veering towards free trade,but the veteran statesman stood like a
rock."Rotten potatoes have done it all" he grumbled:"they have put
Peel in his a@amned fright" but the affair was not yet serious enough
to rouse general interest.A few Irish in trouble,more or less,was
no novelty.The new thing under the sun would have been a lack of
trouble across the Irish Channel.

Iﬁ short,once resigned to losing his £2500,1ife in London
flowed temperately for the returned wanderer,whom England had
accepted as her new son without emotion,but with consliderable
notice of the sort he craved most.Strzelecki,not yet famous,was
at least becoming known.

The publication of his book brought him into a new circle.
The Royal Geograrhical Soclety,in honouring him,drew hlm into the
fold of all that was most safe in that securest of all possible
decades.The Soclety,which invited him to 1its meetinge,vwas like a
¢lub,revealing to him within its doors an institution only Englamd
could heve produced.It recelved him,not asa a2 foreign honorary
member,but as one who could seek admisaion on his merits on the
seme terms as those who had been admitted before him.The man who
had cut hils way through scrub,or tottered uncertainly on sapplings
swaying on its top,starved,and burned in barren gullies and trople
Jungles,or frozen in the Lithuanian foresis,the pesks of Polynesila
or the eternal snows of Chile,had his firast glimpse of the wages
of sclentiflc virtue--the comforteble 1library,the soft carpets,the

| well fitting doors of 2 bulwark of Victorian solidarity.
At the meeting of 1844,and again in 1845,51r Rederie

Yurchison made him complementary reference in his ammual address,
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and preised the "Physlcel Descrintion” whick he recommended. to. the
favourable notlice of members. _THEY
The preatest triuwph ceme in_ 1846,vwhen the Royal Geograph-
icedlSociety held a meeting in May,and solemnly conferred on
Strzelecki--"Count Strzelecki"(78) the gold "Founders Medal" for
the dlscovery of gold in Austrelia,the detzlls.of which are sﬁmmar-
ised next chapter.It was a dignified occasion,rounded,completed;
heavy with the graviiy of the period.Cver the group of sage,
reputable men gathered to honour one of their peers,hung that aroma
of - gobrelty,worality,rectitude,which the place and the cecasion
nwade lnevitesble.A pity the Saplehas were mlssing,to see thelr
errent belliff,Mr Turno,to obgerve his impetuous friendl
he members wade the appropriate speeches,tihe reguisite
compliments in full,gonorous,Victorian, progse.Lord Colchester
presidedStrzeleckl's fame,his sclentific reputation,his achieve-
ments,were the theme of his addrese.The guest of honour,the medal
leureste replied suitably,thanking the donor and members for the
"great snd brightest honour that I could ever expect in this
adopted country. of mine" and promises more. fruit of his researches
which hie published works had not exhausted.”"tShould my health.
allow me to cope successfully with the evils of a sedentary life--"
. =~he had mastered by thls time the lsnguage of hls contemporaries,
caught the wvery tone--"I shall be but too proud to lay before the
Royel Georgrzrhicel Soclety further results of those resesrches
end thusg Justify perhaps the generous sentiments with which your
Lordship and the Geographiegal Soclety have this day honoured me"
When the meeting broke up,cabs jJjingled to the door,and the
members drove homé through the spring night,past the flowering
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chestnuts of Hyde Park,lighted ur by the geslamps,in the streets
made orderly by the police,end back to thelr decorous homes.They
were to gather again,in Strzelecki's honour & few years laten,when,
in 1853 ,he was elected member,Fellow of the Royal Soclety, proposed
by Sir Roderic Murchison,on a meeting in June)853. 7

They accepted him at hie own valuation.The modesty he
professed did not prevent a tingue of romance creeping in:Having
firmly esteblished himself as wmember of the Strzeleckis,Galicien
counte,he joined his mother,the unworli%diainherited Anna Raczyhske
to the proud Poznan family of gounts Raczyfski,and mede GYuszyna
part of her dowery,;a manorhouse where once at least,the French
gtaff held its headquarters,and housed General Marmont.It was all
very natural,given Strzeleckl's temperament.His simple way of
living,hls comperative poverty,which well beceme a man of gclence,
were stlll brirhter against the background of a rich and splendid
descent.Cincinnatus himgelf,leaving a pslace for the delights of
sclentific agriculture,could hardly have worn his philosovher's

maentle more becomingly.

But,in that mild evening of his receiving the Founders'

’Medal,aa the fellows dispersed over London,thoughtful and faresighted
[men were watching the spread of a digease,prevalent in obscure
corners of Central Europe;it came,they did not know whence,and it

' ettacked potatoes.Those who knew,looked grave.
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Page 111

(77)The fact of hisg naturalisation has been questioned,
s0 I went to the home office and had the document verified.The
naturaligation record is No. 278,dated 28,11.45.Though I did not
see it,there is no reason to doubt the fact of ite existence.

Page 115

(78)The retaining and use of = Foreign title after
naturallsation in a country where Count implied a foreign er
ie certainly striking as a metter of bad taste,though a Pole may
not grasp the implications of such an aristocracy as that of
England.In Poland,titles were slmogt always forelgn,and implied
that some member of the family bearing one hed distinguished
' himself in the service of his country ebroad or in the services of
a foreign prince.As Poles moreover,ape accustomed to add a title

‘when travelling to stress the high standing of Polish nobility

' sluce there are few if any true Polish titleg,allowance must be
made,but the writer's own view 1s that Strzelecki had » feeling
for a title,zs such,which must be imputed to him for a breach in
taste.
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XV
GOLD

His second bock written to prove priority of clasim.--Strzelecki's
attitude to gold.

The discovery of Gipgsland and Mount Kosciusko meke up
one of Strzeleckl's achlievemente in the mnnals of Australian explor-
atlon.For theum,he has received little enough recognition beyond the
ephemeral rraise of a2 newspaper,a testimony from a smell pert of
the communlity of Tasmania,and a2 few complimentary references at

. meetlings of a2 learned society in London.For his second important
dlscovery he received a medal from that same Royal Geographical
Soclety,and nothing else.Most histories deny him the bare fact of
Tirst discovery,others dismiss his claimg slightingly(79) but it is
Strzelecki,the geologist,who,as he specifically claims,came to
Australia for mineral examinatlon of the country,to whom the credit

- for the actual discovery of gold is due.Edwsrd Hammond Hargraves,

- who got the credit and the cash reward,was responsible for the
practical application of a method of working gold,and for this
comierclal exploltation of the minerazl,he deserves the notice and
rrize money he got;but it is injust to deny the credit of priority
to 2 man who found the rresence of gold twenty years before Har-
graves ever went to Californla to see cradles in use.

It was as early as 1839,when Strzelecki,returning from one
of his exploring trips in the interior,came to Sir George Gipns
with momentous news.He reported the discovery,in the Vale of Clwydd

that he had detected the presence of gold.Zven so,he wzs not the

i first man to mentlion it.Some years before,a convict had come in

'rlink 11:

for theft.But,ass it is possible that the Judgo s verdict wes s true

ith small fragments,which he said he had picked up—-and was rlo ?d 1!

;a
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one,and the man had stollen hls scraps,and in any case,since,when
asked to prove his claim,he could not show the place where he said
he had found it the first time,even if it was a lucky accident,the
man was more like a jackdaw,picking up anything bright,than a man
who could appreciate and use hls discovery,so the existence of gold
remained virtually unsuspected till Strzeleckl's time.

Thig was something different.The two men,Governor and
explorer, looked at each other with grave faces as the full implic-
ations of it dawned on them both.The Governor was the more concern-
ed;Sir George Gipps was more qualified to see the danger confronting
them.Much depended on the character on the man who had brought the
news.Gold meant blind lust,pesssion,;excitement,crime;it meant in
the forties what 1t proved in the sixtles,with another element
throm 1in.In the time of Gipps,New South Wales was a penal colony,
the home of violent and desperate men.The knowledge of gold would
sweep from end to end of the country like fire,and like it,too,
leave destruction behind it.The comvicts would be beyond control,
and all that had been built up--little enough the disillusioned
Gipps may have found it,but still sixty years of work--would crash
in the freeing of one of man's oldest,strongest passions.So the
sltuation appeared to the Governor.The frail dam against all that
hig imagination painted him of horror and desolatlon depended on
the character of the man before him,who was,moreover,poor.

Gipps had trump cards,and played them.Strzelecki,he knew,
would not see the danger of convict riot as darkly as he did --the
Pole saw the colony and its involuntary colonists in too rosy terma.
But Strzelecki admired England,and the English,and that specimen df
the governing class of Englandqwho'gonfron;eﬁ him 1n perplexity.A
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request from the Governor would carry weight.Sir George began,
carefully,to put the matter before him.And came up against a
curibus mixture.The explorer was ready to sacrifice himgelf for
= the public good.Gold,to him,was not go important as the welbelng
of the colony.He would waive his claims,as a man and as an explorer;
but ~-he owed himself something,se a geologist.He had a reputatlon,
and a duty to it.The result of the strange impasse shows 1in the
dead and gone files of the time-~report to the Governor,incorporated
ag a dispatch to yord John Russell,a letter to the Herald,a cautlous
letter or so.The whole drama of this diecovery of a smoking bomb,
guppressed for twenty years,lies in a passage in the Report,where
honesty,sclentific dues,and the Governor's fears find a delicate
balance.Strzelecki mentioned,in a safe drift of other mlnerals,
"en aureferous sulphuret of ipvéd,ylelding a very small gquantity of
gold,although not enough to repay extraction" That sentence
containa the clue to much that,unrevealed by 1t,remains puzzling
in Strzelecki's story.Was it careful subediting,a model piece of
understetement,safe to put into the hands of even the most optimist-
adventure seeker,and never blow up? Did Strzeleckl realise at all
the full significance of hig discovery,or was he like the man who

held the Philospher's stone,and threw 1t away,unknowing?

In his first book,"Physical Description of New South Wales" etc

- there 1s no reference made to it.He pursued his life on the lines

described,till after the next lmportant group of events which are

concerned with the poteto femine in Ireland,came back to England,
f and took up the tenor of his sheltered existence again.

. In 1856,8trzelecki broke his long silence with a second
book.By that time,events had wmoved him to reply,and the book called




120
"@old and Silver;A Suppliment to the Physical Description of New
. South Wales and VanDieman's Land" was a defence of his claim to the
right of priority of discovery.

The foreword ls the public Strzeleckl,the model of dlisin-
| terested conduct,and in itself,an extraordinary document.

"My object in publishing this suppliment is less to claim
honour or ceedit as a dilscoverer of gold in Australia,than to protect
- myself against the imputation of negligence or incapaclty as a
geological 2nd minerological surveyor.

If the maps,sections and specimens of rocks which
illustrate my survey of New South Wales and Van Dieman's Land were
such that their examination in London and subsequent comparison
with analogous evidence from the Ural mountaing,led to the scient-
, ific coneclusion that gold existed and probably abounded in certain
districts of Australia,l must have been wholly unfit for the under-
t2king,if ,when I made that aurvey,which cost me £5000&8--that loss
was still remembered,it seems--"and five years of labour,no glimmer-
ing of this important truth broke on me. The following pages will
show,however,that in 1839,on the spot,l arrived at the game conclus-
ion to which,five years later,the distinguished author of "Siberia"
was led,without the aid of personal inspection of the ground"

That needs a word or two of explanation. When Edward Har-
graves showed the use of the cradle,and interest was aroused in
the matter,information was at once forthcoming from varlious sources
. about Australian gold.Clark,who claimed with Strzelecki priority
of discovery,told his experiences;Sir Roderic lMurchison,who had
long been Strzeleckl's friend,wrote a book giving the result of
his findings in the gold bearing Russian H?als,and drew the infer-
erence that in Australia,which he never visited,exactly similar
eonditions would show the presence of the ssme metel.Hargraves was
accleimed and rewarded,and this little book,now forgotten,was
Strzelecki's broadside in reply,heavily weighted as we shall see,
in favour of his reputatidn,which he considered in jeapardy.Ilt was
that,it is limportent to notice,and not hig logt fortune,for which
" he was moved to tzke up arms.

The affair was important,and well in the public interest;
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“it wes being aired In the Australian parliament--that of New South

Wales,where higs friend James Macarthur was vocal in his behalf.The

time had come to hear Strzlecki himself.

"I have long delayed this publicstion in the hope of being
able to add to it from official sources;but as these have. remained
cloged to me,l am obliged to rely prrincipally upon the reported
debates in the Colonisl Leglslature. It may be collected from these
that in 1839 I mentlioned the existence of a gold fleld in the
Bathurst district to Sir George Gipps,the then Governor General of
New South Wales,who requested me to keep the matter secret for fear
of the severe consequences which,considering the conditlon and
- population of the colony,were to be arprehended. Of course I complied
- with this request;and I deemed 1t my duty,whether right or wrong

to be also gilent on the subject in my book and in my communication
with learned bodies in Iurope;although I did not consider myself
restricted from mentioning whet had occurred to the private friends
of Sir George Gipps and myself in Sydney.

"This is not the place to gpeculate on the wisdom of the

| course adopted by the Governor,but it will be sdmitted thst 1T he
. had ordesined or authorised the ilmmedlate prosecution of the requis-
! 1te resesrches in the district indicsted by me,the prosperity in

which the colony 1= now revelling,together with the reflected
beneflt which the mother country enjoys,would have been accelerated
Ly Beveral years,and (what more especislly concerns me) no doubts
|l would ever have been ralsed as to the respective priority.or
' rrecedence of discoverers.

"The little eagerness I have shown to szdvance my cleims (be

| they what they may) will,I hope,render it slmost superfluous for
me to state that 1 ar actuated by no wish to dispute or depreclate
leither the value or the originslity of the scientific deduction
which preceded and prologed the practiczl dewveloteméntnend confirm-
atlon of ny views. The sagacity snd eminent attalnments of Sir
Roderic Murchigon were never more strikingly nor usefully disrlayed
than in compelling attention to the hidden richness of Austrelia,
gnd the history of sclence abounds with 1lnstances of %km competing
claims to the honours of discovery,each of which may be recogniszed

to a certsin degree without Impeaching the soundness or originality o
f the rest"

with that careful setting out of hig sbselutely disinter-
gsted motives,he goes on the posltlion which hed developped out of
he actlon of the leglglative Councll of New South: Wales,at g sitt-
inz held on 5th October,1853.Hls friend Mscarthur was a wmember,end
en ancther lsndowner rose to propoge that a gubstential grant

money should be made to Hargraves,sg first discoverer of gold,

gcarthur got up to prove that the present clailmant to p;lga
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many years behind the actual event. He read out = letter from
strzelecki,written in 1839,whilich mentioned the discovery of gold,
and also silver "both serving as sirong indivetion of the exlgtence
of these preclous netals in. New South VWales.It wes beyond my power
to tpace these veins,or posalbility to pscertzin thelr gege.l would
have done 8o with pleasure pro bono publico --but my time wag shori,
. 80 were the hands. I regret that the government,having reserved
all the.mines for its benefit,did not pend & gclentific m§n_tru1ytu
miner znd minerologist,to lay open those hildden resources,which
. may prove as beneficiel to the state.and lndustry as the rest of
+he branches of colonial industry" _

It arpeared,too,thst even if stirzelecki were out of the way,
Hergraves could still only claim adaptation of the cradle to gold
washing in Australla,for at the game time as the ?016 found hilg
gold field,the Hew W.B.Clerk had suspected the existence of gold,
end he had exchanged 2 few letters with Strzelecki on the subject
before being in hisg turn sworn to sgecrecy by the cautlous Giprs.

Strzelecki,moreover,thqugh honourably silent.in his pub;isheﬁ
work,wrote to Jsmes Walker about the same time as he did to. James
Vecarthur.He eveﬁ,senn one or two guarded letters to the Sydney
Hersld of the time. All these facts Macarthur pointed out in supnort
of Hargraves' reward being limited to one made for the value of
cradle washing,and a like sum golng to the real discoverers.He was
Hot successful.The session ended in the grant being made to Hrrgraves
o1 the Dractical use to which e had put kis discovery,while the
sclentists who preceded him were bldden be contentkﬁiih‘their
"eonsldersble reputstion" and it was all they could do.Thus,if Clark
snd Strzelecki wanted material sdvantage,they found themgelves badly

out of pocket for the loyslty with which they had kept Gipra' order

e
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having only the vhilosophical truth that virtue ls not only its own
reward,but frequently its only one. James Macarthur commended their
disinterestedness,that must have been a comfort;Strzleckl dearly

| loved the mentle of incorruptible scientific wvirtue;lMacarthur
expressed himself forcibly on gold as a curse,not a blessing to the
young colony,paralysing industry,and promoting restless adventuring.
' The gold rush conditions smply Justified his fears.

The Times of January 16th 1854 reviewed the foregolng debate
in & leading article,and roundly condemned éippa' excesslve cautlon
/ by which that eld,which might have lifted the embarrassed colony
out of its difficulties and set it on its feet with much lessened
' suffering during the depression of the early forties,had been with-
held for ten years.Sir David Brewster in the North British Review
. for August 1854(page 530) gives the following statistics of what
the discovery meent in cashi

(Figures for March 1852)
In Victoria

' Gold shipped and resdy to be shipped = = = - = - = 700,000 ozs.
Value 8.1.': 83 pel‘ Oz - 3 - - .. - - - . . . - . . - .22.000.000

Value of licences issued « = = = = = = = = = = = = £490,386
Average monthly earnings of each miner = & - - - - £42,10,

In N.8.W.
Amount of go0ld = = = = =« = = = = = = = = = = = = 320,000 ozs
B30 ot BN DEF O = mom oo w8 £060,000
ILicences igsued - - = = = - - - - = === == = £30.781

Konthly average of each miner - - = = = « = - = £31.3

out of all this,the man to whom the actual and undemisble
eredit of being the first discoverer is due,got not one penny,nor
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an inch ss clailm of the valuable gold fields at Bathurst whose
existence he first made known.Paul Edmund Strzeleckl acquiesced in
thig,and made né comment,either then or later,save his dignified
protest on behalf of his scientific Judgement,with which he prefaced
his second bock.And this,at & time when he wes badly in need of
money-~I1 refer to the time when he was actually in Austrzlia,horing
to find 2 financlal way to marriage.

When the quotation glven above was written,Strzelecki
wes living quletly in London,contented,as far as we can see,znd
busy about hls sc¢lentific work,but stlll mot very well to do,and
st1ll unmarried.Yet there is no trace of rancour,even concealed,
beyond his dislike that men should think him an incarable geologdst.
While he was indifferently watching the sction of the New South
Wales Legislative Council,he knew that gold "polson 6 men's souls"
was pourlng out of Australlian goldmines under the very soil over
which he had tramped,poor;where he had scraped a bare living by
risking hls heslth and life,men were making fabulous fortunes of
easy money.The man who,for lack of money,had risked a very ugly
blot on hls honour,back in Lithuania,was now,older,though herdly
- richer,able to despise it and let it lie.Such are the facts.

Dld Strzeleckl,when he mentioned gold to Gipps,reaslise
how much there was of it? Was his analysis 2s its being in no
sufficlient quantity to make 1ts working repvay the effort,a remark
dictated by the Governor,or was it Strzelecki's conslidered opinion?%
I believe it was Strzelecki's own view.The gold depogits of Austral-
vere patchy;we hear over and over of men sterving for a few grains
& bare foot or so removed from the place where rich nuggets came

to the surface.If that 1s so,it explains a nunber of details hard
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to reconcile,If he did actuzlly find zold--and there 1s no doubt,
of thls --in the place he mentlioned,it may easily have been in a
Yery smell quesntity.He reported the circumstance,simply,as it
struck him.Gold was present,in small gquantities.Gold for him wzs a
mineral,like any other he might find cause to report.In.the amount
he found it,1t was nothing more.But to the Governor,no geologlst,
but a layman,gold meant what it would mean to the men he govermed
--what 1t meant to the men who rushed California,the Klondyke,
Ballarat.He knew the word would be enough to rouse men to dream
of lmpossible things,end to lose in the young state all the least
governable elements.Hls prohlibition to the FPole would have been
ageinst the speaking of such an inflammatory namé in such an unatable'
soclety.He, probably no more than Strzeleckl,reallised the magnitude
of the thing they were handling.Thig belng so,and this sobering
doctrine spread abroad,Strzeleckl and Clark were harmless gentle-
men of sclentific interests,whose business was with stones and
specimens of rocks.The thought of Strzeleckl's gold was not alluring
enough to have James lacarthur send out a shepherd and & boy or
two to the place his friend had indicated,to hasten the gold rush
by many years.That,and the known fact that Strzeleckil talked of his
dlscovery in Sydney;yet in such terms that he fired no man to go
end see;that 1s proof that he was almost as ignorant,excent in the
analytic,scientific sense to which I have referred,as the men about
him.If he had known,and,wanting Adyna,had been silent,he would have
been more than a man.If he had guessed the importance of the depos-
its,and left them unexplored for lack of a little tine~~when he was
willing to fritter away a few years on aimless voyaging,he would

have been a fTool.

Strzelecki brushed the edge of a great @1agggﬁg+yf“”““-
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its entirity,was not to be revealed at his hands.lLike Murchigon,he
reasoned correctly from his gilven materials,and his concluslon was
sound,but it was not strzelecki's role in Australian minerology to
do the practical thing.He pointed out,advised and stated the absol-
ute truths of agriculture,geologf.The credit for the putting of
Australisn gold into the hends of the peoprle,was Hargraves' and the
money he recelved was a Just recognitlon of his work in doing that.
But --Strzeleckl was the actual man to whom the credlt for the
first authentic recording of the presence of gold belongs.He did
not seek money,and did not get it.He looked for his rights in the
gubtler coin of recognition,which the Australian government of his
time Henied him,and Australians have continued to belittle hig
shere ever since.That is not Just,and it is time that he had his
| full meed of praise and acknowledgement,even now,when the 1ssue

is of no practical importance to anybody.
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PART IV
A VICTORIAN PHILANTHROPIST
xv1
THE IRISH FAMINE
Strzelecki was completely at home in hig new role.The
world to which he had sttached himself voluntarlily,was sgerious and
well meaning.It was consclentious to a2 fault,snd the question of
' moral responsibility engaged such men as education and leisure
marked out for menaging the affsirs of the less fortunate,to the
full expectatlon 6f Victorian earnestness.Untroubled by the doubtis
of & latter generstion,they ranged themselves unquestioningly on the
side of the angels in a universal affirmation;man was at heart |
zood,and reclamable from vice.With improvement of his meterial
condition,the millenium wzs not g0 far distent.If oprortunity for
culture and aself imrrovemelt,for sweetness and light,were rit in
the way of the humbtler clamgses of soclety,improvement must inevit-
ably follow.Only the outward means werellacking.Accepting such a
theory,philanthrophy "the most priggish of hobbles" must follow no
less 1inevitably than improvement of the lower orders.Strzeleckl,
the mild mannered and law abiding man of scienée,iaﬂ now ready to
d1stinguish himgelf in » fresh fleld.Seldom hed anyone such a
terrain for experiment.Strzeleckl,who had been enbitious from
childhood,wss fortunate in this sYove the general run of menthe
no sooner determined on a course than unprecedented possibilities
reverled themselves before him.As minerologist,gold,as .explorer,

tiue Augtralian alps snd uncharted Glilprsland;zs phllanthropist,

t lreland.

As early as 1845,there had been trouble with the potato
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erop.The blight which had done such. awful demage in Hungary Belgium,
France and Germeny,reached Irelsnd.The sumper wos unugually wet
Liat yearj;and the incessant rain uwade the early crop scanty;when
the later crop,which had beeu put down apparently healthy into nits,
was redug,instead of food there were only masses of black slime<And
the. ruined suprly was. the staple food of the poor of Ireland,that
class whom Catholocligm,with its insistence on. early marriage had
lncreased and srread over the undrained bogs and stony fields of a
cuountry at best poor.

Things were bad enough in Ireland at ordinary times,but they
were now infinitely worse.The situstion brought Pefl round to see
the advantrges of free trade,but even though the corn laws were
repealed in 1846,the regult could not be immediate,and the Irish
continued to starve,and the level of living of the worst housed,
worst clothed and fed peasantry of the world droprped to a state
which shocked public opinion among people even used to normal
conditions in Ireland.At the best of times;the poor were not far
from starvation,and now they were starving in grim earnest,on a
scale which rousged an instant response In England and Americsa.id
wave of gympathy weat over these countries,and reople set themselves
to relief measures.But it was not ezgy to help on such a huge scale.
"The relief of a nation suddenly deprived of its food supplies and
without the means of substltuting cthers is a stupendous task.

It requires constructive genius,cologsal organisation and heavy
financial aid"(80)

A Royal Commission was immedistely aprointed to inquire
into the »roblem of relief,and its first messure wes to svend
£100.000 on Indian corn.But 1t was not so easy to help the Irish.
The peasants were so lgnorant,so downtrodden,and so accustomed to

ferr anything new,that a wall of suspicion and doubt separated
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them from those trying to help them.The lidea wes strongly held that
anything from England,even corn was an attempt to undermine thelr
religion.So the corn did not help,The next attempt was the organis~
ation of public relief works.But these did not solve the difficulty
—-the famine was too big to be checked.In 184€,7Tive thousand pleces
of work were in progress,and the committee was recelving eight
hundred letters or appeals for help every day.In October,114.000
people were employed,in lovember 285:000.The figures of those wholly
dependent for life on relief rose steadily in the months thatb
followed.In December,there were 440,000,In January,470.000,1in
February,570.000,and in March the figures went up to T34 ,000,The
cost went up to £1.050.772. 3000.000 were aided monthly.The country
wes divided into districts,the local effort hesded by landowners
on the spot,while each parish was put 1n_the charge of & group of
Engligh women,who did all they could to collect and send things
needed to a2id the victims.
When it beceme clear that the relief works were not always
helping the right people(81) commissioners from England then began
direct rellef in the shape of food.3.020.912 people got-a .geparate
iggue of ratlons,and of these 755, 178 were ciildren.

The Queen procleimed = day of prayer.£1000.000 wasg rrivately
subscribed while the government gave £%,371.529 as a free grant
and £7.132.268 as loan,which was not demanded baclk. "The best brains
in the English public service were put ‘on the Jjob"(82)
One of the first reactions of British opinion was the
creastion of a "British Relief Assoclation" to administer the money
collected to help the destitute.Many leading English bankers and
merchants were on the committee,amongﬁ?;.Jonea Loyd,better known as

Lord Overstone,who was elected chalrman.
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He was a friend of Strzelecki's,snd the latter,on hisg proposal,was
chosen ss one of the persons of trust to go to Irelsnd as active
agents and see that the suprlles were distributed to reach the
people who needed them most.

The committee lmmediately set itself to the practical aspects
of relief.The generous responge the public made to thelr apresl
for funds put them in a position where they could act quickly and
adequately.Food,and sgents to distribute 1t,was sent at once.

Strzelecki wes put 'in charge of the counties of Meyo and S51liga
He arrived,and was apprzlled at what he saw.lLike all the commissions,
his experiences surpassed anythling of horror he had been able to
imagine.The conditions were so terrible thst there was only one
thing to do --work,and work,to bring some sgort of order even 1into
the parcelling out of relief.Food was walting,at certain points;a
few miles away,people in desrerate need were dylng for want of 1t
the problem was how to reach them all quickly enough.

Strzelecki's first report shows the impression hils surround-
ings made on him."No pen can describe the distress by which I am
surrounded.lIt has actually reached such a degree of lementable
extremes that it becomes above the power of exaggeratian and
misrepresentation. You may now believe anything which you hear and
read,because what I pctuallz'see surpasgses what I ever read of
past and present calamities" (83)

The gincerity of his shocked surprise gave him an eloquence
he did not usumlly command.

The work went onj;clericel work,on the one hand,the worry
and responslibllity of administering public money,¥keeping accounts,
ordering and checking supplies,and on the other the more urgent
work--the giving out of food,felt to be so pressing that every
inute away from it meant human lives.The practical work was back

reaking as well as heartbreaking.The worst ceses had tocbe found
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studied and relieved,work ‘to be superintended,the ignorant
rrotected from themselves and the badness of others,saved,restrain-
ed and guarded from stupidity,superstition and crime.Whenever the
commissioners stirred abroad,they were besleged by crowds of starv-
ing,naked,desperate creatures,beseeching them,lilke God,for =2id,
and their progress was followed by blessings,and cursges.The respon-
sibilities were as heavy as the work.So much to do,and the conseq-
uences of falling in any particular gso ghastly.

They did not fall,if in such circumstances,faced by 1llnesgs
and fauine,anyoné could hdve giec¢endad But Strzelecki was not to
escape without having something personal by which to remember the
famine years.He got an attack of the terrible fever which came &s
a result of the famine.He,who had so often complained of falling
health,now,when too busy toe think of it,underwent such a severe
atteck that he never fully recovered the health he had possessed
before.

4t the end of the year 1846,1it was decided to withdraw the
agenta,for the biggest part of the work had been done;relief had
been organised,and though the degree of migery was atill extreme,
measures against it had gone sc far that the English commissioners
were no longer ﬁrgently needed .But though,as Strzeleckl wrote
"the affeeting and heart rending c¢rowds of dlistitutes had disappear-
ed" those direeting from London the distribution of food,decided
to keep Him longer,and transferred him to Dublin ag sole sgent to
supervige the work carried on during tlie winter of 1847.

The press of Immediate,dayby day,work was over,however,and
he set himgelf with the patient,careful thoroughness which had

become charascteristic of what he did,to lay foundationa to prevent
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any famine which.might come leter from deing so much damage.le

| aimed et la Jing foundstions for better conditions in the future,

' Here.was & btask where strrelecki hed individual gifte @o use in

the aervlce of his adopted country.ﬂe was pérticulerly well Titted
As 8 foreigner,he would be more welcome than an “ngllshman a Tole,
friend and ally of the French, traditional frievds and allies of
Irelend,gave bim yeig@p.Aa_a nomingl Catholigv-there is no evidence
that he practiced his religlon,but he waéidefinitely not Protestant
in the ¥#iéwhofthesIrish Driesthood--he would be less likely to
weke suspicion ambng the clergy,end rouse then to stampede.the
peasantry aginst his reforms wlth the age 0ld coupling of Engligh
znd sntil Castholic.He hed another trump card.As lzndovner end
bailliff,he had had experlence of dealing with a totally ignorant,
111iterste,dirty peasentry,on whom the recent femine and his share
of relief work had given him some sort of hold.

He planned for the'future.Hia gcore was limited,since he
had only to do with the funds of the Britigh Relief fssocistion,so
it is not surprising his influence did not go far.Put he aimed at
certain salutory reforms.Against the danger of renewed femine Dby
fallure of the staple article of Irish food,the potato,he tried to
work by 1ntroduéing other cheap foods into the diet of the poor--

z modern,gensible viewpolnt,not too widely understoed at that
time.To enforce that,and to suppliment 1t,he tried to introduce
hebits of cleanliness,specially among the younger generastion.Doing
thet,and recovering from the fever,years passed,and he did not
leave Ireland till 184¢.He had grown to be English out of England.,
He returned whet the English most easily absorb--a familiar figure,
part of the established order of life.Yore than thet,he returned
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"to find himself"(in 2 mild way) "famous" 2nd he was still young
enough to enjJoy it.But the great remedy for Ireland,that relieving
of streas Dby decreasing the population,immigration,observed during
the famine,he did not forget,back 1ln the charmed circle of his
London life.Ireland converted him:to the possibilities of immigrat-
lon,and showed him onﬁg gsource of settling material.pustralia
taught him a destinaticn for the stream of voluntary migration

oversess.
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(80) Sir James O'Connor History of Ireland.
Page 1290,
(81)(82) Ibid.
Page 130.

(83) Report sent by Strzelecki to the Commisgion.That ¥
the only reference I have for it,but imagine it is quoted in the

"History of Nodern England" by Herbert FPaul,
When revising,I found the reference smons those gent me
from revresentatives of the fanily in New York,snd added as an

arrendix.
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XVII

FINANCE

FAn attempt to reconcile certain facts about money--contradictionsa
and discrepancies.

This ls the most baffling and contradictory of all the
gquestlions one must ask oneself in collecting the facts of Strzel-
ecki's life.No amount of rearranging and manipulating can make the
scattered and mutually cahcelling pleces into & whole.The only
thing to do here 1s to marshal the facte occurring here aﬁd there
through the description of his life.

From his Polish background we get that his father was a
. poor man,almost ruined by the bad adminlstration of hils brqpher.
| The estate he bpought with the remains of hls money was small,and
the income of it small.

Annea Haczyﬁéka,?aul‘s mother,though the daughter of a rich
man,was herself penniless,brought up by relatives,and bringing to
her hushand no dowery.The scale of living in thelr home was simple.

Paul left his guardian in Warsaw with a handful of clothes
and money,and was orought home from destltution.

As soldier he could not keep within his income,and the
debts he ran up were pald with difficulty by his family.

He was too poor to asplre to a match with a Turno.

When quarreling with Eustace Sapleha,his poverty prrevented
him clearing himself from the charges.

The money which he brought from Poland witih him--in any
case,whether legacy or wages (the fact he was not condemned 1s &
ressonably strong proof it was not stollen) could not have been
‘very grest,and was exhausted by the time . he reached America.The

lest act of independent gentleman there was his aldinmg stranded
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soldiers.After that,he lived by working his way from place to'plﬁca
earning eneugh to carry him to the next storping point.

While in Austrelia,he lived as a poor man,surprising people
by the simplicity of his possessions.In his letters to Adyna,he
expressly states how he lived by sale of speclimens.Foverty 1is the
bar to marriage.Prices in Australie he finds very high.Bipps,seeing
gsomething of hig hardshlps,promised to refund part of hils éxpenaea.

Still,here he wes able to save,for he spegks 1in a letter
of money deposited with his bankers in Paris,and seemed to belleve
in the marrlage,though feeling their life would be a humble and
quiet one."The worst that can happen--according to present clrcum-
stances--1g,that upon belng united,we shall have to aail‘ﬁear the
gshore wnile others have the entire sea" That argues provigion.

When he returmed to Europé,and falled to get the money
from the government,he wab definitely poor for a time,which
Franklin's timely gift tided over.Then,during the quletlyeara of
little event =znd few chronicles wiich followed,2 material change
for the better took place.Strzeleckl during the last fifteen years
of his life,was well to do.He lived well,at a good address;Saville
Row 1s hardly the home of a poor man,even in those cheaper deys.He
had his own houée,a secretary,servants,horges,a carriage;he went
abroad,subscribved to charities--Zmichowska mentions & repular
yearly contribution of three hundred francs for Polish exilea,and
there must have been others to the English charities in which he
wes interested.

Thege things are fazets on record.Yet there 1z no sscertain-
able scurce of income,after the referen?e to enough money for

marrying,mentloned above.The ecale of Saville Row was hardly that



138

of a couple--Strzeleckl chese to ignore that ehe had money=~forced
to sell cloge to the ahére.Something must have come in between the
| pinched return and the comfortable late middle age.It was not his
work.Neither the FPhysiecal Deqcription nor_the second, smaller Gold
and Zillver would Le a source of income from roysltles.And,apart
from work on chariteble organisations,committees,end so on,he dld
not work,so far as we can trace.Materials he certalnly had,but did

not work them up,at any rate mot to publication stage.

¥here did the money come from? Not Poland,slince he dld mnot
claim‘%@a share of. the femily property.Not from Ausirallan gold,for
| he a@ld not claim any of the gold bearing ground,and the government
| did not compensate.

ind.ss the money ceme mysteriously,so it went wilthout trace.
Strzelecki's will,sworn for probate,wae under ten thousand pounds.
‘At a good rate of interest,it would hardly Dbring him more than
five hundred e year,and he could hardly have lived so well on thsat
gun,.There is 2 gap here,somewhere.In the will,he spoke vaguely of
bonds,but did not state what they were,or to what smount.He left
his property without specifying the sums involved,except for small
bejuests which prove nothing more than that his house was run on
a lavish sczle.Edch servent who had been with him more than & cer-
tein time,got & hundred pounds.The wording of it 1s all we have to
go on for the size of the staff,but it does not square with five
‘hundred a year.That is the important fact,for later considerastion.
' It is,this financlel puzzle,another one of Strzelecki's
gonglstenclies.His life brought him from the eighteénth century,to
within =~ life span of our own day,but bringing him nearer has not
de him clearer.Something in him eludes ug,in this 28 other aspedis.

is emsy to seay "this znd this he did" it 1s impossible to say
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"this--or that--he was"
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Finance.This merely brings together facts scattered
through the foregoing pasges,but can offer no explanation.If Shere
| were one, 1t wéuld be found in the unpublished Adyna letters.
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XVIIy
YEARS AND HONOURS

He had it all now.His return from Ireland, shaken in
health,wds a2 pérsonal triumph in its Way.In his grasp lay all
those things he hag dreamed of ag a boy,and sought so stormily as
& young man.And they had come when he still kept the nalvity to
aphreclate,not only what he was,but what he had.He wag well knowm
in a land which bozsted many renowned ﬁen'to hie sclentific writings
his explorations,he had added his philanthropy;Ireland hag glven
him his standing'in that group of men which included the most

famous;to Sir Rartle Frere and Sir Roderic Murchison,Lady Franklin
and Lord Overstone,he added the Herberts and the Gladstones.

The soclety of hig day was smaller than our awn ant money
hed less power over it.A man like Strzelecki,with the backg round
of" his travels,his book,hls services in Ireland,was easily accepted
and welcomed into a world quieter,better bred and infinitely more
earnest than the society of our own day.Tt was able to rise super-

ior to fortune,but morals were 1ndcapensible and opiilrnr carried

more welght.Strzeleckl passed the tect on all counts.Hig gravity,
his meriousnesgs,the solidarity of his. views,won him 2 welcome.The
dubious Strzelecki was dead and forgotten, and the mlddle aged man
who survived him was reapectable in the full almogt awful sense of
the Victorian word.The best section of the English unrer clasﬂes,
those grave =andg disinterested men and women who dreamed of loprove-
ment and reform,had tsken him to themselves.It was tlhe truth,and
no enpty compliment when, in conveying to him the resolution of
thanks of the British Relief Agsociation,Lord Overstone said he
(Btrzelecki) naa glven "abundant proof that he rogsessed those
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high moral qualities which the British people always hold in the

highest esteem"

The first honour given him wes that of Commander of the Bath,
which he received on 21st November, 1848.

By 1853 he was settled in No.9,Suffolk Street,and his time
passed in a round congenial to the man he had become.Thls brought
with it two further honogrs,of the gort he loved.March 1st,1853,8aw
him elected Fellow of the Royal Society,and the Royal Geographical
Society paid him the ssme honour in June of that year.Where before
he had been a guest,he was now himgelf at home.He became a famliliar
figure in the Society's rooms,and ready with advice or reminiscence
when the talk turned on those parts of the world he knew,and
specilally anxious to further and a2id any plan to help Australie.

To the portrait of a calm middle age,touches may be added.
Sir Pzul Edmund de Strzelecki(such was the rather clumay form adopt-
ed) hed not lost his interest in philanthropy.The cauée of the
Irigh was not forgotten,and this brought him in touch with Sddney
Herbert. Strzeleckl's knowledge of Australia,its needs and oprortun-
ities were a definite asset here.Transportation had passed,killled
by the discovery of gold,and free settlers were encoursged.It was a
wide field for sending families to reap the advantages of the new
world,and many people and agencies were actlive in the task of send-
ing those classes of the English and Irish poor as would make good
colonists.The Herberts and Strzeleckl sponsored Irish immigration,
and wmany families chose Australlis instead of the nearer Canada or
America on thelr recommendatlion.They were in touch with Caroline
Chisholm,and dispatched to her(the hand of the Gladstones,here)
many destetute girls,rescued from the streets,and many sempatresses

whose condlitlong in England then were very bad.
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Relations with Pgland were not quite broken during this
short respite of quiet,though they were in themselves rather strange.
Strzelecki was in the hablt of going abroesd,to France and Switzar-‘
land and Belgium,where he often met his countrymen,since there
were Pollsh colonies scattered all over Europe.Some Polesg were sent
to him in England with letters of introduction.Yet the earlier
homeslickness had disappreared so completely that not even his native
language and tallk of home could rouse him to cordlal warmth,but
rather tended to have him erect a barrier between himself and
memory.He kept visitors at bay;Poles who brought letters were
received by hiﬁ,but not invited to his home.He treated them with
formality,and had them to hig club,as though he dld not wish to
let them advance beyond the furthest hospitable circle into possible
friendliness and confidences.Since he did the same to his relatives
when they visited England,the stiffness of it suggests a fear lest
his own deep memories,his nationality,should stir again.When a
young man came to him for help and advice--he said something which
taken at its face value,rings very hershly.He told him to go home.
Coming from a man who knew what life without independence was,who
knew what life ;n Poland was,1£ ﬁould be brutal,if 1t did not have
an echo of sadness which redeemed it from calousness.To go home to
Poland,with all it entailed,meant at least thls--homogenuity of
feeling;slavery,but with an undivided allegiénce.Cne relation he
helped by glving him a passage on a boat where Strzeleckl either
owned part or had influence,but shipwreck with loss of all hends

broke even that slender thread of kinship.

The peaceful trend of life lasted till 1855,when public

events agaln cut sharply across it.The Crimean War broke out.
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His friends belng involved,so was he.S&dney Herbert,
Secretary at War for the first critical months,was hard at work to
remedy as quickly as posslible the state of muddle and inefficlency
for which he bore with the public so much of the blame when the
ghastly state of affagirs on the battlefields were made known at
home .

In connection with the events of this time,the Dictionary of
National Biography makes an incomprehensible statement to the
effect that Strzelecki accompanied Lord Lyons to the Crimea in 1855
as member of the Crimean Army Fund.Thls seems 1o create immediate
difficultlies,because Sir Edmund Lyons was second in commsnd to the
admiral in charge of the Black Sea fleet st the outbreak of war,
and wrapped up in the considerable dutlies and responsibilities of
guch a position.He was the originator of the plan to attack the
north fort at Sepastopol,snd later he took comnand of the fleetn-
this was in 1854—-39 it 1s unlikely that a civilian would be with
him,or that he wou}d be able to Join 2 relief fund expedition,or
leave his post with the navy at all.

Certain commissions were however sent out,apart from the
visit of Sir John Macneil and General Tulleock,in 1855,and Strzeledi
may easily have gone with one of them,but it seems more probable
that he accompanied Mr Macdonald who went out in charge of the
digtribution of the money(£15.000) collected by the Times as soon
as news of the soldiers' harsghips reached home. A Sanitary Commiss-
ion was appointed in 1857,with Sidney Herhert =8 cheirmen,and in
the course of 185€ its members visited almost every military hosplt-
al in Great Britaln gnd Ireland,and many in France.lt is very likely

that Strzelecki,who spoke French,and had plenty of experience of
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of éistributing funds.Alterhatively,there is the Royal Patriotic
Fund,which wes instrumentsl in sending out Florence Nightingale.
I cannot £ind in the books T looked at (84) =ny reference to eny
Army Fund Commission,but if Strzeleckl went to the Crimea(r frect
made more likely by the enemy being Russiesns,2 peorle whose wayg
and language he ¥knew better than the sverage ¥nglishman ever
could): 1t 1is most likely that he went with ¥acdonald,where hils
previous exverience wo ld have made him most useful.

By 1861,he wag back in: London again,living as before.
Readlng,lecturea;vlsita to0 commlttees and societies of which he
was a member filled such of his time &s waeg not srent with his
friends.In July of that yesr,he went ebfad wilh the Merberts,Lord
Herbert being then seriously 11l and 'trying Spa eas a last resort.
Sir Jonn Franklin ‘ad dled in June, 1847,when Strzeleckil was 1n
Ireland,though the news wag not known in England t11ll much later.
Thls blgw-pgg 3 heafier one Sidhey Herbert both by his cherm and
theif_mﬁtuai_intergst 1n emigration,left a big gap,though his
death brought hié friends together for his memorial,Florence
Nightingsale at thelr head.Her memorial was shown to Strzelecki,who
was in Tavour of publishinv 1%.This 1ﬂterest of hig in her wrltinge
put him in the way,l—ter to do her » service,for it was his influenee
with Delane of the Times,which led to her esrtigles on reform of
medlical condit?ona in Indla,coming out in that paper.

In June 1860(85) Cxford gave him the degree of D.C.L,
in recognipion of his services to England and her colonles,and
when the Order of St Wichael and 5t George wes extended to peorle
distinguished for colonipgl affaire,Gladstone sent in Strzelecki's

name among the earliest nominatlons,as Xnight Commander "in
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recognition of his great services in Her ¥ajesty's Australian
Golonies" and this was conferred in June, 1869.

The summit was resched.Sir Paul enjoyed it to the full,
with that sdded appreciation of an ambitlious man not born to the
circumstances where hls own efforte have brought him.Proof of his
pleasure still exlsts,a 1ittle pathetic,a little funny.A woman in
Warsew,hearing of his nationslity,wrote to him asking where. she
could get a copy of his book.He sent her one,snd there was & short
exchange of letters between them,on her side a flattering interest
in him and his affairs,on his an acceptance of it 28 a pretty whim,
which however plessed him enormously.In one letter,answering @
request for an explanatlion of the letters after his name,which
were incomprehensgible to her,he set out,in order,what he had,and
why obtained.In its stilted French,the letter 1is a curious comment
on its writer.

"K.C.M.G. confere par la Reine pour mes explorations de 5
annees en Australie pour la decauvire de 1'or,la decouverte (86)
de nouvelles regions accessibles a la colonisation et finelement
pour les constructions des cartes topographiques et gelooglques,
basees sur des observations astronomigues.

"g.B., Accorde par la Relne pour mes gservices de 4 ans en
Irelsnde pendent la desolatlon de ce rays en 1846 ou }'adminlisrais
ces souscriptions de 15 mllions de roubles(£00.000 livres aterling)
que liemplre » souscris.

"p.c.L. Distinction acesdemique dont 1'Universite d'Oxford
m'a honore pour mes services.

"®.R.S5. a laguelle Je suls elu en consequence des recherbhes
sclentifiques.

"P.R.G.S. election due a l'owrage gue J'eveis publie en 1845,

"mlles ne font que representer une serle des gervices et des
travaux blen serleux et fatilguants et qui me rediisent au moment,

]
e

ou je vous ecris a l'etat d'une cartouche epuisee" (87)
That 1s almost the last glimpse of him,compleining -as

usual of his health,but seeming to be well enough to get & good
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deal of pleasure out of life.Time was thinning the renks of hils
friends,but many remained,and with time,his own demands on others
were lessening.To all appeances,he was completely hapry in the
world he had chosen.He had al} he wanted --except the one thing he
had tried to snetch.That,too,he might have had.Why he did not,and
what he really felt about 1t,1s the secret between the calm and
noble face he turned to the world.It is too late to say now.One

can only conjecture.




NOTES ON
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Page 138.
(84)Morley Life of Gladstone.
Paul History of Modern England
Stanmore Life of Sidney Herbert
Lytton Strachey Eminent Victorians
----- Life of Florence Nightingale(Author not copied)

Page 138.
(85)A curious fact is the month of June in Strzelecki's
life.F.R.8 June 1&530D-C-L‘Jun9 IBSQ.K.C.M.G June 18690

Page 13¢.In this letter,a word of explanation is needed.
As the only source for it wes out of print,I was obliged to cory
the reference,in pencil,and made abbrviations which I trusted I
could write out when the time came.That time was later tham I
expected,and I cannot be sure of what was written in the case of
French.The errors in the letter therefore are my fault rether than
Strzeleckis!

(87) Strzelecki was particularly fond of lsmenting his
exhsusted nature.It occurs in so many of his letters that it must
have been & hablit with him.

S

Tuey
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XIX
DEATH

Last months--Destruction‘of papers--ceonclusion.

The old man seemed in his general state of good health,
at the beginning of 1873. He broke the worst part of the winter
by golng abroad to escape the cold,but came back to England for
the summer,and when the autumn brought most people back to town,
he was quietly estsblished 1n the round of dally life--trips £0 see
friends,visitors at‘home,walks in the park,drivés.ﬂe still went to
meetings,had not given up anything of his former wide interests.He
did not neglect his favourite charities.There _was nothing to mark
thie(z\ut.umn as in any way differnt from the others.

In August,he was not so well,but still a2ble to write a few
letters,and tske gn interest in life,though at a2 lessened tempo.
Soon afterwards,feeling himgelf f-iling,he shut himself up in his
own house.He was not 1ll,but no longer well.His secretery and
confidential servant looked after him;eeassuring bulletins were
lssued,and visltors,calling to inquire,were given cheerful accounts
of him,but no-cne admitted.Even Lady Herbert,a friend of many years
standing,was not allowed to show him the friendship he had done for
her husband in llke case.3he got a message but did not reaé¢h his
room.She,perhaps,was closest of those remalning to him;many were
dead .Others,like the Macarthurs and Walkers,and Adyna,distant.

As the leaves fell that sutumn,he sat at hig window,and
watched,who had seen so many autumns,and the leaves of s0 many trees
fall;perhaps he,the survivor of go many Journeys,pondered the
extent of his next inevitsble one.Once or twiwve,on the eve,he had

been reluctant to set o?g,?ut not, probably,this time.He was ready
8
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The days of hls enforced secluslon were solemn,but peaceful.He was
glven the blessing of a quiet death,préfaced by a respite,in which
he could set his house in order.

At seventy seven,little remalns to be done.If work has
been left unfinished,it 1is too late to repalr the omission--strength
is wanting for attempts to f£ill the gaps.What should have been said
or done must remsin incomplete.There ig no time to make a whole of
the different parts of 2 life.But to unmake is a ghade easler.

The invelid¢,confronted with the mass of materials--gtudies
sketches,notes, letters,the pavers relating to the elght sectlons
of his book,the manuscript of the second,~-watched the srﬁwing
pile as his secretary brought them from the drawers where they had
rested so long,and turned them over,wondering mildly at the distance
measurable in miles,hls pen had travelled.They were vart of his
life,and only his brein held the key.lMost important of a2ll was the
manuscript journal where he written himself,all the dead selves,
the eager man who set out,the man who returned,and the man who had
survived both these.Here,if anywhere,was the real link which held
together all the wen he had been,each embalmed in vanlished situat-
long,like insects held in amber.It,too,was too vivid.He did not
want the ashes stlrred.There was only one way to unify the mass.
With a slight smile on his thin lipe,the o0ld man recalled,out of
the past which every year became more the present than the narrow-
ing world he inhabited,a letter,that he had once written,ordering
the destruction of his papers in case of his dezth.Now the time
had come to repeat that order.He told his secretary to burn them.
As the man gathered them up,the dry sheets gave out a rustling
like the fallen leaves in the street beyond the window.The aick
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man felt lighter when they had gone.

But he had a task still to do.Like most peorle who live long,
. he had made a series of wills,only to change them with the fluctuat-
ions of his affalrs and the vicissitudes of his frliends.Thlis paper
was to round off the collectlon which 1n 1ts way,;summarlises one
- as ect of a life~-what a man remembers to dispose of,in leaving 1t,
and to whom.

The man who had been child,student,lover--all seven of the
. ages of man--had rehearsed his terms before he set them down.The
.long lonely sea voyages,the nights of discomfort in tropical foresis
. deserta,beaches,caves,wind swept mountain tops;all the hours of
desolation and self communion of an explorer's life,lay behind the
clauses he dictated:

"that my funeral expenses should be reduced to a minlmum,and

. that on no account he should sllow a monument or tombstone or any
other sign Christlan or.pagan bearing my name to mark my lsst
I resting place,for death being oblivion and time resrecting nothing,
& grave with a bit of turf over it thus ignored by all,is the most
consistent and desirable"
1 The man taking down the draft must have glanced up sur-
prised.The words,in balanced,weighed sentences,sounded like the
supming up of a ripened,mstured Judgement on life,a bitter comment
on the things a man is taught to care for.

It was no hasty opinion,yet it marked a profound chenge
which must have come over him at some stage of his mental life.The
0ld man had come 2 long way from the child Fsul,playing et priest,
delivering sermons,or more publicly,taking pert in the service of the
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Mass.The influence of his home,end his deeply religious mother had
probably disapreared esrly,but a deep sense of an Omnipotent Pelng’
had remained with him through all his wanderings,in Whose é&lstende
L every marvel of nature quickened his belief(B9) Back in England,he
H mugt, have kept that ideaj;for,as the close friend of Sidney Herbert,
he could hardly have been too much out of sympathy with the church
- to have belonged to 2 group containing PFPlorence Nightingzsle and the
Gladstones.Vet,at 2 moment when the seeret grudges,the diséppoint-
ments,the inward bitternesses of men come out with unrestrained
Torce,when vrejudice or expediency has no more to say,when ‘they
- stamp the image of their spirits the more firmly 4 the dlsposition
of thelir clay,the old Strzelecki revealed an imner lack,pn 1aner
| inguffiecliency that casts a thin beam of light beck over hisg busy,
constructive life.,No man who has setigfied his imner urge cares
' mugh sbout the fate of his body.4 meticulous care for the disposal
of the least important psrt of onegelf is in itself a confession
of faillure,and the.bitternesa of Strzeleckl's order,so l1ittle
conglastent with the libersl generosity of hip a2ttitude,is 2 clue
to the thing which his blography reveals in general rather seldom
~=-the real mind of the man.(90)

¥het wes 1%t he lacked? Was there anything more in hig

 lest wishes than $ae rationalism so common in'his time? Was 1t not

| perhaps,consistent with his gtanding ‘a8 aman of sclence '‘to regard

Ethe soul as non exlgtent,s scephiclan becoming in = contamparar:r
lof Darwin? There was;the bitterness is too apparent,especially
shown by a wman who,when already mature,marvelled at the handiwork
of God revealed in the intricacy of a volcano's workings,snd
solemnly invoked his protectlion for the woman. he loved.

"No sign elther Christian or pagan,for death being oblivion
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and time respecting nothilng,s greve ignored by all 1s the most
conglstent snd desirable”

With what,was 1t consistent? ﬁot the belief of his childhood,
to which so many Roman Catholice return in the hour of death;not
with the beliefs of a Pole,for whom Poland,buried but not dead,was
only awaiting a glorious presurrection.The consistency lay with
strzeleckl himself,the deeiré of a deeply dlsappolnted man,a man
who had,on all the paths he had followed,missed the one road which
might have brought him to the place where he wanted to be.

Hig generation were dead.The friends of his youth,the
relations he ¥ept at s dlistance,were hardly likely to haunt his
tomb,and the friends of his middle life and old age would hardly
do more than the dues of respect to a distinguished man.It was not
. curious helrs,nor importunate sdmlirers,relatives or digciples from
whom the lonely old man was seeking o hide.The paragrarh in the
wlll i's the ¥key to an explanstlon of what Strzeleckl had looked
for in 1life,end what he had found,much deeper and profounder than
the epitaph which the Times published a week after his death,which

, took place on October 6th,1873. The instructlons were carried out
His personal possessions were scattered,his body given private
burial(the genéral opinion is,in Kensal Green Cemetery, but thisg is
not definite) his will filed for probate and put among the other
wills in Somerset House.The long life was boiled down to =a short
gummary in books of blography,where most of the facts were incorrect
or misleading,and to blurred images'in the brains of middle aged
people.Only an old woman,in Poland, remembered the young Faul
gtrzelecki.That memory would soon fade and nothing would remain;

nothing of the man except those achievements for which he gave up

so much of the real gtuff of life,for the sake of which the
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intangible essence which ig life,slipred betwoen hils fingers.He
set out to do something,and he 414 it,to be gomething(a much harder
thing)and, that too,he attained;prosperous,well thought of ,rich in
friendship,titles and honours,he revealed the insufficlency of
these and,on the final count=-incomplete,falling the knowledge
hildden in the unprinted Adyna letters which might meke everything
plain--merited the summing up his first bilographer gave of him:

"An Englishmen in hie place would have become Viceroy of
India or founded somewhere a new Penngylvania for the Irish,but he
lacked the conglstency for that.He had a good heart, by Slavibnlc
standards;if an Englishman had been equally go@d hearted,he would
have discovered those new reglons and used them for the unfortunate
ofthe world,but (strzelecki) lacked the practical power to do such
things...He had a talent for wandering,but not one for settling.
fe had the great success,but missed the semll detalled,happiness,
the need of domestic happlness for himself....the flowers of Joy
rell from the tree of his life,end there remainéd the thorn,eter-
nally renewing ltself,of an involuntary regret and a longing denled.
His highway through the world was easy snd splendid,but onm that
road he remained always a "lwandering . wayfarer" we might almost

gay a "lone wayfarer" (91)




NOTES ON
XIXT

Poage 145,
(88)The letter which he wrote to his friend Donaldson
in December 1839 is interesting here for two ressons.He says

"I am as you see xx always as ‘one may say one foot in the
stirrup,without hurrying or rushing to 1ift. the leg and spur the
steed.lleanwhile prepared for the departure which the longer delayed
the better--May you delay jours to the longest term of human 1ife"

, The same letter contains a pagssage which throws light on the
| highly questionable burning of the papers.

"I enclose you again the key of the portmanteaux;in case
of my taking a sudden departure for the other world--gend the
bapers of the violet portfeuille to Vm.Andre and Cottier Bankers in
Paris,aprrising them meanwhile of the great loss the world sustained
by my bolt--put at once in the fire the thick red portfeuille snd
all the correspondence particularly that with womankind:--do what
you please with the package of notes and books--dont let them
| fall Into strange or foreign hands"

That was written in Australlap,and has been long in the
Possesslion of the Nitchel Library.8trzelecki had rrobably forgotten
lts exlstence when he ordered the destruction of his rnavers in
London.Yet,between 1839 and 1873--thirty four yearg--the same wish
was uppermost in his mind when confronting the ides of death.It is
an interesting case of that conglstency with himgelf I have stressed.

' Reference on the next page 1s to the game .letter.

Pege 148.
; (89)Eee the chapter on the Pacific and the volecsno expedit-
i ion.

‘ (90)The letter I received from M Turno,refusing the rest
| of the letters as unguitable for publication, though I assured him
' they would be subject to any restrictions he put upon their use
lor quotation,inclines me to the bellef that here lies the key to
Strzeleckl,and until they are oren to inspection,the life will
‘always remain incomplete on the slde of motive.There,if anywhere,
‘an explanation of the inconsistencies and puzzles must be found.

Page 150

(1) I have tra.slated as literally as I could but the use
of inverted commas implies some familiar figure from literature
or legend,which I cannot interprete correctly,so let it stand aa

1t wes. ZMM 275 Pyt
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s A
THE DISTORTING SHADOW

Death 1is usually the last chapter in a blographical
study.After the be&b’gﬁght of rhetoric the writer can command,he
leaves hls sublect on that lonely helight,and closes the record.

But Strzelecki refuses to yleld to this treatment.His
ghost,if less terrifying than Banquos',less revengeful than the
elder Hamlets'y 1s equally restless and equally pervasive.His
saddened attempt to attain oblivion by an unmarked grave has had
the opposite effect,and involved him in more notorit}y,moatly of
an unpleassant kind,than the greatest bid for public attention would
have done. :

The use to which hig name has been put since his death,
the fantastlc,somewhat sllly legend which has grown out of it,
must be traced in detall,and brought back to the point on which it
turns--Strzeleckli's will.The full text runs as follows:

"This is the last wlll and testament of me,Paul Edmund de
Strzeleckl,of no.23 Saville Row,E.C.

"First,I direct that all my jJust debts,funeral and
testamentary expenses be paid and satisfied by my sole executor here-
in after named,as soon as conveniently may be after my death.

Second,I give and devise to the Baroness Herbert of Lee,
of Wilton House in Salisbury,the silver tea service contained in
two rogewood chests which I have recelved as a testimonial from
the gentlemen composing the committee of the British Agsocistion
for the rellief of distress in Ireland in 1847,which tea service I
beg of Lady Herbert to accept as o remembrance of one who has'

admired and valued to his last the memory of her lamented hilghand
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Sidney Herbert,and her own uniform k%ndness and friendahin to him,
Besldes that,I beg that Lady Herbert ghould have the first cholce
of my original drawings which she may faney and books etc,which she
may llke to posaess.

"Third.snd I give ana devise end bequenth to my faithful
servant lir Henry Stokes the sun of one thougand pounds sterling fer
his own use and benefit absolutely,to be paid to him within one
calendar ﬁonth after my decease,free from legacy duty,as alao my
wearing clothes and linen 2y bedstead end bedding,and I give and
bequeath to my other servants who at the time of my death to De in
recelpt of yearly warea,uwo hundred Pounds to each.

"Fourth.ind I nominat ¢,constitute and appoint my excellent
friend ¥r John Lamb Sarver(?)(92) of the firm of Megsrs Cheriles
Dovaux «ad (o,of 52 King Willian Street to be my residusry(?)
legatee and Executor of tiitw mwy laet will and testement,

”Flrthly.Of the rest and remsinder of my property of all
and every kind,my household furnlture,bodks,plate,pictures,horaes
and carriages and also of all and every sum snd sums of money due
to me at the time of my decesse or be payable by the Commissioners
for the heduction of the National Debt and also of all my stocks,
funds and securitiea remalning from the gale and payment of my
legacies above nameg as aleo of every other »Iy Estate and Effects
whatzoever and vhosoever both real azna rergonal whether in nossess-
ion or revislion »Temainder or expectation,and I give and devige and
bequeath the above to him ¥r John Lamb Sarvor for his own use and
benefit absolutely.

Sixthly And I hereby entreat and beg of my excellent

friend and sole €Xecutor and legatee,Mr John Lamb Sarve:
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Journals and letters addressed to me and I =zlso request of him that
my funeral expenses shall be reduced to minimumAand that on no
account he should allow a monument or tombstone or eny other gign,
Christlen or pagan bearing my name to mark my last resting place.
Fbr death-being oblivion and time respecting nothing,a grave with a
blt of turf over it thus ignored by all is the most consistent and
desirable.

"Seventhly.And I gi?e and devise to my dear friend Ir
ThomReon —=-—~-—= (word undeciphersble) the silver:salver I recelved
from the Poor Law Commission in Ireland during the time of disiress,
88 also my book of autographs and my riding ﬁorse which he liked
and I beg of 1'r Thomson Of ==—-=w to accept mwy own star of St
liichael and George,the -~---get with a pendent.The Ordér of the
Bath to be returned £0 the Heraldls Office‘as in duty bound and I
beg of my universal legatee to allow Mr Thomson Hankey(%) to choose
any drawing and any books which he may féncy and I beg of my univer-
sal legateé to return to Mrs Alexander Devaux the diamond ring
which her husband in memorial of his brother Charlea Devaux has
kindly offered me. :

"Eighthly.And I hereby revoke all my fofmer ér otbér
wills and teaiaments by me at any time heretofore made,and I declsare
this to be my last will and testament.In witness whereof I the saild
Faul Edmund de Strzelecki have to this last will and teétmanet set
my hand the third day of October in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and seventy three--Paul Edmund de Strzeleckil
Signed by the said Paul Edmund de Strzelecki the testator and by
him declared to be his last will and testament in the présence of

Us who at his request in hisg presence and in the presence of each
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other heretoc subscribe our names as witneszses Thomas Allwright 1
Coumercial Flece Lewsiham Rd.S.E. Andrew Wesley 6 Mithley St
Kennington = Park.
"Proved at London 15th October 1873 by the oath of John
Lanb Sarver the sole executor to whom was granted above. "

Cne other statément on the Somerset House index which did
not appear in the photostat (23)--the will was sworn for probate &
less than ten thousand pounds.

Such in full is the famous document over which so much
ink has been poured out.Relations of the explorer claim,and near
relatives have claimed for some time,that the-will is @ forgery.
This vliew has by this time divided into two branches of thought -~
| the relations in Poland,who remember fugs and trouble in the rast,
| but are now content to let the watter rest,and dislike the actions
of the second party,who claim various things against the British
government and the Australlan governuent,as heirs and legatees of
Strzelecki.As papers setting out the present state of the affair
reached my hands before leaving Poland,I interviewed or wrote to,all
the relatives accessible,and tried to piece together thelr version.
The historical growing of the will forgery case grew un in the
following way.

The claim is based on the will itself.Strzelecki leaves
nothing to his relatives,which seems to have surprised them more
than 1t does us.It was over fifty years since he had left Poland,
and most of his own generastion were dead--there was noone to whom
it would be natural to leave money.His not doing so seems quite in

keeping with his policy of keeping visiting connections at & distance

during his life.Filial and family affection had never been a




155

characteristic of his;besldes,he may have thought that years of Hse
of his ghare of his father's property was enough to give (94)

lioreover,events had changed conditions in Poland.Our
knowledze of Strzelecki for the year 63 is scanty,but the mere
absence of evidence teo the contrary suggests that he was leading
his qulet gheltered life at a time when his countryﬁen were lavlishing
blood and treasure in a valn bid for politlcal exlstence.He was too
old to fight,but there geems no proof of any 1ntefest he displayed
even rrom afar in the contest.But the tide had swamped the Strzel-

eckis left at home,though the trouble as always was in Russian
Poland.It had drawn in the Poznan Strzeleckls.The second son of hig

brother Peter vanished,like so many young men of that time.Jan

Strzeleckl of Jodz fell(no evidence is forthcoming to show whether
or not he was related) The same fate was shared by Sebastian. Strze-
lecki,a distant cougin.

Peter was dead,before 1873,and Isabel,though one son of the
former and sons of the latter survived.But these were all aliens o
hablit,mind end life.There was no link between the o0ld man and the
children bvorn after his departure.

But there was a serious omigelon.Adyna was living.He did
not mention her.The woman who played the largest part in his life,
who recelved from him letters which were such paens of praise as to
be almost embarassing reading from a man of his age,does not even
receive the curgory attention of a Pregentation tea tray or coffee
cup.To have left her money ,who was rich(how often,in the letters
he so ruthlesgsly burned,must have begged him to waive pride and
take of her pnlenty) would have been unneecessary, but the failure
to mention her name does not shake the validity of the will.The

reason for the silence isg rrobably to be found in the unrublisghed
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letters,and must remain unexplained till thelr secret is made
public.If his will ls genuine,he did not mention her,though he haa
other women in his thoughts.But it shows,as it stands, the complete-
néss of his severance with Poland,which geems to have had very
little place in his mind,those last few weeks.

The will doeg not g0 1into detall,though certain facts
about it are curious ~-the smallness of the 8um,as sworn for probate
is completely at varisnce with the style of living the items indic-
ate.Riding horge,carriaze horges,in Saville Row--one thousand
bounds,and other two hundred pound legacles,this makes the under
ten thousand puzzle of how he lived on 1t enigmatic indeed.John
Lanb Sarver,of the firm of Charles Devaux,one member of which was a
Personal friend,mentioned in the will,must have been that secretary
mentloned elsewhere.Who drew the will 1s not clear,since Sarver or
Sawey could hardly do so,if genulne,being legatee and executor.The
witnesses names are g shade singular--they appear novhere else,and
must have been servants,too recantéﬁlemployed to get bequests,or
casual persons,for we find no other mention of them,

80 much for the will ltself,at first View.Three years
after Strzelecki's death,in 1876,the family were ready to take
actlon.Then,the Sfupskis and Strzeleckis engaged a Prussian lswyer
who went to England ang clalmed that the will was a forgery,to
benefit some person or persons unknown concealed by the fiase name
of John Lamb Sarvant,or that this person(it might or might not. be
his real name) hag forged all the necessary documenpa,and put in
| thé clause about burning the papsre to cover his tracks.The evidence

they brought forward was that Strzelecki had been good to the family

helred them,kept in touch and would never have left the bulk of

il
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Property away from them to strangers.They pointed to the date of the
will,made only » few days before his death,at & time when he was
Ltoo weak to leave his room and when his secretaery Ssrver had sole
access to him,denying even Lady Eerbert,who surely could have seen
him for 2 moment if he was well enough to do.a big bit of work like
dietating a long wille.Then,the man who profitted by the will was
his secretary--the man moet easily able to errange his seclusion,
forge his will,or alternatively, suborne a helpless man to sign a

Prepared papersThe small value of the will gseemed suspiclous,and

the vaguenesa of  its terms.The evidence for their case was wanting,

a8 the proof of it was beyond me.Without the date of the death of

John Lamb Sarver,or partleculars.of his-life,there is no way of

proving.anything now.

Sarver aprealéd,and in a second hearing,the validity of
the wiil was upheld.l tslked this over with MeFeliks SYupski,zrandson
of Isabel Strzelecka,snd his version seems highly likely;the lawyer,
a Prussian,and though ihe best the family could afford;probably a

provinelal at best,a4id not know glish law,or any too much of the

English language,so was unable to make his points tell.In = letter

frou another wember of the famlly,it appesrs that certain members

Rf the fawlly went to London,to make ingulrieg on the spot,but wewe

soon dlscouraged(proably not understanding the language) and gave

it up in despair.This Phase geems to have cast a great deal of money

and Jleft most of the surviving kin in the position they are to-day

indifference,But it is important as showlng that the first generat-

lon,those having at lesst an gral traditlon,accounts of visitors %o

London,thosge who %ot at least as far as the elub ang Strzelecki,

believed that Paul Strzelecki died rich.To me it seems that the
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,#hole case was hopelasss from the gtart.If Sarver was dishonest,the
oney wae in the hands of a clever and resourceful scoundrel.In any
case,possesslon was nine tenths of the battle.If the SYupskis had
known enough of England to pay a young ambitious lawyer with a name
to make,something might have come out of it.,At that stage,for an
Englishman,there were still friends and eyewltnesses alive who
¥new Strzeleckl and something of his affairs and who could have
settled detalls which are hopeless at this date.The affair put the
Polish relatives out of the race,and left them tooc vnoor to contend
further.Johnlamb Sarver was in possession of his gains,well or i1l
gotten.

There the matter rested,and the years passed,and with them
took away any chance which remained of getting to the facts of
anything connected with Strzelecki.Papers belonging to him,which
had been in his sister's care,letters,early and more recent,were
kept by the SYupski family,and finally stored in an -0ld house near
Varsaw.M.SYupgkl distinctly remembers a mass of old family vavers
stored in a leather bag,in the early years of the war.Then the
Russiang came,used the houge,and used the furniture and with it
everything 1nflammaﬁle,to heat the stoves.Other members of the
relatives had nothing left of their parents and grandrarents except
a few,ranbling,family legends.

Then,recently,came a recrudence of interest.A few years
8go0,a famlly of the same name,relatives,or another brench--with a
different crest,thbugh this 1s not conclusive either way, bezan to
revive stories of Strzel-cki.These soon grew to fantastie proport-
lons,since the Journalists of Americsz and Foland were equally

ignorant of esch other's countries,and equally ready to srread a
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X story which promiged the rowantic exagrerations of the Aresbisn
Nights.The year 1935, when,according to Inglish law,any claims to
property left by Strzelecki would lose their validity,saw the
Americen press bresking out into wilg articles.Ne {t year,it had
attracted attention in Poland,and the press there was printing
highly coloured stories under aenéational headlines,

The American branch of the famlly has publighed & pamvhlet,
where the claims are set out.a copy of this was sent to me by the
head of the famlly in New York,and another has been sent to the
¥ltchel Library.For this reason it should be discussed and some of
the points raised gone into,

It begins by quoting Howitt's History of Discovery of
Australle and Tesmania,and BOaae'a_Modern Engligh Biography and
. after the usual blography of Stfzelecki(certain facts of which,as
I have tried to show,have littlagdocumentary evidence or even oral
tradition to support them) he Pasges oen to make certain demsnds.

The first of theae Btatea that when Strzelecli dld his
exploratory work in Australia,he wag a cltizen and patriot of

| Poland.Apart from the dubioua atory,to which I ‘have not naia any

| attentlon,of hig having naturaliaed as an American,which certain

writers on Strzelecki refer to,wlthout glving it an originsl
l

source, there 1g no Possibllity of claiming Strzelecki as a Pole in
' the legal genge.of Polish family he wag,but be ing born in Poznan,he
was technically a Prugsian.The Prussiansg certainly claimed him as
one.I have a cutting from a German newsbaper headed:Das neuste Werk

eines Preussin uber Augtralien=--a pParagraph appearing in the

Berlinische Nachrichten of 2nd May 1845.It further agserts that he

Peid his own expenses with the help of hig famlly--whigh‘[Jggﬁ! 1

T ————— T SRR L
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given in the chapter on finance do not subatantliate,and consequently
demands that the Commonwealth of Australie and Great “ritain should
refund the family those costs amounting to five hundred and sixty
thousand dollars(g560.000)(printed as £560.,000,00)

Count Strzeleckl dlscovered the highest peak and gave
it the Polish name of "Mt Koscluszko(94) and ennected(?)this region
as 2 Poligh pospesslon.Because at that moment(I am quoting from the
Memorandum) Poland wes not legaly existant,he could claim that
territory on the legal strength of "Priority Rights of Discoverer"
Therefore the writer claimg one hundred quadratic mlles in lew
South Wales,also the issuance of = free and clear title of owher-
shlp,free from any liens and encumbrances.

On the same basls we demand the return of "Strzeleckl
Province" in the State of Victoria,which is the property of the
legal heirs.

That does not seem to né& discussion.Anyone intefested in
Strzelecki's own attitude to Australia and the ground he covered
there,1ls referred back to the preface to Gold and Silver,quoted
extensively in the part referring to gold.

The paragraph referring directly to the discovery of gold
mines is curious: "Diecovery of Fields and Gold Mines in Various
Parts of Augtralasia. |

"In the year 183%9% Count Strzeleckl discovered in the
districtas of Wellington,Basthhurst and Hartley,stratas of gold,in
large and small gquantities.On the 26th dag of October,A.B.1839,he
officially not%fied the governor of New South Wales(Country contigus
to the newly discovered province) lir George Giprs of this fact.lr

George Gipps,as the officlal representative or delegate of the
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English Authorities,notified his superior in London(cColonial Office)
of Count Paul Edmund Strzelecki's discovery.--Governor George Gipps
then recelved instructions from London which prohibited the extract-
ing of gold to Count Strzelecki,besides obliging him to keenr secret
the discovery of said bullion,in the =forementioried provinces.Ry
that order Governor Gipps violated the international law of the
right of discoverers.

There are & few dlscrepancles here.In the Mitchel Library
1s the original copy made by the Secretary's department of Strzelefii
report on the momentous dlscovery.When Strzeleckl reached Melbourne
after the Journey through Gipvsland,he at once wrote a report on
the trip,to which he added an analysis of the metals and minerals
he had ‘encountered.Either,two coples of it were made,and sent to
the Governor,or else,one draft was sent which the office coried and
gent to Strzeleckl for signature,and which it then filfed.At any
rate,the Hitchel report has attached to it = lettersd stating it was
. to bBe copled and returned,and it is signed(és) P.E.de Strzelecki
| and deted "the 26th of June1840"(¢6) ‘

It 18 the same as the report published among the Australian
Perliamentary Papers Vol 29.No.4 and has alregdy‘been quoted.Ilt
definitely gtates thaet the gold 1s not in quantities to repay
workling.In connection with the conclusion drawn from this,the
preface to "Gold and Silver" should be remembered."On the strength
of facts mentioned in the second article of this petition,the
administration demands the full return,end without any obligation
the gold mines...or the payment for the same in the United States
currency,the sum of One Billion,Three hundred and Fifty Million
Dollars; (Z1.350.000,000,00)
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The third peint is the use of the flag."Count P.E.
Strzeleckl in hig discoverlies of Aust alasia never employed &n
English flag.

"The provinces discovered by nim in Austrslia at that time
were no one's possessions,because tliey were unknown to anyone,"Any
man's land and ne man's land" Basing this contention on Internat-
ional Law,Count Strzeleckl discovering uuknewn provinces,sutomatic
ally became their proprietor.” It continues in the same sense. It
is hard to believe any educated person could be quite serlous in
publishing sentences like the above.But the analogy could be broudt
home to anyone knowing Poland.In the centre of the Russo Polish
fréontier,east of lMinsk and Bregd litewskl,there are huge areas of
swamp,heavily wooded.In that region,among primeval forests,neasants
live who have no word in their langusge for wheel;to whom wheeled
traffic is unknown,who understand boats and --aeroplanes,since the
Polish government has recently used these to ecarry out a flrst
survey of the district.Peasants lived there and dld not know a war
wes on.So0 one can claim it as unknown,and,off the narrow strirs of
cleared river bank,"Any man's land and no man's landWere an Austral-
ian,arriving in Poland with pagsport and visas 1in order;and doing
gome botanising,to raise the Austrslian flag,the caae; would be
parallel.ss a sincere sdmirer of Strzelecki's work and its value
one,is sorry Lo see statements of this sort assoclated with hils
naime .

"We are agein calling your attention te the fact that Count
Strzelecki never changed his cltizenship,nor was he ever the sublect
of Great Britain,nor any of the Australian States,when labouring
in Australian explorations,in fact to the moment of his death,

norwilthstanding he wss gromted various titles cserylng wlth then
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uile .g-we rigabs. and, privilezes so weregivea Ho aubjgcis of Gresgt
Britain."

The date and registration number of Strzelecki's naturalis-
ation were verified at the lome Uffice,where the original document
ig kept.

Damages to the Strzelecki family as result of Gipps' forcing
the explorer to keep secret hisg knowledge are estimated at two
hundred fifty million dollsrs.Further sums of one milllon and five
nundred thousand dollars are also claimed,and another one million
and five hundred jihousand dollars spent on lawsulits in. London,and
another fortune,left by the Count at the time of his death 1s also
to be added to a total already.formldable.

Immediate renewal and permission of Polish immigrestion
to the estates remainlng after Strzeleckl,known as Strzeleckl
Province 1s also a.condlition,and the original names given by him
ghould be retalned.The heirs. of the family wamt the right to settle
freely in Australia and to bring with them a thousand persons.

Tuen the llemorandum goesa on to glve the reasong for the
various claims it puts Torward ageinst the Australlan Goverument.
The importent point is the assertion of invalidity of the will.The
grounde it gives have for the most part been already touched on.
The name John Lamb Sarwant(97) was false,no such person could be
located in Great Britain in the years 1873-1876.The witnesses were
not present when the testement was signed,but signed 1t several
days after his desth,and these witnesses could not be located.

| How these statements were proved I do not know,but cannot
meke any coument exceprt as to the difficulty of proving the matter

now.If John Sarwant was not represented by cousel or vresent when




164

the Prusgsian lawyer brought his petition agsinst the validity of
the will,I should imagine the verdict would have been other than it
WaBe

It adds that the Strzeleckl family were not notified of the
decision of the English court,but this mugt be an oversight,asince
?ourts do not act without having at least a case before them,hence
somebody must have been appearing for the claimants,and this person
should have informed hls clients of what was the resgult of his
work.

There are other demands~--the revealing of the grave of Strzel-
eckl,the returning of medals and faﬁily mementos and a reference
= demand made by Queen Victoria for the invalidity of the will to
be recogniged.

Ingide this Memorandum is a picture of Strzelecki(looking
sbmewhat llke Kosciuszko in Matejko's picture,outside the Sukiennlce)
emaculately dressed in Wellingtons and top hat,unfurling the Pelid
Zagle among a band of shaggy companions who Xeem to have felt
the privationg to which thir leader was blesgedly imyune.On the
cover is the portrait of Strzelecki in old age,of which I have seen
the original in the posgession of relatives in WVarsaw.

This Memorandum,though remarkable in itself,would not
have recelived such detailed examlnestlon,had it been a purely
personal matter,but it has had repercussions in Poland.The average
Pole knows little of Australis,and not very much of England,so the
noticec}his wild and picturesgue story has attalned in the press
hasn?;ly roused silly and false ideas of Strzelecki's work,his
statug,snd,in a wider sense,stupld adeas of Australls,its wealth,

its treatment of wvicitors,the principalities to be ecarved out of
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"No lMan's Land".It raised hopes of fabulous fortunes in a number of
people who,as relatlions,consldered they had =2 right to the share 13
vast sums of money which were lying waiting to be gathered up,and
ag8 a result of its fallure,embittered and disapprointed them.

To such lengths did the newspaper campzign go on both sides
of the Atlantiec that an article has recently appesred in a reputable
Poligh paper,written by someone who heg gifted the evidence fully
and carefully.Its title sums up its attitude "Unworthy Rumours
round & Famous Name" The writer givesur the known facts of Strze-
lecki's life,deﬁlores the sensational revelstlons in the Pélish
press,and says Justly enough that all this 1s & purely rrivate
metter,affecting the family and descendants of a well Ymown man

but definlitely not attached to him personally.He regrets that the

réputation of a great Pole,whose work reflected credit on his
native land,and gave him standing abroad,should be connected with
cheap publicity.He ends by exprebbsing his sorrow th-t felgifications
of the facts should be published where people not knowing the trut
may be Influenced by them.Strzelecki,more than any other Polish
sclentlist,ought to link Poland and England in bonds of sympathy.
All that is true,and a2 pity.The deeper pity lies that a
life like gtrzelecki's,where all the mistakes and troubles were
prersonal,where he honoured and lived at peace in his adopted
country,should serve as a tool for creating bad feeling.Poland,a
nation with 2 high birth rate,is becoming increasingly aware of
her coming need for z place in the sun.Colonislly spealking,she ig
a "have-not" In the same paper which contained the srticle to
which I wes Just referring,the leading article was "Ona Revision of

the Colonial Mandates" and the issue is a burning one,to which the
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Strzeleckl Legend,as opposed to the Strzelecki facts,can only add
fuel;it ig surely not necessery,in a time of go many political
rencours,to pile up one which has no necessity,between two countries
whose relations should be entirely friendly.And these claims,in
themselves,are the worst possible tribute to Strzelecki's memory;

to the man who did not take for himself,one foot of the miles of
uncla.med land over which he passed,one stone,other than s sneclmen
of all the te;itory he surveyed,and who was content with the only
payment he ever gpt,in the ecoin of renown.

He does not deserve guch treatment.Like the regt of humanity
he had his ¥enities:the title count,the heartening roll of his
decorations and honours sounded sweet to him;his life and circum-
stances were not of his making more than are other mens' for he,
like the rest of humsnity,wans the result of his nature and the
impzct of outward forces upon it.These formed the character he had
and from it came the events of his long career.Askinz no more than
he got in life,sfter 1t he needs no more honour than lie earned
honestly,received freely,snd accepted with pride.If,s Pole of the
Age of the Capivity,he missed the two greateet titles in Micklewlcz's
famous eprlitaph,and was nelther soldier nor poet,he was at least
exlle.To that absence from the place where he should have been,for
haprinessg,he added the honourable rank of explorer,sciéntist snd
rhilanthropiet,and was a man who wilthout any esdvantage of blrth or
chance,wlth nothing to recommend but himself,in a strange country,
crerted & niche in its soclial life,a vnlace in its history,and wrote

the names of hls chosing across a2 continent.With so much outward

Bucceas he must be content in that unmerked grsve which,whether
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decre@€d by his own wish,or by a trick,becomes very well the wanderer
Over &So many Jlands,resting et last in the narrow islsnd of his

adontion.




NOTES ON
b o' e

For full draft of will,in

which I could not make out
certaln words, gsee prhotostat of it gl

ven as aprendix,

Page 152,

(92) Sarver seems the neares
out.lr Strzelecki in his Vemorandum gives it as Sarwant.Both seem.
extraordinary names.

Page 154

(93)This was made for me when in London
about the ten thousand was not on it but on the e
where the Particulars of the wills were kept.

»and the statement
ntry in the book

yStrzelecki hagd
»0r its equivalent in money.,
This he never toak,unless the money given him to leave home after
the Turno affairs can be regarded as pPart payment,which it wag
too small to be.

Page 160, .
(94a)Kokciuszko is the actual Polisgh name what form
Strzelecki actually gave I cannot trace

being tranglatea wauld naturally have the
corruptlon crept in,it is now hard to ge

The Memorandum,attached a8 anppendix wag
America in reply to a letter asking pogitive information on one

or two points.At the same time I received = ligt of references
which I algo append,and a letter askin

sent to me from

Page 161.

. (95) The signature is interesting.I have
authentic signatures, 211 from late in Strzelecki!
show gome variety.The one in the Physical Degerip
to the Racynski Library in Poznan,that in the 1lis
the Royal Soclety,are likre thisg,
othersg Edmund.Always the "ge"

(96) Strzelecki often wrote the date ag "26th of June"

If it wes not a custonm of the time,it wag probably a Polonism gince
26 Czwerwca--genitive of June.,

Pase 1530 '
(©7)Sarwant .This time I have ugsed the form of the
VMemorandun

seen various
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